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J. THOMAS BARNETT, JA. 
FfNANCE DIRECTOR 

November 3,2015 

To the Mayor 
City Council Members 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 
DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE 

A-100 CITY HALL 
710 NORTH 20TH STREET 

BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA 35203-2227 

TELEPHONE (205) 254-2205 
FAX (205) 254-2937 

Citizens of the City of Birmingham 

BE'fTYE W. GRIGGS 
DEoUTY DIRECTOR 

BARBARA D, MCGRUE 
DEPUTY DIRECTOR 

The City of Birmingham's Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for 
the fiscal year ending June 30, 2015, is hereby submitted, This report represents the 
official comprehensive publication of the City's financial position at June 30, 2015, 
Responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, and fairness of the data, including all 
disclosures, rests with management of the City of Binningham, The basis of reliance for 
the fmancial statements is a comprehensive framework of internal control. Because the 
cost of internal control should not exceed anticipated benefits, the objective is to provide 
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the statements are free of any material 
misstatements, 

In compliance with the City's Mayor-Council Act, the submitted financial 
statements were subjected to an independent audit. Banks, Finley, White & Co. has 
issued an unqualified opinion on the City of Binningham's financial statements for the 
year ended June 30, 2015. Their report is located at the front of the financial section of 
theCAFR. 

Additionally, the City of Birmingham is responsible, as a recipient offederal and 
state assistance, for maintaining an adequate internal control structure to ensure 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations related to those programs. The City is 
required to undergo an annual single audit in conformity with the provisions of the Single 
Audit Act of 1984 and the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996 and U.s. Office of 
Management and Budget Circular A-l33, Audits of State and Local Governments, 
Information regarding the single audit, which includes the SchedUle of Expenditures of 
Federal Awards, findings and recommendations, and the auditor's reports on the internal 
control structure and compliance with applicable laws and regulations is included in a 
separate report and is available upon request. 
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Immediately following the auditor's report is the City's Management Discussion 
and Analysis (MD&A) which provides, in a narrative format, an introduction, overview, 
and analysis of the basic financial statements. This letter of transmittal should be read in 
conjunction with the MD&A. 

CITY PROFILE AND REPORTING ENTITY 

The City of Birmingham was incorporated in 1871 and is centrally located in the 
State of Alabama. It operates under a mayor-council form of government. The Mayor is 
elected at large and serves a four year term. The Council is composed of nine members, 
elected by district and each serves a four year term. 

Included in this report is an organizational chart showing the twenty-three 
departments responsible for the administration and operation of the City of Birmingham. 
These departments provide valuable services to the citizens such as police and fire 
protection, maintenance and construction of highways and streets, recreational and 
cultural activities, sanitation services, and libraries and museums. This report includes 
the financial operations of three legal entities for which the City is financially 
accountable. The financial operations of the Birmingham Airport Authority and the 
Birmingham Parking Authority are discretely presented component units, see Note 1A. 
The Public, Athletic, Cultural and Entertainment Facilities Board is a blended component 
unit and results of its operations are shown in the non-major Special Revenue funds 
combining statements. 

Birmingham's diverse economy, once highly dependent on the iron and steel 
industry, benefits today from a range of businesses including finance and healthcare. 
Projects that are planned, under construction and recently completed are contributing to 
the economy. These projects increase tax revenues and provide jobs which will continue 
to have a positive impact on the Birmingham-Hoover Metro Area's unemployment rate, 
which was 5.9% during the month of June, 2015. The State of Alabama's unemployment 
rate was 6.1 % during the same period compared to 5.3% for the United States. 

The City is experiencing substantial development and re-development. Multi­
family development is taking place over a wide area of the City, with new construction 
and with repurposing and redevelopment of existing buildings. Approximately 1,185 
multifamily units are currently under construction in the City Center area. Six new hotel 
projects are in design or under construction, consisting of approximately 600 new hotel 
rooms. Three of the hotel projects are repurposing existing buildings and three are new 
construction. 

A new minor league baseball park opened in April, 2013 for its inaugural season 
adjacent to Railroad Park and is the home of the Birmingham Barons, a double-A farm 
team for the Chicago White Sox. During its recently completed third season, the Barons 
continued to attract large crowds, setting an attendance record of 444,000 visitors. The 
Rotary Club of Birmingham has begun construction of a major project to connect, by 
greenway, the City'S award winning Railroad Park with Sloss Furnace National Historic 
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Landmark, approximately seven blocks away. Railroad Park and the ball park are 
catalysts for development in the area. Alabama Power Company has begun construction 
of the repurposing of a former steam plant, in the heart of the City, adjacent to Railroad 
Park, into an event and entertainment venue with additional park space, covering a two 
block area, adding to the City's revitalization efforts. 

The City has begun the construction of a transportation hub in the downtown area. 
The facility will house the Birmingham-Jefferson Transit Authority's metro bus system, 
Greyhound and Amtrak. A large portion of the funding was provided by a Federal grant. 
The Veterans Administration is nearing the completion of the construction of a $50 
million clinic in the City's Medical District, just south of downtown. 

Commercial development is also occurring, notably close to the City's Railroad 
Park, Regions Field baseball stadium and the University of Alabama at Birmingham. A 
major supermarket development is under eonstruction in the City Center. Current 
construction projects are estimated to total approximately $600 million. Building permit 
revenue increased 9.4% over the previous fiscal year. The City'S Special Lodgings Tax 
increased by approximately 5% during 2015, as the new Westin Hotel and the Sheraton 
Hotel benefited from more visitors attending events at the Birmingham Jefferson Civic 
Center and Entertainment District and the Birmingham Crossplex. The Assessed 
Valuation of taxable property within the City increased 2.2%. 

After securing State legislation, the City has incorporated a Land Banking 
Authority which has the power to accept tax-delinquent properties, clear title and 
repurpose the property to productive uses. It is designed to assist neighborhood 
redevelopment in the City, especially depressed neighborhoods. Sustainability of 
neighborhoods and providing retail shopping opportunities throughout the City is vitally 
important to the growth of Birmingham's economy. Many neighborhood projects are 
currently planned, or underway, to improve the quality oflifc for the City'S citizens. 

The Birmingham Crossplex, a natatorium, indoor track facility and arena, located 
approximately 4 miles to the west of the City Center, hosts track and field, volleyball, 
wrestling and aquatic competition. These first-class athletic facilities are drawing events 
from national, regional and state athletic organizations. The Birmingham Crossplex was 
recently awarded eleven NCAA division I, II and III championship events over the next 
few years. Plans continue to evolve with respect to a large track of adjacent city-owned 
property. 

Oxford Pharmaceuticals, a generic drug manufacturing company, recently 
commenced construction of a $29 million plant in the City. The Company will initially 
employ 61, with expected growth to 200 coming over the next few years, as production 
ramps up. In the industrial sector, automotive supplier Kamtck Inc. announced plans to 
invest $80 million in an expansion in the City that will add 120 jobs to its existing 
manufacturing facility. Mercedes supplier SMP announced plans to open a $150 million 
facility in neighboring Tuscaloosa County, creating 650 jobs. Mercedes Benz has 
announced a new investment of $1.3 billion, adding 300 jobs to expand its body shop at 
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its facility in Tuscaloosa County. U.S. Steel is continuing the replacement of its blast 
furnace operations \Vith a new electric arc fUrnace. The new electric arc furnace is 
expected to be complete by the second half of2016 and will likely employ fewer workers 
than the blast furnace. The Company is switching to the EAF as it looks to stay 
competitive in the global steelmaking market. U. S. Steel plans to shutter its blast 
furnace and associated steelmaking operations in the adjacent city of Fairfield, idling 
approximately 1,100 workers. Coal producer Walter Energy, which recently filed for 
bankruptcy, said that approximately 200 workers in its Tuscaloosa County mine will be 
subject to layoffs, tied to market conditions. Grandview Medical Center recently opened 
in the southern part of the City, as a replacement hospital for Trinity Medical Center, also 
located in the City. Baptist Medical Center - Princeton, located in the western area of the 
City completed a joint venture arrangement with Brookwood Medical Center, a Tenet 
Healthcare facility in the neighboring city of Homewood. 

In 2012 citizens approved a $150 million bond referendum. The city issued 
approximately $68 million of the bonds in Fiscal Year 2013 for various projects 
throughout the City. $2.69 million of the bonds were issued in December, 2013, whieh 
provided funds for the Birmingham Children's Museum at the McWane Center, 
contributed to the restoration of the historic Lyric Theatre and funded improvements to 
the Civil Rights Institute and Museum. The City received credit ratings of Aa2, AA, AA 
and AA from Moody's Investors Service, Standard & Poor's, Fitch Ratings and Kroll 
Bond Ratings, respectively, for its bonds. The remainder of the bonds will, most likely, 
be issued during fiscal year 2016. 

The City is currently working to become more energy efficient by contracting 
with Phillips Lighting North America Corporation and Trane U.S., Inc. Phillips is 
working on replacing certain lighting owned by the City with energy efficient equipment 
pursuant to a lease. Phillips will guarantee that energy savings will cover the lease 
payments and, upon payment of the lease, the City will receive all of the savings. The 
Phillips program may be a $10 million project. Trane is studying major City equipment 
and anticipates replacing that equipment with energy efficient equipment pursuant to a 
lease, the payments of which, will be guaranteed to be covered by the energy cost 
savings. This program is estimated to cost $40 million to $50 million. 

The City's major pension fund, the Retirement and Relief System, ended the trend 
of an increasing unfunded actuarial accrued liability for long-term benefits. The trend 
continued from the early 2000's and as of July 1, 2014, the unfunded actuarial accrued 
liability of the Plan was approximately $318 million, down from $328 million the 
previous year and had a funded ratio of 74.8%, up from 73% the previous year. The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB"), the institution which sets 
accounting standards for governmental entities, issued new accounting rules which are 
effective for the City with this report. The new rule, with respect to pension accounting, 
requires the City's actuary to estimate "Net Pension Liability," which is an estimation of 
all future pension benefit payments using specified assumptions, less the estimated assets 
available for those benefits in the plan. The City's Net Pension Liability for the Plan, 
computed according to GASB methodology, was $548.3 million, up from $400.3 million 
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in 2014. Prior to this year, information about the funding status of the Plan was disclosed 
in the financial statements in footnotes and tables. This year, the City is required to 

present the Net Pension Liability as a liability of the City, similar to debt. This 
presentation is in the Government Wide Financial Statements, which creates the excess of 
liabilities over assets for the City as a whole. While the Plan is currently able to meet all 
of its obligations and its funding level compares favorably with many plans around the 
Country, the City and the Pension Board are studying options for improving the funding 
of the plan. The City's 2016 Operating Budget includes a \12% increase in the City's 
contribution to the plan and the employees will match this \12%, for a total funding 
increase of 1 % of payroll. Other plan adjustments are under study. However, no other 
plan adjustments have been made. At July 1, 2014, the unfunded actuarial liability for 
the Fire & Police Supplemental Pension System was $62.6 million, down from $62.7 
million, the prior year. The City's Net Pension Liability for the Plan, computed 
according to the new GASB methodology, was $73.2 million, up from $68.8 million the 
previous year. Individual financial reports for both plans are available on the City's web­
site, at www.binninghamal.gov under City Directory, Finance Department. 

The City is a defendant in several lawsuits claiming refunds of taxes previously 
paid to the City, and interest on those claimed refunds, or challenging the City's business 
license tax. A total adverse ruling in these cases could have a material impact on the 
City's financial condition. The City is vigorously defending its positions in these cases. 

During the year, the City experienced an operating surplus of approximately 
$13.6 million in its General Fund. Revenues were over budget by approximately $7.7 
million, driven by business licenses, permits and charges for services. Sales tax revenue 
increased by 4% over the previous year. Use tax increased 5.4%, occupational tax gained 
3%, lease/rental tax increased 8%, business license fees advanced 4.4%, permits gained 
9.4%, fines and forfeitures declined 7.8%, charges for services increased 29.7% led by an 
increase in advanced life support transportation fees and intergovernmental revenue 
advanced 12.4% after excluding one-time items. Actual business taxes, including sales, 
use, occupational, lease/rental and lodgings taxes were $12,818 more than the 
$241,786,92 1 budgeted for these revenues. Business License tax was $3 million over the 
$82.7 million amount budgeted. Expenses were under budget by approximately $5.6 
million as a result of lower gasoline prices and lower workers' compensation expense. 
Total General Fund operating expenses declined 2% from the prior year. At the end of 
2015, the City's Unassigned General Fund Balance was approximately $9 1.3 million and 
the Birmingham Fund, a special reserve fund, ended the year with a fund balance of 
approximately $91.6 million. In its Fiscal 2016 Budget, the City appropriated 
approximately $7.8 million from General Fund Balance to fund neighborhood 
improvement projects. 

The City accounts for its employee and pre-65 retiree healthcare plan in an 
internal service, proprietary, fund. Employee and retiree contributions are receipted as 
revenue in the fund. The City's planned contribution is recorded as revenue and any 
excess claims are paid by the City 's General Fund by transfer into the fund . During the 
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fiscal year, the City paid claims, in excess of the planned amount, of approximately $4.8 
million. The City also transferred $3.4 million into the fund from the General FWld to 
amortize the accumulated deficit from previous years. At the end of the year, the 
accumulated deficit was reduced to approximately $8.5 million, from $11.8 million in 
2014. 

An actuarial study reported that the City's unfunded actuarial accrued liability for 
Other Post Employment Obligations, primarily healthcare, increased from $64.4 million 
on JWle 30, 2011 to $1 39.3 million on June 30, 2013. The City's Net OPEB obligation, 
computed according to GASB standards was $37.2 million at June 30, 2015. The 2016 
healthcare plan for active employees and retirees included premium increases. 

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada 
("GFOA") awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting 
for the fiscal year ended JWle 30, 2014. The Certificate of Achievement is a prestigious 
national award presented to state and local governments for publishing an easily readable 
and efficiently organized CAFR whose contents conform to program standards and 
complies with generally accepted accoWlting principles and applicable legal 
requirements. The Certificate is valid for a period of one year. The City of Birmingham 
has received the award for the last 36 consecutive years. We believe our current CAFR 
continues to conform to Certificate of Achievement program requirements, and we are 
submitting it to the GFOA for consideration. 

The City of Birmingham's budget report for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 
2014, was awarded the Government Finance Officer's Association Award for 
Distinguished Budget Presentation. In order to receive this award, a governmental unit 
must publish a document that meets program criteria as a policy document, as an 
operations guide, as a financial plan, and as a communications device. The City believes 
its current budget report also meets the above criteria, and we are submitting it to the 
GFOA for consideration. 

Preparation of this document was made possible by the dedicated efforts of the 
staff of the Finance Department and City Administration. I wish to express my 
appreciation to them and other department employees who contributed to the publication 
of this report, with particular thanks to the entire General Accounting staff. 

Additional information, including the City's Operating and Capital Budgets can be 
accessed at www.binninghamal.gov Wlder the City Directory - Finance Department and 
the Budget Office. 

Respectfully submitted, 

9&~ 
Director of Finance 
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.. BANKS, FINLEY, 
"WHITE & CO. 

CERTIAED PUB/.£( A(COUNTANTS 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Honorable Mayor and 
Members of City Council 

City of Binningham, Alabama 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, the aggregately discretely presented component units, the statement of 
each major fund, the aggregate remaining fund information, and the respective budgetary 
comparison for the General Fund of the City of Birmingham, Alabama ("the City"), as of and for 
the year ended June 30, 2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the City's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did 
not audit the financial statements of the Birmingham Parking Authority, a component unit of the 
City, which represents J .2%, 1.2% and J J .8% of the assets, net position and revenues, 
respectively of the aggregately discretely presented component units. Those financial statements 
were audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar 
as it relates to the amounts included for such discretely presented component units, is based 
solely on the report of the other auditors. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
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• To the Honorable Mayor and 
Members of City Council 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Page 2 

An audit involves perfonning procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the fmancial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinions. 

Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the respective financial pOSition of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the 
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remainjng 
fund information of the City of Birmingham, Alabama, as of Jillle 30, 2015, and the respective 
changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof, and the respective 
budgetary comparison for the General Fund for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Change in Accounting Principle 

As discussed in Note (1.)(D.)(lO) to the financial statements, in 2015, the City adopted new 
accounting guidance, GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Pensions--an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27. Our opinion is not modified with respect 
to this matter. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management's discussion and analysis (pages 12-22), Schedule of Changes in the Plan's Net 
Pension Liability and Related Ratios (pages 86-88), Schedule of the Employer's Contributions 
(pages 89-90), and Schedule of Funding Progress-OPEB (page 91) be presented to supplement 
the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be 
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II To the Honorable Mayor and 
Members of City Council 

City of Binningham, Alabama 
Page 3 

an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the 
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained 
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining 
and individual nonrnajor fund financial statements, the schedule of revenues, expenditures and 
changes in fund balance-budget and actual, and statistical section, are presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 

The combining and individual nonrnajor fund financial statements and the schedule of revenues, 
expenditures and changes in fund balance-budget and actual are the responsibility of 
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to 
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the 
basic fmancial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the 
combining and individual non major fund financial statements and the schedule of revenues, 
expenditures and changes in fund balance-budget and actual are fairly stated in all material 
respects in relation to the basic fmancial statements as a whole. 

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the basic fmancial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on them. 

Birmingham, Alabama 
November 3, 2015 jJMi, 14 ~14 ~ . 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

This narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City of Birmingham for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, is offered by management of the City to the readers of the financial 
report, Please read it in conjunction with the letter of transmittal presented on pages 2-7 and the 
financial statements beginning on page 23, 

Financial Highlights 

-Total net position for the City of Birmingham increased by $14,8 million during the past fiscal year. 

-The liabilities of the City of Birmingham exceeded its assets at the close of June 30, 2015, by $242,7 
million, 

-The City of Birmingham's governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $300.2 
million as of June 30, 2015, a decrease of $10.7 million over the prior fiscal year. 

Overview of Financial Statements 

Following this discussion the City of Birmingham's basic financial statements are presented, There are 
three components to these financial statements, 

1, Government-wide financial statements 
2. Fund financial statements 
3, Notes to the financial statements 

1. The government-wide financial statements give readers a broad overview of the finances of 
the City of Birmingham in a manner similar to a private-sector business, They are composed of two 
individual statements - the statement of net position and the statement of activities. 

The statement of net position, presented on pages 23 & 24, reports all of the City of 
Birmingham's assets and deferred outflows and liabilities and deferred inflows, with the difference 
between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position could 
serve as a useful indicator as to whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating, 

The statement of activities presented on page 25 shows the changes in the City of 
Birmingham's net assets during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. This statement is prepared on the 
full accrual basis of accounting, meaning that all changes to net position are reported as soon as the 
underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows, 

The government-wide statements show separetely the governmental activities and the 
business-type activities, The govemmental activities are those supported mainly by taxes and 
intergovernmental revenues. The City of Birmingham's activities (functions) include public safety, 
streets and sanitation, culture and recreation, and generel government. The business-type activity for 
the City is supported by user charges which are intended to cover all or a significant portion of the 
activity costs, The City of Birmingham's business-type activity is the operation of the Emergency 
Communications District, better known as E-911, 

2. Fund financial statements report the City's operations in more detail than what is presented 
in the government-wide financial statements, Fund financial statements include the statements for 
governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary funds, 
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Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as 
governmental activities in the government-wide statements. The focus for reporting the activities on the 
fund financial statements is on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources as well as 
balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be 
useful in evaluating the City's near-term financing needs. 

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government wide financial statements. By 
doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government's near-term financing 
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of 
revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance included in this report provide reconciliations to 
facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities. 

In fiscal year 2015, the City of Binmingham reported as major funds the General Fund, the 
Birmingham Fund, the Oebt Reserve and Debt Service Funds, the 2013-A Bonds Fund, the 2014 Bond 
Fund, and the Capital Improvement Fund. The other City funds are reported aggregately as non-major 
funds. Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental funds is provided in the fonm of 
combining statements found on pages 95 through 106 of this report. 

The City of Birmingham adopts an annually appropriated budget for its general fund. A 
budgetary comparison statement has been provided for the general fund to demonstrate compliance 
with the budget. The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 26 and 28 
of this report. 

Proprietary fund statements provide the same type of information as the government-wide 
financial statements, only in more detail. The City maintains one enterprise fund, the Emergency 
Management Communications District (E-911). The City also maintains one internal service fund that 
provides self-insured health benefits to the City's employees. The basic proprietary fund financial 
statements can be found on pages 31 through 34 of this report. 

Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties external to the 
City of Binmingham. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements 
because the resources are not available to support the City's own programs. The accounting used for 
fiduciary funds is similar to that used for proprietary funds. The basic fiduciary statements can be found 
on pages 35 through 36 of this report. 

3. Notes to the financial statements are provided to give the reader additional information that 
is essential to understanding the data presented in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 

Other required supplementary infonmation is also presented in this report concerning the City's 
progress in funding its obligation to provide pension benefits to its employees. Required supplementary 
information can be found in the notes to the financial statements for the pension funds beginning on 
page 86 of this report. 
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The following table summarizes the major features of the basic financial statements of the City of Birmingham. 

Table of Financial Statements 

Fund Financial Statements 

Government- Governmental Proprietary Fiduciary Funds 
wide Financial Funds Funds 
Statements 

Scope Entire City Activities of the Activities of the City Activities for which 
government City that are not that operate similar the City acts as 
(except fiduciary proprietary or to businesses trustee for someone 
funds) fiducia!j! else's resources 

Required .Statement of .Balance sheet .Stalement of net .Statement of 
financial net position .Statement of position fiduciary net position 
statements .Statement of revenues, .Statement of .Statement of 

activities expenditures, revenues,expenses, changes in fiduciary 
and changes in and changes in net net position 
fund balance position 

.Statement of cash 
flows 

Accounting basis Accrual Modified accrual Accrual accounting Accrual accounting 
and accounting and accounting and and economic and economic 
measurement economic current financial resources focus resources focus 
focus resources focus resources focus 
Type of All assets and Only assets All assets and All assets and 
asset/liability liabilities, both expected to be liabilities, both liabilities, both short-
information financial and liquidated and financial and capital, term and long-term 

capital, and liabilities that and short-term and 
short-term and come due during long-term 
long-term the year or soon 

thereafter; no 
capital assets 
nor long-term 
debt included 

Type of All revenues and .Revenues for All revenues and All revenues and 
inflow/outfiow expenses during which cash is expenses during the expenses during the 
information the year, received during year, regardless of year, regardless of 

regardless of or soon after the when cash is when cash is 
when cash is end of the year received or paid received or paid 
received or paid -Expenditures 

when goods or 
services have 
been received 
and payment is 
due during the 
year or soon 
thereafter 
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Government-Wide Condensed Financial Information 

Net position represents the difference between the City of Birmingham's total assets and its total 
liabilities. Changes in the net position can be a useful measuring tool to gauge performance over time. 
The City's net position that is invested in capital assets net of related debt reflects its investment in 
capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, machinery and equipment, infrastructure), less any related 
outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. The City uses these capital assets to provide services 
to its citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for spending. Although the City's 
investment in capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources 
needed to repay this debt must be provided from other revenue sources since the capital assets 
themselves cannot be liquidated to satisfy these liabilities. 

The City of Birmingham's restricted net position of approximately $96.6 million is subject to 
various legal restrictions regarding use and by federal and state grant requirements. The City's total net 
pOSition increased by approximately $14.8 million in fiscal year 2015. For additional details on the 
reconciliation between the two basis. see page 29 of this report. 
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The following table presents a condensed statement of the City's net position at June 30, 2015 and 
2014: 

Current and other assets 

Capital assets, net 

Total assets 

Current and other 

liabilities 

long-term lia bilities 

Total liabilities 

Net position: 

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

June 30, 2015 and 2014 

(in thousands) 

Governmental Business-Type 

Activities Activities 

2015 2014 2015 2014 

$427,954 $343,335 $4,565 $3,487 

583,593 560,785 3,848 4,167 

1 904,120 8,413 7,654 

92,097 82,529 184 279 

1,162,151 598,630 1 ..• 154 1,732 

1 681,159 1,338 2,011 

Net investment in capital assets 149,863 210,160 919 4,167 

Restricted 96,624 139,831 

Unrestricted (127,030) 6,156 1,476 

Totals 

2015 2014 

$432,519 $346,822 

587,441 564,952 

1,019,960 911,774 

92,281 91,750 

1,163,305 600,362 

1,255,586 692,112 

150,782 214,327 

96,624 139,831 

(483,029) (125,554) 

Net position ($242,698) $222,961 $7,075 $5,643 ($235,623) $228,604 

Note: long-term liabilities increased due to net pension obligation reporting requirements for GASB 68. 
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CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION 
For Years Ended June 30,2015 and 2014 

(in thousands) 

Changes in Net Position 

Governmental Business-Type 
Activities Activities Totals 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 
REVENUES: 
Program revenues: 

Charges for services $203,212 $115,656 $7,003 $6,272 $210,215 $121,928 
Operating grants 57,923 24,390 57,923 24,390 
Capital grants 7,797 7,797 

General revenues: 
Sales and use tax 151.919 145,394 151,919 145,394 
Occupational tax 81,013 78,654 81,013 78,654 
Property tax 54,808 55,842 54,808 55,842 
Unrestricted grants and 
Contributions 24,663 22,561 24,663 22,561 

Investment earnings 5,988 11,978 10 7 5,998 11,985 

Other (3,217) 5,909 (3,217) 5,909 

Total revenues 584,106 460,384 7,013 6,279 591,119 466,663 

EXPENSES: 
Program expenses: 

General government 232,450 122,310 232,450 122,310 
Public safety 196,529 200,169 5,581 5,220 202,110 205,389 
Streets and sanitation 61,527 78,093 61,527 78,093 
Culture and recreation 40,987 40,667 40,987 40,667 
Interest on long-term debt 39,195 17,896 39,195 17,896 

Total expenses 570,688 459,135 5,220 576,269 464,355 

Increase in net position 13,418 1,249 1,432 1,059 14,850 2,308 

Beginning, restated, net position 222,960 221,712 5,643 4,584 228,603 226,296 

Restatement (479,076) 

Ending net position $(242,698) $222,961 $7,075 $5,643 $(235,623)$228,604 

17 



Fund Analysis 
Changes in fund balances for the City's major governmental funds for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2015, are as follows: 

General Fund 
Birmingham Fund 
General Bond Debt Reserve 
General Bond Debt Service 
2013-A Bonds 
Capital Improvement Fund 

Govemmental Funds 

Beginning Balance 

$ 79,574 
93,161 
21,109 

1,585 
49,908 
13,697 

$ 259,034 

Increase 
(Decrease) 
$ 13,138 

(1,189) 
(3,454) 
2,166 

(14,837) 
(5,828) 

($ 10,006) 

Ending Balance 

$ 92,712 
91,972 
17,655 
3,751 

35,071 
7,869 

$249,028 

The focus of the reporting of the City's governmental funds Is to provide information regarding 
near-term inflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the 
City's financing requirements, Unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a 
govemment's net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 

The Fund Balance of the General Fund increased due to an operating surplus for fiscal year 
2015, The surplus resulted primarily from increased revenues from Business Licenses, Permits and 
Advanced Life Support Transportation Fees and decreased expenses for gasoline and worker's 
compensation claims. The Fund Balance of the Birmingham Fund declined as a result of transfers out 
to the General Fund and project expenditures exceeding the investment earnings in the Fund. The 
General Bond Debt Reserve Fund's Fund Balance decreased according to Its programmed reduction to 
pay debt service on outstanding bonds. The General Bond Debt Service Fund's Fund Balance 
Increased as a result of excess transfers-in from the Bond Reserve Fund, The 2013-A Bonds Fund 
decreased as capital expenditures were made from the Fund, which accounts for bond proceeds, which 
increased the Fund Balance in a previous year when the bonds were Issued, The Capital Improvement 
Fund balance decreased as a result of the spend-down of project balances, the appropriations for 
which, increased the fund balance in a prior year. 

The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances provide additional 
details for the changes in specific funds. This statement can be found on page 28. 

Budget Variances in the General Fund 
During the fiscal year, revisions were made to the original budget adopted by the City due to 

changes in projected revenues. Amendments were also made in the projected expenditures, as 
needed throughout the year. 
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Capital Assets and Long-Term Debt Activity 

Capital Asset Activity 
At June 30, 2015, the City of Birmingham reported approximately $584 million in net capital 

assets, including its infrastructure, for govemmental activities. The City's Emergency Management 
Communication District reported approximately $3.8 million in net capital assets. The notes to the 
financial statements, on pages 51 through 52, provide more information on capital assets, including the 
changes that occurred during the fiscal year. 

A. Capital Assets 

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30. 2015 was as follows (in thousands): 

June 30, June 30, 
2014 Increases Decreases 2015 ... ----~.-

Governmental activities: 
Capital assets, 

nondepreciable: 
Land $ 153,167 $ - $ - $ 153,167 
Construction in progress 79,296 31,117 4,061 106,352 
Land, infrastructure projects 16,647 

Total nondepreciable 
capital .... 249,110 31 17 4,061 276,166 

Capital assets, depreciable: 
Buildings and capital facilities 320,361 435 320,796 
Furniture and other equipment 168,582 7,621 2,165 174,038 
Infrastructure 21 219,497 

Total depreciable capital 
assets 704,584 11 2 65 714,331 

Less accumulated depreciation: 
Buildings and capital facilities 113,727 4,628 118,355 
Furniture and other equipment 135,756 8,162 2,140 141,778 
Infrastructure 143,527 146,771 

Total accumulated 
depreciation 393,011 406,906 

Net depreciable capital 
assets 311,573 307,425 

Governmental activities, net 
capital assets $ 560,683 $ 26,994 $ 4,086 $ 583,591 

19 



Business-type activities: 
Buildings and other capital 

facilities $ 
Furniture and other equipment 

Total capital assets 
Less accumulated 

depreciation: 
Buildings and other capital 

facilities 
Fumiture and other equipment 

Total accumulated 
depreciation 

Business-type activities, net 
capital assets $ 

Long-term Debt Activity 

June 30, 
2014 

1,025 $ 
6,144 
7,169 

481 
2,520 

3,002 

4,167 $ 

Increases Decreases 

- $ - $ 

20 

452 

June 30, 
2015 

1,025 
6,277 
7,302 

502 
2,952 

3,454 

(319) $ ____ - $ __ ...;;3.:.,;;,8".;,48;;.,. 

At June 30, 2015, the City of Birmingham had approximately $510 million of outstanding debt, 
consisting of its bonds and warrants (including blended component unit debt); of this amount, 
approximately $471 million is considered long-term, The notes to the financial statements, on pages 
54-61, include additional details for the City's long-term debt activity. 

Governmental Activities 
Long Term Debt 
Capitalized Leases 

2015 
$ 471,275 

549 
$ ___ 4;.;..7-"1,,,,,82;;;,.4;... 

2014 
500,551 

The City's bond ratings are AA, Aa2, AA and AA by Standard & Poor's, Moody's Investors 
Service, Fitch Ratings and Kroll Bond Ratings, respectively. The City's broad and diverse economy 
and consistently strong financial performance are the bases for these ratings. 

The City's general fund is typically used to liquidate long-term liabilities with the exception of 
bond debt service, which is paid from the City's Bond Debt Reserve Fund, and the PACE bonds, which 
are paid from The Special Lodgings Tax and Stadium Lease Revenues. 

On October 1,2014, the City issued $1,010,000 of its General Obligation Warrants Series 2014-
PNC3. The Warrants were issued to finance the purchase of and installation of computer equipment, 
used by various City departments. The warrants mature on October 1, 2015 through 2018. 
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On October 30, 2014, the City issued its $16,040,000 Taxable General Obligation Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2014-C. The Bonds were issued to advance refund those of its General Obligation 
Bonds, Series 2006-A maturing in 2019, 2021 and 2022. The refunding bonds mature over the same 
period as the refunded bonds. The Series 2014-C bonds are taxable bonds, with an interest rate of 
4.27% and a True Interest Cost of 2.30%. The City has an option to refund these bonds between July 
3, 2016 and October 1, 2016 at an interest rate of 4.11 % and a True Interest Cost of 2.30%. When the 
City exercises its option to refund the Bonds, net present value savings of the refunding transaction will 
be $655,392, or 4.09% of the principal amount of bonds being refunded. 

On October 30, 2014, the City issued its $12,120,000 Taxable General Obligation Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2014-0. The Bonds were issued to advance refund those of its General Obligation 
Bonds, Series 2007-A maturing in 2018, 2019, 2022, 2023 and 2024. The refunding bonds mature 
over the same period as the refunded bonds. The Series 2014-0 bonds are taxable bonds, with an 
interest rate of 4.455%, and a True Interest Cost of 2.54%. The City has an option to refund these 
bonds between September 2,2016 and December 1, 2016 at an interest rate of 3.91% and a True 
Interest Cost of 2.53%. When the City exercises its option to refund the Bonds, net present value 
savings of the refunding transaction will be $744,087, or 6.14% of the principal amount of bonds being 
refunded. 

On November 6, 2014, the City issued its $44,980,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds 
Series 2014-A. The Bonds were issued to advance refund those of its General Obligation Bonds, 
Series 2007-A maturing in 2020 - 2024, 2027, 2029, and 2032. The refunding bonds mature over the 
same period as the refunded bonds. The Series 2014-A Bonds are tax-exempt bonds, with an average 
interest rate of 4.86%, and a True Interest Cost of 3.37%. The transaction resulted in a net present 
value savings of 2,080,037, or 4.32% of the principal amount of bonds being refunded. 

On November 6, 2014, the City issued its $40,610,000 General Obligation Refunding Warrants, 
Series 2014-B. The Warrants were issued to advance refund those of its General Obligation Warrants, 
Series 2006-C maturing in 2017 - 2026,2031,2032, and 2033 and also those of its General Obligation 
Warrants, Series 2007-B maturing in 2018 - 2023, 2027 and 2030. The refunding warrants mature 
over the same period as the refunded warrants. The Series 2014-B Warrants are tax-exempt warrants, 
with an average interest rate of 4.76%, and a True Interest Cost of 3.02%. The transaction resulted in 
a net present value savings of $2,795,279 or 6.50% of the prinCipal amount of bonds being refunded. 

On December 17, 2014, the City issued $17,503,000 Tax Increment Financing District No.1 
Revenue Warrant Series 2014. The Warrants were issued to currently refund the City's Tax Increment 
Finance District 1 Revenue Warrant No.1 and Tax Increment Finance District 1 Revenue Warrant No. 
2, both dated November 6, 2009. The final maturity of the refunding warrants is September 1, 2028. 
The Series 2014 Warrants are tax-exempt warrants, with an interest rate of 2.89%. The refinancing 
was undertaken to align debt service with TIF revenues. In addition to TIF revenues, the Warrants are 
payable from a General Obligation Funding Agreement from the City. The transaction resulted in a net 
present value savings of $1,260,000. 

On January 30,2015, the City issued $10,000,000 of its 2015 General Obligation Bond 
Anticipation Notes due January 5, 2015. This General Obligation Nole was issued in anticipation of 
issuing authorized but unissued bonds and will be repaid from the proceeds of such future issuance of 
bonds. 
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Economic Factors Affecting the City of Birmingham and the 2015 Budget Information 

Birmingham weathered the recession by implementing significant expense reduction and 
containment measures. In 2012, tax revenues showed some growth and this continued into 2013, 
however growth began to level off in 2014. 2015 experienced good revenue growth. Given much 
newly announced private development in the City, the City expects to see increased revenue growth as 
these projects are constructed and begin opening for business. 

The City considered several factors in prepering the City's budget for the 2015 fiscal year. For 
one, the U. S. economy appeared to have stabilized and is now growing at a slow rate. Because much 
of the City's revenue is consumer driven (sales, use, occupational and business license taxes), slow 
economic growth translates directly into slow growth for a major portion of the City's revenue. 
Therefore, the City continues to monitor expenses closely and stands ready to adjust its budget as 
needed. 

Availability of Information 

The City's current and previous Operating and Capital Budgets, previous CAFRs, Single Audits 
and this CAFR are available on the City's website at www.birminohamal.gov City Directory, Finance 
Dept and Budget Office. 

Request for Information 

This financial report is designed to give a general overview of the City of Birmingham's finances. 
Questions concerning any of the information may be sent to the following: 

Director of Finance 
710 North 20th Street, Suite A-100 
Birmingham, AL 35203 
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Basic Financial Statements 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Statement of Net Position 

June 30, 2015 
(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Primary Government 

Governmental Business~Type 

Activities Activities 

Assets 
CURRENT ASSETS: 

Unrestricted assets: 
Cash and investments $ 272,295 $ 4,565 $ 
Cash with escrow agent 1,666 
Receivables: 

Accrued interest 70 
Accrued taxes receivable 31,788 
Accounts (net of uncollectibies) 2,468 
Notes (net of uncollectlbles) 533 
Loans 741 
Due from other governments 738 
SpeCial assessments (178) 

Inventories 1,221 
Prepaid items 482 
Due from component unit 1,380 
Other current assets 554 

Restricted assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Investments 
Accounts and grants receivable 
Accrued interest receivable 

NONCURRENT ASSETS: 
Other assets: 

Net pension obligation 242 
Capital assets:: 

Land 169,814 
Buildings and capita! facilities 320,796 1,025 
Furniture and other equipment 174,035 6,277 
Accumulated deprecration (260,133) (3,454) 
Infrastructure 219,497 
AccumUlated depreCiation, infrastructure (146,771) 
Construction in progress 106,352 

T 0101 Assets: 897.593 8,413 

Total Deferred outflows 113,954 

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 1,011,547 8,413 

The notes to the financtal statements are an integral part of this statement 
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Total Component Units 

276,860 $ 31,262 
1,666 

70 
31.788 

2,468 2.297 
533 
741 
738 

(178) 
1,221 256 

482 617 
1,380 

554 

34,213 

23,183 
1,004 

39 

242 

169,814 185,795 
321,821 274,075 
180,315 65,725 

(263,587) (190,233) 
219,497 205,739 

(146,771) 

106,352 17,377 
906,006 651,349 

113,954 4,143 

1,019,960 655,492 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Statement of Net Position 

June 30, 2015 
(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Primary Government 

Governmental Busines5~ Type 
Activities Activities 

Liabilities 
CURRENT LIABILITIES: 

Payable from unrestricted assets: 
Accounts and vouchers payable 12,183 23 
Contracts payable 456 161 
Contracts payabfe ~ retainage 798 
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes payable 3,158 
Due to primary government 
Estimated claims payable 15,211 
Other liabilitfes 6,188 
Unearned Revenue 
Interest payable 4,067 
Capitalized Jeases 217 
Compensated absences 3,391 
Bonds and warrants payable 46,425 

Payable from restricted assets: 
Contracls Payable 
Accrued Interest Payable 
Current portion of revenue bonds payable 

LONG TERM LIABILITIES: 
Capilalized Leases 333 
Compensated absences 12,961 
Bonds and warrants payable, net 471,275 
Closure and postclo5ure costs 15,615 
Workers' compensation claims payable 19,030 
OPEB liability 37,197 
No!es Payable 1,154 
Net pension obligation 605,740 

Total liabilities: 1,254,245 1,338 

Net Position 
lnvested in capital assets, net of related debt 149,863 919 
Restricted for: 

Restricted for debt service 87,633 
Restricted for future projects 8,991 

Unrestricted (489,1851 6,156 
Total Net Position: $ (242,698) $ 7,075 $ 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 
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Total Component Units 

12,206 1,612 
617 

798 
3,158 142 

1,331 
15,211 

6,188 

4 
4,067 

217 
3,391 36 

46,425 

1,944 

5,072 
6,439 

333 
12,961 676 

471,275 189,386 
15,615 
19,030 
37,197 

1,154 
605,740 

1,255,583 206,642 

150,782 363,807 

87,633 23,108 
8,991 14,637 

(483,029) 47,298 
(235,623) $ 448,850 



FuncUons/programs 

Primary Gove-mml,l:nt 
Govemmental Activities: 

Pubflc safety: 
Street and sanilatlon: 
CullUral & rectealklnal; 
General government: 
Interest onU;!ng.Tenn Datal 

Total Governmental AcfuriUes: 

Business. Type Activities: 
Emergency Management Commurlicalion Dls!ricl 

Tota18usiness-Type Activities: 
Totar PrlJnary Government 

Compqnent Units 
Birmingham Airport Aulhoril)l 
SlmJingham Parlling Authonly 

Totar Component Units: 

expenses 

196,529 
61,521 
40,981 

232,450 

39,195 
570,588 

5,581 

5,581 

$ _~6,~~ 

43,059 
6,533 

$ 49,592 

Saies and use !aX 

Oc:cupallonal tax 
Property laX 

Gronts and contribuljQns-unu:stricted 

Unreslricted investment eamlngs 

O!he, 
Total General Revenues. Specii!lltems, and 
Tmnsfc:rs: 
Change in Net Pos;ifiQn: 
Net Poaitlon ~ Beginning 01 Year as; 
originally stated 

Restatemenl 

NeI Position· Beginning of Year Restaled 
Net PosItion - Ending: 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Statement of Activities 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2015 
(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Program ReVenues 

Charge!> for Operating Grants Capital Grants and 
Services and Contrlbut«:ms Contributlom" 

20,253 3,758 
243 

2,055 
180,001 54,167 7,797 

202,212 57,923 

]j)()3 

1,003 
$ ~O,21_5_ S 57,92~_ ~ _7,797 

44,054 6,844 
5,950 

$ 51,004 S 6,844 S 

The notes to the finanoal statements ate <In integral part of this statement 
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• 

Net (Expense) Revenue <'.loa Changes in Net PQSition 

Primary Government 

Govertlmental Business.Type 
ActlVfUe-s Activities Tota! Component Units 

(172.519) (112.519) 
(61,285) (61285) 
(3B.933) (38.933) 
10,177 10,177 
{39.195~ (39,195) 

{301,755l (301.755) 

1.422 1,422 

1,422 1,422 
(301,755) 1.422 (300,333) 

7,639 
417 

8,258 

151,919 151.919 
81,013 81,013 
54,80B 54,soa 
24,863 24.863 
5,988 10 5,996 133 

@,217) (3.217) 947 

315,183 
14,650 

222,960 5,643 228.603 4,J4,842 
(479.076) (479,076) 4,672 

~256,116} 5,643 (250,473) 439,514 
(242,698) , 1,075 , (235.623) S 446,850 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Balance Sheet 

Governmental Funds 
June 30, 2015 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Other lotal 
Capltal Governmental Governmental 

GErner:a! Oebt ReSErNe Dobt Servree Improvement Fund Birmingham FUnd l013·A, Bonds Furub. Funds -... 
Cash and lnvesil'flenls $ 64,947 • 17,418 S 3.]54- $ 8,174 S 91,933 $ 35,656 $ 49,332 • 271,214 
Cash With. "seal agent 1,666 1,665 
Receivables: 

Accrued interest • 21 " 70 
Accrued taxes 31,023- 215 551 31,789 
Accounts (net of uncollcCllb!es) 2,954 13 2,967 
Notes (net oruncollectibleS) 33 33 
Loans &54 67 741 
Due [rom other governments 674 (131) 707 
Special ass.essments (176) (178) 

Due from olher funds 5,542 5,542 
Due from component units 1,380 1,380 
Inventories 1,221 1,221 
Prepaid lIems 462 4112 
Other 554 554 

Total Assets: $ 109,672 • 17,654 $ 3,754 ~ 8,174 $ 91,974 S 35,656 $ 51,334 • 318,216 

Liabilities, Deferred Inftows of Resources, and Fund Balances. 
Liabiiitles: 
Ae;co\lnts and VOUd!efS payable 6,978 4 87 2 34, 695 8,108 
Contracts payable 456 456 
Contracts payabJe.retnfnnge 21. 243 338 199 
Accrued payrOll nnd payroll tnxes payable 3,156 3,158 
Unearned reYernJe 2713 (979) (703) 
Other liabilities 6.092 6.188 

T otnl UnblHUes: 16,S60 • 305 2 5.5 18,006 

Fund BnlanreS: 
Nonspendable: 

Inventory 1,221 1,221 

prepaId items '.2 462 
Spendable: 

Reslricled: 
Debt Service 17,655 3,750 3,025 24,430 

Capital PtojeclS 7.869 35,071 40,060 83,000 

Other 147 747 

Assigned: 
CommUted 10: 

Stabilization 91,972 91,972 
NelghbOJhood Improvements 8,634 8,634 

Olher PUrpo$ces (1,283) (1,283) 

UnaSSigned 91,009 91,009 

Total Fund Balanees~ 92,712 17,655 35,071 51,184 300,213 
Talal liabilities, Deferred Inflows O! Resources, and Fund 
Balances: S 100,672 $ 17,$SS S 3,754 $ 8,174 91,974 , 35,656 S 51,334 • 318,218 .. 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet 

To the Statement of Net Position 
Year Ended 

June 30, 2015 
(Amounts expressed In thousands) 

Fund Balance - Total governmental funds 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in 
the statement of net assets are different 
because; 

Deferred revenues are not recognized until available in the funds. 

Deferred items related to debt issuance used in governmental activities 
afe not current financial resources and therefore are not 
reported in the governmental funds balance sheet. 

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current 
financial resources and therefore are not reported in the 
balance sheet 

Governmental capital assets 

Accumulated depreciation 

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in 'he current 

period and therefore, they are not reported in the 

governmental funds balance sheet. 

Bonds and warrants payable 

Interest accretion on capital appreciation warrants 

Capitalized leases 

Compensated absences 

Accrued interest payable 

Landfill ctosure cost 

OPEB liability 

Workers' Compensation claims payable 

Estimated claims payable 

Net penSion cbligalion (nel) 

An Internal Service Fund Is used by management to charge the 
cost of certain activities 10 individual funds. The assets and 
liabilities of the Internal Service Fund are included in the governmental 
acfivities in the Statement of Net Position. 

Net position of governmental activifies 

s 990,497 

(406,904) 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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$ 300,218 

(703) 

113,949 

583,593 

(509,905) 

(7,795) 

(549) 

(16,352) 

(4,067) 

(15,615) 

(37,197) 

(19,030) 

(15,211) 

(605,497) (1.231,218) 

(8,537) 

$ (242,698) 



Glloorlf 
RlIIVilnU8I ,-, , 265,21$ 
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Culluml" rccroaIlonu\; 

PlirIt & R\ltrelllllln 12,:11) 
Ubtllry 14.461 
Arlin(ll.on "listorielll "loom '" aeutweh Aud,ltnium 1,144 

MUnlumclArl 3,102 
S~Full'llln! ." 
SOCtlHlm MU!Qllm of F~Ohl 1H 
SlollI Falti!fIlund$ ~,035 

Nond~rtmonlol 

(>I:nCIlI1OO\i1lmmenl:: 

FIillY'Cfl 1!l,324 
fqlllpr!»flIMa~iIll4lflilnt HAW 
lnfllrmlrtlM MliMoemsn\ Sl'itvitJl.1l 11.231 
CllyCle:l:; '" CommlJ(1lt~ I)(!mopmont '" COllflr;llOff1ec 3,312 

",. 5."" 
Ma)'Or'.sOlfle.;. 6,~63 

I''''~nnel &,5:19 

Nont1ollartmwtal 41'1,400 
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OOb! SCMe.;.; 
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!n!MlSI end /00% ~,932 

CapM10u11ily: 
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(Promi~m}I1)l-i(;(lum en dtb( 1$!MInce 
Pavm'mtta~!VW.G!i.!Ill 
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fum! &I111~$· Endill'fJ; , 92.112 

city of Birmingham, Alabama 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes In Fund Balances 

$ 

Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2015 

(amounts expressed In thousands) 

C4p14'11 
!mprllYO!menl 

OO:tRuftlir1' Dob! $mi~O! fund SI;mI"211«m fund 

29,'s16 

,. 

" " 3,764 

'" 29.1J1 W ,.'" 

" t,l93 '" 

217,a1 
9,17il 

6,a43 " 31,026 S.'" .. , 
29.137 i.ll,C2~ (1I,CY.li) ~, 

33,11)1 ,.'" 
(.}3..1S1) (SI5) (4,033) 

(33,191) 3J,191 :I,HI! 
(),4S4) 2,lM !$,626) 
:l1,1ell 1,S85 13.&91 
17,655 , pSI $ 7 .... 

Thll oot~ to thll Ij,um:bl natemenll tre >in lntGllf.! PlItt of Il'M ~t~tement 

" 

20'~-A SIma. 

, 

... .. 

1,113 

fl,6:)3 

12,111) 

~12,6Ilg} 

(2.17$) 

" ... " 10.141 
GOVQrnmetIflIl GIl'{Qrnmantal 

2014 Snnd; !'tInd funds Fund, 

5,619 , 30(\,414 
01,1<'11 

25.;;30 41,549 

"" 15.9'5 .... , 3,91S 
1.279 470 5,9$9 

lAS7 6,61(1 
1.279 ).1..635 40U79 

1."" 91,&.31 

'" 51,934 

1,:WI H,OOO 
.53 10,652 

'."'" 6,660 

" " 
" ~3,911 

'" 12,310: 
14,467 

'" 1,144 

3.1~2 

." 
'" 

" 4,093 

" " 
'I' 10,1141 

14,4'" 
11,237 

'" S.'" 10,S05 
3,312 
('),156 

" 6,~a6 

6.61S 
2,S4!l 54,312 

" " 
6,D40 "". 16,iIOO 6.120 36,362 

11),11111 'l.6,288 
1/J,OOO W150 .... ," 

(IS,OOli ilS.11~ P5252! 

10t,l)26 23,131 124,763 ,- 1,200 16,600 
(101.630,) {12,12O) (113,750J 

6,142 4ilA41 
(4,SOO) (46,>441) 

!:i!.422/: 
2~.4l1!i 

(1!l,15J) 
51,1137 312.1I11 
51,HIf> $ )J:l,2111 



en" of Birmingham, Alabama 
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the 

Statement of Activities 
For the Vear Ended June 30, 2015 

(in thousands) 

Net increase In fund balances - total governmental funds 

Governmental funds report capita! outlays as expenditures. In the 
statement of activities, however, these costs are allocated OVer 
their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense, 
This Is the amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation 
in the current period. 

Capital Outlay 
Depreciation 

The repayment and refunding of plincipal of long-term debt and capital leases 
uses current resources of governmental funds but has no effect on net assets, 

Issuance of new bonds, warrants 

Interest accretion on capital appreciation warrants 

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not 
require the use of current financ1al resources and are not reported 
as expenditures in governmental funds: 
Change in compensated absences 
Change in closure and post closure costs 
Deferred charges on refunding 
AmortizatIon of premium and discount 
Amortization of deferred charges 
Change in fnterest payable 
Change in workers compensation 
Change in OPEB 
Change 1n net pension liability 

Revenue not recognized until future years 
Gain on disposal of fixed assets 

An Internal Service Fund is used by management to charge the cost 
or certain activities to indiVidual funds. The net revenue {expense) of the 
Internal Servrce Fund 1s reported with governmental activitles, 

Increase in net position of governmental activities 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial stalements, 
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36,968 
(16,035) 

(922) 
(829) 

(5,791) 
6,114 

(3,900) 
356 

(1,073) 
(6,688) 

180 

$ 

$ 

(10,753) 

22,933 

169,253 

(141,649) 

(3,382) 

(12,553) 

(13,712) 
25 

3,266 

13,418 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
General Fund 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances· Budget and Actual 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2015 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Budgeted Amounts 

Original Final ActuaJ Amounts 
Revenues 

Taxes $ 264,690 $ 264,882 $ 265,219 
Licenses and permits 87,308 87,708 91,101 
Intergovernmental 11,624 14,185 16,140 
Charges for services 13,159 13,186 15,895 
Fines and forfeitures 2,873 2,873 2,253 
Investment income 320 320 274 
Other operating revenues 6,260 6,780 6,977 

Total Revenues: 386,234 389,934 397,859 

Expenditures 
Current Expendltul'es: 

Public safety: 172,488 172,621 175,578 
Street and sanitation: 46,072 46,388 42,749 
Cultural & recreational: 37,086 37,072 36,643 
General government: 118,454 117,953 112,535 

Debt Service: 

Principal 9,154 9,162 9,154 
Interest and fees 5,074 5,074 4,932 

Capital Outlay: 

Capital outlays 1,744 608 612 
Total Expenditures: 390,071 388,878 382,203 
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues OVer (Under) 
Expenditures: 

Other financing sources (uses):: 
Net Change in Fund Balances: 

Fund Balances ~ Beginning 
Fund Balances - Ending: 

(3,837) 1,056 

3,835 (1,057) 
(2) (1) 

79,574 79,574 
$ 79,572 $ 79,573 $ 

The notes to the financial statements are an Integral part of this statement 
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15,656 

(2,518) 
13,138 
79,574 
92,712 

Variance with 
Final Budget· 

Positive (Negative) 

$ 337 
3,393 
1,955 
2,709 
(620) 
(46) 
197 

7,925 

(2,957) 
3,639 

429 
5,418 

8 
142 

(4) 
6,675 

14,600 

(1,461 ) 
13,139 

$ 13,139 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Statement of Net Position 

Proprietary Funds 
June 30, 2015 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Assels 
Current assets: 

Cash and investments 

Total Current assets: 
Property, plant, and equipment: 

Buildings and systems 
Machinery and equipment 
Furniture and fixtures 
Less accumulated depreciation 

Total Property, plant, and equipment: 

T olal Assets: 

Liabilities 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable 

Due to other funds 
Total Current liabilities: 

Total Liabilities: 

Net Position 
Invested in capital assets 

Unrestricted 
Total Net Position: 

Business-type activities Governmental activities 

Enterprise fund - E911 Internal Service Fund-
Communications District Healthcare Plan 

$ 

$ 

4,565 

4,565 

1,025 

5,466 
811 

(3,454) 
3,848 

8,413 

1,339 

1,339 
1,339 

918 
6,156 
7,074 

$ 

$ 

1,080 

1,080 

1,080 

4,075 
5,541 
9,616 
9,616 

(8,536) 
(8,536) 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position 

Proprietary Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2015 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Operating Revenues 
Service tees 
Employer contribulions: 

City contributions to employee health insurance 
City reimbursement excess claims paid 

Employee contributions: 
Employee health deductions 

Rebates: 
Stop loss rebate 
Prescription drug rebate 
Stop loss rebate - retirees 
Prescription drug rebates retirees 

Revenue 
Total Operating Revenues: 

Operating Expenses 
Public safety 
General and administrative: 

Enterprise 
Internal Services: 

Blue Cross Claims 
Express Scripts Claims 
Stop Loss Premium 
Admin Fees - BCBS 
Express Scripts Fees 
Blue Cross Claims - Retirees 
Express Script Claims - Retirees 
Stop Loss Premium - Retirees 
Admin Fees BCBS Retirees 
Express Script Fees - Retirees 

Repairs and maintenance 
Depreciation 

Total Operating Expenses: 
Operating Income (Loss): 

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 
Interest income 

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses): 
Income (Loss) Before Contributions and Transfers: 

Transfers 
Change in Net Position: 
Total Net Position - Beginning 

Total Net Position - Ending: 

BU$iness~type activities 

Enterprise fund - E911 
Communications District 

$ 

$ 

7,003 

3,715 

970 

445 
452 

5,582 
1,421 

10 
1,431 

1,431 
5,643 
7,074 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position 

Proprietary Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2015 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Operating Revenues 
Cily contributions to employee health insurance 
City reimbursement excess claims paid 

Employee contributions: 
Employee health deductions 

Rebales: 
Stop loss rebate 
Prescription drug rebate 
Stop loss rebate ~ retirees 
Prescription drug rebates - retirees 

Total Operating Revenues: 

Operating Expenses 
General and administrative: 

Internal Services: 
Blue Cross Claims 
Express Scripts Claims 
Stop Loss Premium 
Admin Fees - BCSS 
Express Scripts Fees 
Blue Cross Claims - Retirees 
Express SClipt Claims - Retirees 
Stop Loss Premium - Retirees 
Admin Fees - BCBS Retirees 

Total Operating Expenses: 
Operating Income (Loss): 

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 
Interest income 

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses): 
Income (Loss) Before Contributions and Transfers: 

Transfers 
Change in Net Position: 
Total Nel Position - Beginning 

Total Net Position - Ending: 

Governmental activities 

Internal Service 
Funds - Healthcare 

$ 

Plan (Activites) 

32,211 
2,169 

7,543 

192 
309 

42,424 

28,770 
11,657 

738 
1,147 

66 

42,378 
46 

46 

3,400 
3,446 

{11,792) 
(8,346) 

Internal Service 
Funds - Healthcare 

$ 

Plan (Retirees) 

4,067 
2,702 

1,866 

549 
73 

9,257 

5,019 
4,135 

95 
198 

9,447 
(190) 

(190) 

(190) 

(190) 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 
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$ 

Total 

36,278 
4,671 

9,409 

192 
309 
549 

73 
51,681 

28,770 
11,657 

738 
1,147 

66 
5,019 
4,135 

95 
198 

51,825 
(144) 

(144) 

3,400 
3,256 

(11,792) 
(8,536l 



Cash flows from operating activities: 

Cash received from customers 

Cash payments to suppliers 

Cash payments to employees 

Net cash from operating activities 

Cash Flows from non-capital financing activities: 

Transfer in 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Statement of Cash Flows 

Proprietary Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2015 

(in thousands) 

Business-type 

activities 
Enterprise Fund - E911 

Communications District 

S 7,133 
(5,726) 

(91) 
1,316 

Cash flows from (used for) capital financing activities: 

Acquisition of capital assets (133) 

Cash flows from investing activities; 
Interest received 3 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,186 
Cash and investments, beginning of year 
Cash and investments, end of year 

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used by 

operating activities: 
Operating income (loss) 1,431 

Adjustments to reconcile operating gain (loss) 

to net cash used by operating activities: 

Depreciation 452 
Change in accounts receivable 107 
Change in accounts payable (674) 

Net cash from operating activities $ 1,316 

S 

$ 

The notes to the financial statements are an intergral part of this statement. 
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Governmental 

activities 
Internal Service Fund­

Healthcare Plan 

51,681 
(51,825) 

1,225 
1,081 

3,400 

3,256 

(2,175) 
1,081 



Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Receivables: 

Investments, at fair value: 

Total Assels: 

liabilities 
Accounts payable and other 

Total Liabilities: 

Net Position 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 

June 30, 2015 
(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Pension Trust 

$ 

Funds 

40,271 
13,703 

1,043,889 
1,097,863 

971 
971 

Held in trust for future pension benefits 
Total Net Position: $ 

1,096,892 
1,096,892 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 
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Additions 
Additions: 

Contributions: 
Employer Contributions 
Plan member contributions 

I nvestment income: 
Investment earnings (net) 
Securities lending revenue 

Other income 
Total Additions: 

Total Additions: 

Deductions 
Deductions: 

Benefits 
Refunds of contributions 
Administrative expenses 

Total Deductions: 
Total Deductions: 
Change in Net Position: 
Net Position - Beginning 

Net Position - Ending: 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 

Fiduciary Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2015 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 
Pension Trust 

$ 

$ 

Funds 

18,691 
16,460 

48,345 
218 

367 
84,081 
84,081 

84,841 

3,354 
1,499 

89,694 

89,694 
(5,613) 

1,102,505 
1,096,892 

The notes 00 the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 
36 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Combining Statement of Net Position 

Nonmajor Component Units 
June 30, 2015 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Birmingham Birmingham Total Nonmajor 
Airport Authority Parking Authority Component Units 

ASS.1lI 
CURRENT ASSETS: 

Unrestricted assets: 
Cash and investments 26,454 $ 4,808 $ 31,262 
Recelvables: 

Accounts (net of uncollectibles) 2,069 228 2,297 
Inventories 256 256 
Prepaid items 575 42 617 

Restricted assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 34,213 34,213 
Investments 23,183 23,183 
Accounts and grants receivable 1,004 1,004 
Accrued interest receivable 39 39 

NONCURRENT ASSETS: 

Other assets: 
Deferred charges 4,143 4,143 

Capital assets:: 
Land 183,539 2,256 185,795 
Buildings and capital facilities 274,075 274,075 
Furniture and other equipment 64,375 1,350 65,725 
Accumulated depreciation (189,324) (909) (190,233) 
Infrastructure 205,739 205,739 
Construction in progress 17,377 17,377 

Total Assets: 647,717 7,775 655,492 

liabilities 
CURRENT LIABILITIES: 

Payable from unrestricted assets: 
Accounts and vouchers payable 1,535 77 1,612 
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes payable 93 93 
Due to primary government 1,380 1,380 
Unearned Revenue 4 4 
Compensated absences 36 36 

Payable from restricted assets: 
Contracts Payable 1,944 1,944 
Accrued Interest Payable 5,072 5,072 
Current portion of revenue bonds payable 6,294 145 6,439 

LONG TERM LIABILITIES: 

Compensated absences 466 210 676 
Bonds and warrants payable, net 189,079 307 189,336 

Total Liabilities: 204,390 2,252 206,642 

Net Position 
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 381,561 2,246 363,807 
Restricted for: 

Restricted for debt .. !VIce 23,108 23,108 
Restricted for future projects 14,187 450 14,637 

Unrestricted 44,471 2,827 47,298 
Total Net Position: $ 443,327 $ 5,523 $ 448,650 

The notes to the financ!al statements are an integral part of this statement 
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FunctionsfPrograms 

Nonmajor Component Units 
Birmingham AIrport Authority: 

Birmingham Airport Authorfty 

Total Birmingham Airport Authority: 

Birmingham Parking Authority: 

Birmingham Parking Authority 

Total Birmingham Parking Authorlty: 
Tatar Nonmajor Component Units: 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Combining Statement of Activities 

Nonmajor Component Units 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2015 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position 

Expenses 

$ 43,059 
43,059 

$ 49,592 

Unrestricted investment earnings 

Other 
Total General Revenues. Special 
Uems. and Transfers: 
Change in Net Position: 
Net Position - Beginning of Year as 
originally staled 

Restatement 

Net Position - Beginning of Year Restated 
Net POSition - Ending: 

$ 

$ 

Charges for 
Services 

44,054 
44,054 

51,004 

Operating Grants 
and Contributions 

$ 6,844 

6,844 

$ 

Birmingham 
Airport Authority 

$ 7,839 

7,839 

131 
947 

1,078 
8,917 

429,738 
4,672 

443,327 

The notes to the financial statements are an Integral part of this statement 
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Birmingham 
Parking Authority 

$ 

417 
417 
417 

2 

2 
419 

5,104 

$ 5,523 

$ 

$ 

Total 

7,839 

7,839 

417 
417 

8,258 

133 
947 

1,080 
9,336 

434,842 
4,872 

439,514 
448,850 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2015 

I. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

A. Reporting Entity 

The City of Birmingham, located in Alabama, is a municipal corporation that was 
incorporated on December 19, 1871. The City operates under a Mayor-Council form of 
government as provided by Act No. 425 of the Alabama Legislature (The Mayor-Council Act) 
and is comprised of a Mayor elected at large and a nine-member council that is elected by 
district. 

The financial statements of the City have been presented in conformity with accounting 
principles accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to governmental 
units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard­
setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. 

The accompanying financial statements present the City and its component units, entities for 
which the City of Birmingham is considered to be financially accountable (the City is able to 
impose its will on the organization or there is a potential for the organization to provide 
specific benefits or specific burdens on the City). The City's discretely presented component 
units are presented in total in a separate column in the government-wide financial 
statements to emphasize that they are legally separate from the City. 

Blended Component Unit 
The Public Athletic, Cultural and Entertainment Facilities Board of the City of Birmingham 
(the PACE) is a five-member board appointed by the City. The PACE imposes specific 
financial burdens on the City. Although legally separate, the PACE is blended as a 
governmental fund component unit into the City because the structure of the PACE meets 
the GASB Statement 61 criteria for blending. The criteria assessed and determined to result 
in blending is that the PACE's total debt outstanding is expected to be repaid entirely with 
resources of the City. 

A separate financial report for the PACE is not prepared. 

Discretely presented component units 
The Birmingham Airport Authority (BAA) is a seven-member board appointed by the City 
and is a public corporation organized under the provisions of the Code of Alabama. The 
Authority is responsible for the operations of the Birmingham-Shuttlesworth International 
Airport. Because the City of Birmingham appoints the BAA's governing body, the Authority 
is included as a component unit in these financial statements. The BAA's fiscal year ends 
June 30. 

The BAA reimburses the City for the cost of providing security and fire protection services to 
the Airport. Amounts charged by the City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, totaled 
$3,886,238. 

The Birmingham Parking Authority (BPA) is a three-member board appointed by the City 
and operates parking facilities in the City and also acts as a financing agent for certain other 
parking facilities. The Authority is included as a component unit in these financial 
statements. The BPA's fiscal year ends June 30. 
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Complete financial statements for each component unit may be obtained at the following 
administrative offices: 

Birmingham Airport Authority 
5900 Airport Highway 
Birmingham, Alabama 35222 
Financial statement date: June 30, 2015 

Related Organizations 

Birmingham Parking Authority 
1732 5th Avenue North 
Birmingham, Alabama 35203 
Financial statement date: June 30,2015 

The City of Binmingham is also responsible for appointing a voting majority of the boards of 
other organizations, but the City's financial accountability for these organizations does not 
extend beyond making the appointments. The City appoints a voting majority of the 
Birmingham-Jefferson County Transit Authority (BJCTA) and the Birmingham Housing 
Authority (BHA). In fiscal year 2015, the City provided funding to the BJCTA in the amount 
of $10,800,000 and $39,565 to the BHA. These organizations are related organizations that 
have not been included within the City's financial statements. 

B. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial statements of the City consist of the statement of net 
position and the statement of activities for all of the nonfiduciary activities of the City and its 
three component units. The effect of interfund activity has been removed from these 
statements. The statements report separately the governmental activities from the 
business-type activities. Governmental activities are normally supported by taxes and 
intergovernmental revenues, whereas business-type activities rely on fees and charges for 
support. The City, as the primary government, is shown separately from its two legally 
separate discretely presented component units. The City's blended component unit is 
presented combined with the primary government activity. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given 
function are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly 
identifiable with a specific function; program revenues include (a) charges to customers who 
purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given 
function, and (b) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or 
capital requirements of a particular function. General revenues include taxes and other 
items not included in program revenues. 

Included in this report are separate financial statements for governmental funds, proprietary 
funds (including the internal service fund), and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are 
excluded from the government-wide financial statements. The City reports its major 
individual governmental funds as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 

An internal service fund (which provides services primarily to other funds of the government) 
is presented, in summary form, as part of the proprietary fund financial statements. Since 
the principal users of the internal services are the City's governmental activities, the financial 
statements of the internal service fund are consolidated into the governmental activities 
column when presented at the government-wide level. The costs of these services are 
charged to the appropriate functional activity. 
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Surpluses or deficits in the internal service funds are allocated back to customers at the 
government-wide level statement of activities. There are no reconciling items between the 
business-type activities column at the government-wide level and the proprietary fund 
statements at the fund level because the internal service fund does not provide services to 
the City's enterprise fund. 

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its 
measurement focus. The government-wide financial statements, the proprietary fund 
financial statements, and the fiduciary fund financial statements are all reported using the 
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under this 
focus and basis, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a 
liability is incurred, regardless of when the cash is received or expended. 

Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year of their levy; grants and similar items 
are recognized as revenue when all the eligibility requirements of the providers have been 
met 

All governmental funds are accounted for using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified 
accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when they are both measurable and 
available. The City of Birmingham considers revenues to be available if they are collected 
within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period; the major sources of accrued revenue 
are the various business and ad valorem taxes the City collects as well as grant revenues. 
Expenditures are recorded when the liability is incurred, consistent with accrual accounting. 
Debt service expenditures, Claims and judgments, as well as expenditures related to 
compensated absences are recorded only when payment is due. 

The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, contingent liabilities and the reported amount of 
revenues and expendituresfexpenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 

Subsequent events were evaluated through the date the financial statements were issued. 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, highly liquid investments with a maturity of 
three months or less when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents. 

The City of Birmingham reports the following major governmental funds: 

The General Fund is the City's primary operating fund and accounts for all financial 
resources except those required to be accounted for in other funds. 

The General Bond Debt Reserve Fund accounts for the receipt of property taxes 
earmarked for debt service on bonds by constitutional and authorizing initiatives and 
issued pursuant to a voter referendum. 
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The General Bond Debt Service Fund accounts for the payment of principal and interest on 
general obligation bonds. 

The Birmingham Fund is considered a Special Revenue Fund and accounts for proceeds 
the City received from the sale of the Industrial Water Board. The Birmingham fund is 
considered a reserve fund set aside for use in emergency situations andlor as revenue 
shortages or budgetary imbalances occur. Funds may be appropriated as follows: (a) 
Operating Budget Amendments or other appropriations for any fiscal year, not exceeding 
5% of the five year average market value of the fund, by majority council vote; (b) Any 
other additional amount for any lawful purpose with majority Council vote and a declaration 
of extraordinary circumstance. 

The Capital Improvement Fund accounts for funds from miscellaneous sources used for 
various capital improvement projects which are not financed by debt issuance. 

The 2013-A Bonds Fund is used to account for various capital projects financed by these 
bonds. 

The 2014 Bond Fund is used to account for the refinancing of various outstanding bonds. 

The City of Birmingham reports the following proprietary fund as a major proprietary fund: 

The Emergency Management Communications District accounts for the operation of the 
Enhanced Universal Emergency Number Service (E911). 

The Pension Funds account for the activities of the City's three pension plans. 

The accompanying financial statements reflect the elimination of interfund activity with the 
exception of the charges to the City's proprietary fund. These amounts are shown on the 
statement of net position as internal balances. 

The operating revenues of the proprietary fund include charges to customers for the 
operation of the 911 telephone service. Nonoperating revenues include investment 
earnings. The operating expenses of the proprietary fund are those expenses incurred in 
the normal operations of providing the 911 services, as well as depreciation of the capital 
assets. 

The operating revenues of the City's internal service fund are fees from the City and City 
employees for health care benefits. The operating expenses of the internal service fund are 
for health care and prescription drug claim payments. 

D. Assets, Liabilities, and Deferred Outflowsllnflows of Resources and Net Position, 
or Fund Balance 

1. Deposits and Investments - Cash and cash equivalents include amounts in demand 
deposits as well as short-term investments with a maturity date within three months of 
the date acquired by the City. State statutes authorize the City to invest certain funds 
in U. S. government obligations, U. S. government agency obligations, U.S. corporate 
stock, U.S. debt, State of Alabama obligations, county obligations, and other 
municipal obligations. The City invests its funds in accordance with State law. 
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All investments, including those of the City's component units, are reported at fair 
value, market value, or best available estimates. Short-term investments are 
reported at cost which approximates market value. Securities traded on a national or 
international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price reported by such 
exchange. All investments have established markets to determine their fair value. 

2. Receivables and Payables - The City shows "due to/from other funds" at the end of 
the fiscal year to show any current outstanding balances from lending/borrowing 
arrangements between funds. 

The City shows receivables at June 30, 2015, consisting of the following: 

Business -
Governmental Type Total Primary 

Activities Activities Government 

Taxes Receivable $ 31,788,483 $ 31,788,483 
Customers and Other 8,838,147 8,838,147 
Other Governments 2,117,636 2,117,636 
Gross Receivable 42,744,266 42,744,266 
Less: allowance for 
Uncollectible (6,370,580) (6,370,580) 
Net Receivable $ 36,373,686 $ 36,373,686 

Taxes Receivable - All property taxes levied by the State of Alabama, the City, 
Jefferson and Shelby Counties, are assessed by the Jefferson and Shelby County 
Tax assessors and collected by their tax collectors. The property tax calendars 
specify the following actions and dates: 

Levy (assessment date) 
Lien date 
Due date 
Collection dates 
Delinquent date 

September 30 
September 30 
October 1 
October 1 to Decem ber 31 
January 1 

The City of Birmingham receives a 4% sales tax for the sale of tangible goods within 
the City limits and a 1 % occupational tax on wages of persons employed within the 
City limits. These tax collections are remitted to the City on a monthly basis. All 
amounts remitted within the fiscal period are included in revenue; taxes due within 
the fiscal year but remitted to the City after year-end are accrued in both the 
government-wide and fund financial statements. 

3. Inventories and Prepaid Items - Inventories are valued on the average cost basis. 
Inventory consists of expendable supplies held in the General Fund for consumption. 
The cost is recorded as an expenditure at the time individual items are used 
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(consumption method). Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit 
periods beyond June 30, 2015 are recorded as prepaid items. 

4. Restricted assets - Certain assets of the Birmingham Airport Authority (component 
unit) are restricted by the terms of federal grants and programs. These particular 
funds are restricted for designated capital projects. 

5. Capital assets - Capital assets include property, buildings, furniture, other equipment, 
and infrastructure. Capital assets are reported in the applicable governmental or 
business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements. Capital 
outlays are recorded as expenditures of the governmental funds. Capital assets, other 
than infrastructure, are defined by the City as items with an estimated useful life of 
three years or more and an individual cost in excess of $5,000. Capital assets are 
recorded at cost where historical cost is available or at estimated historical cost if 
actual cost is not available. Donated capital assets are recorded at their estimated 
fair value at time of donation. The costs of normal repairs and maintenance that do 
not add to the value of the asset, or materially extend useful lives, are expensed. 
Upon sale or retirement of capital assets, the cost and related accumulated 
depreciation are eliminated from the respective accounts and any resulting gain or 
loss is included in the results of operations. 

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following 
estimated useful lives: 

ASSETS 
Buildings, capital facilities 

and improvements 
Furniture and equipment 
Infrastructure 

YEARS 
50 

3-20 
25-50 

The City recognizes the intrinsic value of historical works and collections. As such, 
the City has adopted a policy that these items will not be considered capital items 
and subject to depreciation. This policy covers the historical works and collections 
housed at the City's various museums. Should the sale of any of these items occur, 
the City is committed to using the funds generated from the sale to purchasing other 
similar collectibles. 

6. Compensated absences - City of Birmingham employees earn vacation leave at 
graduated rates based on the employee's length of service (one day per month of 
service, initially), and up to 40 days of unused leave may be carried over to the 
following year. Vacation pay is accrued when incurred in the government-wide 
financial statements. The City does not have a policy for vested sick pay, thus no 
liability for accumulated unpaid sick leave is accrued. 

7. Long-term obligations - Long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported 
in the government-wide financial statements. Bond premiums and discounts are 
deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds. Bonds payable are reported net of 
the applicable bond premiums and discounts. As per GASB 65, bond issuance costs, 
other than insurance cost, are expensed in the period incurred. Prepaid insurance 
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cost should be reported as deferred charges and amortized over the term of the 
related debt. 

In the fund financial statements, any bond premiums and issuance costs have been 
recognized in the current period. The face amount of the new debt issued and the 
premiums received are reported as other financing sources; issuance costs are 
reported as debt service expenditures. 

8. EQuitv classification In the government-wide statements, equity is classified as net 
position and displayed in three components: a. Net investment in capital assets 
(consists of capital assets including restricted capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, 
notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or 
improvement of those assets); b. Restricted net position (consists of net position with 
constraints placed on the use either by (1) external groups such as creditors, 
grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (2) law through 
constitutional or enabling legislation); c. Unrestricted net position - all other net 
position that does not meet the definition of "restricted" or "net investment in capital 
assets". 

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report aggregate amounts for 
five classifications of fund balances on the constraints imposed on the use of these 
resources. The nonspendable fund balance classification includes amounts that 
cannot be spent because they are either (al not in spendable form-prepaid items or 
inventories; or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 

The spendable portion of the fund balance comprises the remaining four 
classifications: restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned. 

Restricted fund balance - This classification reflects the constraints imposed on 
resources either (a) externally by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or 
regulations of other governments; or (b) imposed by law through constitutional 
provisions or enabling legislation. 

Committed fund balance - These amounts can only be used for specific 
purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by ordinances of the City Council, the 
government's highest level of decision making authority. Those committed 
amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the City Council removes, 
or changes the commitment by taking the same action it employed to impose the 
commitment. This classification also includes contractual obligations to the extent 
that existing resources in the fund have been committed for use in satisfying 
those contractual requirements. 

Assigned fund balance - This classification reflects the amounts constrained by 
the City's "intenf' to be used for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor 
committed. The City Council and Finance Director have the authority to assign 
amounts to be used for specific purposes. Assigned fund balances include all 
remaining amounts (except negative balances) that are reported in governmental 
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funds, other than the General Fund, that are not classified as nonspendable and 
are neither restricted nor committed. 

Unassigned fund balance - This fund balance is the residual classification for the 
General Fund. It is also used to report negative fund balances in other 
governmental funds. 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's 
policy to use resources, in the following order and as needed: restricted resources, 
unrestricted resources, committed or assigned resources, and finally unassigned 
resources. 

9. Deferred outflows/inflows of resources - In addition to assets, the statement of net 
position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. 
This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, 
represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will 
not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. 

10. Recently issued pronouncements 

The GASB issued Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Pensions an amendment of GASB No. 27 (GASB 68) to establish standards for 
measuring and recognizing liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, deferred 
inflows or resources, and expenses/expenditures. For defined benefit pensions, this 
Statement Identifies the methods and assumptions that should be used to project 
benefit payments, discount projected benefit payments to their actuarial present 
value, and attribute that present value to periods of employee service. Note 
disclosure and required supplementary information reqUirements about pensions 
also are addressed. The requirements of GASB 68 are effective for fiscal year 2015. 
The City implemented GASB 68 during the current fiscal year and the City has 
shown. $(479.076) the cumUlative effect of applying this statement. as a restatement 
of the beginning balance of net position for period ending June 30, 2015. 

The GASB issued Statement No. 69, Government Combinations and Disposals of 
Government Operations (GASB 69) to improve accounting and financial reporting for 
U.S. state and local governments' combinations and disposals of government 
operations, The requirements of GASB 69 are effective for fiscal year 2015 and the 
City will follow this guidance when applicable. 

The GASB issued Statement No. 70, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Nonexchange Financial Guarantees (GASB 70) to enhance the comparability of 
financial statements among governments by requiring consistent reporting by those 
governments that extend nonexchange financial guarantees and by those 
governments that receive nonexchange financial guarantees. The requirements of 
GASB 70 are effective in the current fiscal year and the City follows this guidance 
when applicable. 

The GASB issued Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made 
Subsequent to the Measurement Date - An Amendment to GASB Statement 68 
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(GASB 71) was issued to eliminate the source of a potential significant 
understatement of restated beginning net position and expense in the first year of 
implementation of GASB 68 in the accrual-basis financial statements of employers 
and nonemployer contributing entities. GASB 71 is required to be applied 
simultaneously with the provisions of GASB 68 (fiscal year 2015). The City 
implemented GASB 71 this year. 

The GASB issued Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application 
(GASB 72) This statement addresses accounting and financial reporting issues 
related to fair value measurements. The requirements of GASB 72 are effective for 
fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2015 (fiscal year 2016). The City is currently 
evaluating the impact that GASB 72 may have on its financial statements. 

The GASB issued Statement No. 73, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Pensions and Related Assets That Are Not within the Scope of GASB Statement 68, 
and Amendments to Certain Provisions of GASB Statements 67 and 68 (GASB 73) 
to establish standards of accounting and financial reporting for defined benefit 
pensions and defined contribution pensions that are provided to the employees of 
state and local governmental employers and are not with the scope of Statement 68. 
The requirements of GASB 73 are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 
2015 (fiscal year 2016). The City is currently evaluating the impact that GASB 73 
may have on its financial statements. 

The GASB issued Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment 
Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans-replaces Statement No. 43 and Statement 
No. 57 (GASB 74) The objective of this statement is to improve financial reporting 
primarily through the enhancement of note disclosures and schedules of required 
supplementary information that will be presented by OPEB plans that are within its 
scope. The reqUirements of GASB 74 are effective for fiscal years beginning after 
June 15, 2016 (fiscal year 2017). The City is currently evaluating the impact that 
GASB 74 may have on its financial statements. 

The GASB issued Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pensions-replaces Statement No. 45 
(GASB 75) This statement requires governments to report a liability on the face of 
the financial statements for the OPEB that they provide. The requirements of GASB 
75 are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2017 (fiscal year 2018). The 
City is currently evaluating the impact that GASB 75 may have on its financial 
statements. 

The GASB issued Statement No. 76, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles for State and Local Governments (GASB 76) This statement 
redefines the hierarchy of general accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The 
requirements of GASB 76 are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2015 
(fiscal year 2016), and should be applied retroactively. The City is currently 
evaluating the impact that GASB 76 may have on its financial statements. 
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II. Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability 

A. Budgetary Information 

The annual budget for the City of Birmingham's General Fund is adopted on a basis 
consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. Budgets for the Special Revenue 
and Capital Projects Funds are adopted on an individual project basis. Budgets are 
prepared for the Debt Service Fund based on general obligation bond resolutions. 

On or before May 20, the Mayor submits to the City Council a proposed General Fund 
operating budget for the upcoming fiscal year commencing July 1. The proposed budget 
includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing them. Subsequently, a public 
hearing is held to obtain taxpayer comments; and prior to July 1, the official budget is 
enacted through passage of an ordinance. 

The City's budget is prepared by fund, function, and department. The individual 
departments are authorized by the Mayor to make transfers of appropriations within their 
departments; however, any revisions that alter the total expenditures of any fund or transfer 
between departments must be approved by City Council. The legal level of budgetary 
control is the department level. This year's General Fund budget was amended as needed 
throughout the year by City Council action, provided that adequate funds were available at 
the time of the amendments. 

Encumbrance accounting is used in governmental funds. All general fund purchase orders 
lapse at year end and are reestablished along with their appropriations as needed in the 
new fiscal year. All purchase orders in capital projects and special revenue funds do not 
lapse and appropriations are reappropriated in the next fiscal year. 

B. Fund Deficits of Non-Major Funds 

Deficits in net position/fund balance of non-major funds at June 30, 2015 are as follows: 

Special Revenue Fund 
Grants Fund 

Proprietary Fund 
Internal Service Fund 

$5,697,655 

$8,536,699 

Deficits in the Grants Fund results from expenses incurred for projects that were not reimbursed 
at June 2015. This deficit will be resolved when grant reimbursements are received in the future. 

Deficits in the Internal Service Fund result from expenses incurred in excess of funding related 
to the City's healthcare costs. The City is exploring plan changes to cover costs. The City is 
annually appropriating funds to amortize the deficit, from its general fund resources. 
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III. Detailed Notes on All Funds 

A. Deposits and Investments 

Deposits - At June 30, 2015, the carrying amount of the City's demand deposits, certificates of 
deposits, and money market investments in all funds was $295,765,649 and the bank balance 
was $314,692,635. 

Financial institutions utilized as depositories by the City must provide evidence of their 
designation by the Alabama State Treasurer as a qualified public depository under the Security 
of Alabama Funds Enhancement Act (SAFE). The City requires that the qualified public 
depository (QPD) hold collateral for all its public deposits on a pooled basis in a custody 
account established by the State Treasurer, as SAFE administrator. In the unlikely event a 
public entity should suffer a deposit loss due to QPD insolvency or default, a ciaim form would 
be filed with the State Treasurer who would use the SAFE pool collateral or other means to 
reimburse the loss. 

Investments - At June 30, 2015, the City of Birmingham had the following investments: 

Investment Type 

U.S. Gov1. agency obligations 

U.S. Treasuries 

U.S. Corporate debt 

U.S. Corporate stock 

Alternative Investments 

Total fair value 

Portfolio weighted avg. maturity 

Retirement & Relief System 

$ 
Fair Value 

71,320,719 

70,238,847 

159,520,344 

737,730,465 

104,197,948 

$ 1,143,197,948 

Weighted Avg. Maturity 
(years) 

5.63 

7.68 

5.83 

6.21 

The City's investment policy for its Retirement and Relief System does limit investment 
maturities as a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing 
interest rates. 

Investments Highly Sensitive to Interest Rate Changes 
The City invests in mortgage-backed securities, representing U.S. government agency 
obligations with a fair value of $5,668,717. Mortgage-backed securities are based on cash 
flows from the collection of mortgages. Prepayments arise when, for example, mortgage 
holders redeem their mortgages early. The investor's investment is returned early, or in 
extreme cases not returned at all. Mortgage-backed securities may be considered to be 
investments with terms that may cause their fair values to be highly sensitive to interest rate 
changes. 

Credit Risk: Credit risk exists when there is a possibility the issuer, or other counterparty to an 
investment, may be unable to fulfill its obligations. GASB statement Number 40 requires 
disclosure of credit quality ratings for investments in debt securities as well as investments in 
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external investment pools, money market funds, bond mutual funds, and other pooled 
investments of fixed-income securities. 

Investments may be aggregated by rating category within the disclosure. Ratings are set by 
nationally recognized statistical rating organizations (Fitch Ratings, Moody's Investors Service, 
and Standard & Poor's). In cases where an investment is unrated, a disclosure noting that the 
investment is unrated is required. 

The City's investments included the following bonds at June 30, 2015: 
Description Rating 
U.S. Government Agency Discount Notes, 
~~s AA 

U.S. Corporate Bonds AM 
AA 
A 

BBB 
BB 
B 

CCC 

$ 795,224 
20,485,827 
70,615,736 
34,036,203 
24,091,467 

9,347,501 
148,386 

The City, at this time, does not have a formal credit risk policy. 

Fair Value 

$ 141,559,566 

159,520,344 
$ 301,079,910 

Concentration of Credit Risk· A concentration in credit risk exists when investments in any 
one type represents 5 percent or more of total investments and must be disclosed. Excluded 
from this requirement are investrnents issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government 
and investments in mutual funds, external investment pools and other pooled investments. 

There were no investments held at June 30, 2015, which represented 5 percent or more of total 
investments. 
Securities Lending Transactions Under the provisions of State statutes, the City lends 
securities to broker-dealers and other entities (borrowers) for collateral that will be returned for 
the same securities in the future. One of the City's custodial banks manages the securities 
lending program and receives both cash and domestic bonds as collateral. The collateral 
securities cannot be pledged nor sold by the City unless the borrower defaults. Collateral 
securities are initially pledged at 102% of the market value of the securities lent and this 
collateral is adjusted weekly to maintain the 102% level. The City's Pension Plans authorize the 
lending of domestic bonds and equity securities. The cash collateral is invested in commingled 
short-term fixed income accounts. The City, as a program participant, assumes the risk that (a) 
the overnight investment yield will not equal or exceed the rebate rate, (b) a loss of principal in 
the overnight investment, and (c) the collateral will not be sufficient if called upon to repurchase 
the lost security. The market value of collateral held and the market value (USD) of securities 
on loan for the client as of June 30, 2015 was $140,686,355 and $137,195,546, respectively. 
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The City has incurred no material loss through its participation in the securities lending program 
to date. 

B. Capital Assets 

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2015 was as follows (in thousands): 

June June 
30, 30, 

2014 Increases Decreases 2015 

Governmental activities: 

Capital assets, nondepreciable: 

Land $ 153,167 $ - $ - $ 153,167 

Construction in progress 79,296 31,117 4,061 106,352 

Land, infrastructure projects 16,647 16,647 
Total nondepreciable capital 

assets 249,110 31,117 4,061 276,166 

Capital assets, depreciable: 

Buildings and capital facilities 320,361 435 320,796 

Furniture and other equipment 168,582 7,621 2,165 174,038 

Infrastructure 215,641 3,856 219,497 

Total depreciable capital assets 704,584 11,912 2,165 714,331 

Less accumulated depreciation: 

Buildings and capital facilities 113,727 4,628 118,355 

Furniture and other equipment 135,756 8,162 2,140 141,778 

Infrastructure 143,527 3,245 146,771 

Total accumulated depreciation 393,011 16,035 2,140 406,906 

Net depreciable capital assets 311,573 (4,123) 25 307,425 
Governmental activities, 

net capital assets $ 560,683 $ 26,994 $ 4,086 $ 583,591 
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In 1999, the City entered into an operating lease with a non-profit organization to lease zoo 
property for a nominal amount annually. The first lease period was for 25 years with two 25 
year incremental extensions at the discretion of the City. Any zoo property purchased 
(excluding animals) by the lessee during the term of this lease is City property. The additions 
for the current year are as follows: construction in progress $282,523; buildings and capital 
facilities $311,816; and furniture and other equipment $127,630 for a total increase in zoo fixed 
assets of $721,969. Accumulated depreciation was increased by $1,557,677 related to these 
assets. 

The Public, Athletic, Cultural, and Entertainment Board is public corporation that was created in 
August of 2011. The PACE's structure qualifies as a blended component unit of the City. The 
PACE owns certain buildings and capital facilities, such as the Regions Field and the Negro 
Southern League Baseball Museum. 

June June 
30, 30, 

2014 Increases Decreases 2015 
Business-type 
activities (in 
thousands): 

Buildings and 
other capital 
facilities $ 1,025 $ $ $ 1,025 

Furniture and 
other equipment 6,144 133 6,277 

Total capital 
assets 7,169 133 7,302 

Less accumulated 
depreciation: 

Buildings and 
other capital 
facilities 481 20 502 

Furniture and 
other equipment 2,520 431 2,952 

Total 
accumulated 
depreciation 3,002 452 3,454 
Business-type 
activities, 

net capital 
assets $ 4,167 $ (319) $ $ 3,848 
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Depreciation expense was charged to the following functions (in thousands): 

Governmental activities: 
Public safety, including depreciation of infrastructure assets 
Streets and sanitation 
Cultural and recreation 
General government 

Total depreciation - governmental activities 

Business-type activities: 

E-911 operations 

C. Interfund Balances I Transfers 

$ 7,049 
2,517 
2,875 
3,594 

$ ==1,;,;6~,0~35~ 

$ 452 

During the course of normal operations, the City has numerous transactions between funds to 
provide services, construct assets, service debt, etc. Their transactions are generally reported 
as interfund transfers. No expectation of repayment between funds is expected related to these 
interfund transfers. The composition of interfund transfer amounts for the year ended June 30, 
2015, is as follows (in thousands): 

Non-
General Debt Capital Major 

Transfers Out Fund Service Projects Funds Totals 

General Fund $ - $ - $ 2,996 $ 234 $ 3,230 

Debt Reserve 33,191 33,191 

Capital Imp Fund 15 800 815 

Birmingham Fund 4,033 4,033 

2013-A Bonds 2,176 2,176 

Non-Major Funds 64 4,932 4,996 

$ 4,112 $ 33,191 $ 2,996 $ 8,142 $ 48,441 

The general fund reported a due from the internal service fund of $5,542,000 which represents 
amounts due the general fund from the internal service fund for operating costs. 
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The City issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition andlor 
construction of capital assets. The bonds are direct obligations of the City and the full faith 
and credit of the City is pledged to the repayment of the bonds. Bonds outstanding at June 
30, 2015, are as follows (in thousands): 

Bond Seriesll nteres! Rate 

2002-B; 4.25% 
2005-A; 5.75% 
2006-A; 4.00%-5.00% 
2006-B; 5.00% 
2007-A; 4.00%-5.00% 
2013-A; 1.36%-5.00% 
2013-B; 4.00% 
2014-WFB; 4.574% 
2014-A; 3.00%-5.00% 
2014-C; 4.27% 
2014-D; 4.45% 
2015 PNC - Bond Ant. Notes 
2015 Citizens Bond Ant. Notes 

Total City bonds 
2013-A accreted interest * 

Total City bonds and accreted interest 

Maturity 

12/01/2015 

11/01/2015 
04/01/2024 
10/01/2015 
12/01/2032 
03/01/2043 
03/0112034 
11/01/2023 
12/01/2032 
0410112022 
12/01/2024 
01/0512016 
01/05/2016 

03/0112043 

$ 50 
1,625 

34,240 
9,110 

51,270 
68,061 

2,690 
19,885 
44,980 
16,040 
12,120 
8,000 
2,000 

$ ~-----,2:..:.7..::.0 .<.::.07=-1,,-
6,562 

$ ~~2;;;7,;;6,~63;;;3~ 

* The City's Series 2013-A bonds are convertible capital appreciation bonds, which mature 
from fiscal year 2017 through 2043. This amount represents accreted interest on the balance 
outstanding as of June 30, 2015. The amount at full maturity will be $82,175,000, 

Authorized, but unissued bonds 
The City has authorized the issuance of $2,431,216 of General Obligation Bonds as part of the 
City's incentive agreement with Trinity Hospital - see pages 65 and 66 for a detailed 
description of this agreement. The bonds are expected to be issued during calendar year 
2015. 
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Annual debt service requirements to maturity for general obligation bonds are as follows (in 
thousands): 

Unaccreted 
Princillal Interest Interest 

2016 $ 30,065 $ 8,773 $ 3,684 

2017 14,171 7,898 2,459 

2018 15,835 11,161 
2019 16,304 10,487 
2020 10,262 9,902 

2021-2025 40,985 44,194 
2026-2030 60,662 32,622 
2031-2035 50,639 17,755 
2036-2040 18,024 11,205 
2041-2043 1 124 4,415 
Subtotal $ 270,071 $ 158,412 $ 6,143 

Add: 
Accreted interest through 
June 30, 2015 6,562 

$ $ 158,412 $ 6,143 
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General obligation warrants and revenue warrants 
The City issues general obligation warrants for the same purposes as general obligation 
bonds. Warrants are also direct general obligations of the City, for which it pledges its full faith 
and credi!. Under state statute, general obligation warrants can be issued without an election 
and must be issued for a period of maturity of not longer than thirty years. Revenue warrants 
are tax increment financing district warrants in which ad valorem taxes are collected to fund the 
debt service. The original amounts of warrants issued was $208,800,000. Warrants 
outstanding at June 30, 2015, are as follows (in thousands): 

Seriesllnterest Rate 
2007-B; 4%-5% 
2009-A; 3%-4.5% 
2010-A; 2%-4.5% 
2010-B; 4.2%-7% 
2012-RB; 3.99% 
2012-CBT; 4.375% 
2014-PNC; 1.55% 
2014PNC2; 1.15% 
2014PNC3; 1.54% 
2014-B; 3%-5% 

Total City Warrants 

Revenue Warrants: 
2014 Tax Increment Financing; 2.89% 

Total Warrants and Revenue Warrants 
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Maturity 
03/01/2017 
06/01/2026 
02/01/2018 
02/01/2040 
08/01/2025 
08/01/2022 
04/01/2020 
03/01/2018 
10/01/2018 
03/01/2033 

09/01/2008 

1,985 
12,640 
28,355 
39,115 
4,740 

750 
3,570 
3,430 
1,010 

40,610 
$ 136,205 

17,025 

$ _--:.;15:.;:;3"",,2:;;;.;30;;,.. 
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Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the City's general obligation warrants and 
revenue warrants are as follows (in thousands): 

PACE Bonds: 

June 30 
2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 

2021-2025 
2026-2030 
2031-2035 
2036-2040 

Total 

Seriesll nterest Rate 
Maturity 

2011-A (PACE) 4.00% 
2011-B (PACE) 4.00% 

Total PACE bonds 

(see Table F-3) 
(see Table F-3) 
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Principal Interest 
$ 

$ 

1010112041 
1010112041 

14,715 $ 5,898 
16,127 5,329 
16,764 4,696 
7,162 4,124 
7,096 3,877 

34,305 15,455 
30,311 8,665 
15,080 3,780 
11,670 1,374 

153,230 $ ~~5..;;.3':.;.1.;;.;99;... 

52,095 
7,845 

59,940 
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Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the PACE bonds are as follows (in thousands): 
June 30 

2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 

2021-2025 
2026-2030 
2031-2035 
2036-2040 
2041-2042 

Total 

Total outstanding bonds and warrants payable (in thousands): 
Bonds payable 
Warrants payable 
Revenue warrants 
PACE Bonds payable 

Less current maturities 
Unamortized premium and discount 

Total bonds and warrants payable (noncurrent) 
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$ 

$ 

Princi[!al 
1,645 
1,695 
1,750 
1,810 
1,870 

10,325 
9,625 

10,530 
13,935 
6,755 

59,940 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Interest 
1,993 
1,938 
1,881 
1,822 
1,761 
7,814 
8,830 
7,477 
4,008 

391 
37,915 

270,071 
136,205 

17,025 
59,940 

483,241 
(46,425) 

26,664 

$ ~~4~6~3,=,,4,,,=80,,,= 
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Changes in long-term liabilities (in Ihousands): 

Due 
Balance Balance Within 
July 1. June 30. One 

Governmental activities: 2014 Addition Reduction 2015 Year 
Bonds and warrants 
payable $ 537,296 $ 141,649 $ (169,040) $ 509,905 $ 46,425 
Capitalized leases 762 (212) 550 217 
Worker's compensation 
claims 17,956 1,074 19,030 
Compensated absences 15,430 12,204 (11,282) 16,352 3,391 
Closure and postclosure 
costs 14,786 830 15,615 
OPEB liability 30,509 37,197 

Total $ 616,739 $ $ $ 598,649 $ 50,033 

The City's general fund is typically used to liquidate long-term liabilities with the exception of 
bond debt service, which is paid from the City's Bond Debt Reserve Fund, and the PACE 
bonds, which are paid from The Special Lodgings Tax and Stadium Lease Revenues. 

On October 1, 2014, the City issued $1,010,000 of its General Obligation Warrants Series 2014-
PNC3. The Warrants were issued to finance the purchase of and installation of computer 
equipment, used by various City departments. The warrants mature on October 1, 2015 
through 2018. 

On October 30, 2014, the City issued its $16,040,000 Taxable General Obligation Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2014-C. The Bonds were issued to advance refund those of its General 
Obligation Bonds, Series 2006-A maturing in 2019, 2021 and 2022. The refunding bonds 
mature over the same period as the refunded bonds. The Series 2014-C bonds are taxable 
bonds, with an interest rate of 4.27% and a True Interest Cost of 2.30%. The City has an option 
to refund these bonds between July 3,2016 and October 1, 2016 at an interest rate of 4.11% 
and a True Interest Cost of 2.30%. When the City exercises its option to refund the Bonds, net 
present value savings of the refunding transaction will be $655,392, or 4.09% of the principal 
amount of bonds being refunded. 

On October 30, 2014, the City issued its $12,120,000 Taxable General Obligation Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2014-0. The Bonds were issued to advance refund those of its General 
Obligation Bonds, Series 2007-A maturing in 2018, 2019,2022,2023 and 2024. The refunding 
bonds mature over the same period as the refunded bonds. The Series 2014-0 bonds are 
taxable bonds, with an interest rate of 4.455%, and a True Inlerest Cost of 2.54%. The City has 
an option to refund these bonds between September 2, 2016 and December 1, 2016 at an 
interest rate of 3.91 % and a True Interest Cost of 2.53%. When Ihe City exercises its option to 
refund the Bonds, net present value savings of the refunding transaction will be $744,087, or 
6.14% of the principal amount of bonds being refunded. 
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On November 6, 2014, the City issued its $44,980,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds 
Series 2014-A. The Bonds were issued to advance refund those of its General Obligation 
Bonds, Series 2007-A maturing in 2020 - 2024, 2027, 2029, and 2032. The refunding bonds 
mature over the same period as the refunded bonds. The Series 2014-A Bonds are tax-exempt 
bonds, with an average interest rate of 4.86%, and a True Interest Cost of 3.37%. The 
transaction resulted in a net present value savings of 2,080,037, or 4.32% of the principal 
amount of bonds being refunded. 

On November 6,2014, the City issued its $40,610,000 General Obligation Refunding Warrants, 
Series 2014-B. The Warrants were issued to advance refund those of its General Obligation 
Warrants, Series 2006-C maturing in 2017 - 2026, 2031, 2032, and 2033 and also those of its 
General Obligation Warrants, Series 2007 -B maturing in 2018 - 2023, 2027 and 2030. The 
refunding warrants mature over the same period as the refunded warrants. The Series 2014-B 
Warrants are tax-exempt warrants, with an average interest rate of 4.76%, and a True Interest 
Cost of 3.02%. The transaction resulted in a net present value savings of $2,795,279 or 6.50% 
of the principal amount of bonds being refunded. 

On December 17, 2014, the City issued $17,503,000 Tax Increment Financing District No.1 
Revenue Warrant Series 2014. The Warrants were issued to currently refund the City's Tax 
Increment Finance District 1 Revenue Warrant No. 1 and Tax Increment Finance District 1 
Revenue Warrant No.2, both dated November 6, 2009. The final maturity of the refunding 
warrants is September 1, 2028. The Series 2014 Warrants are tax-exempt warrants, with an 
interest rate of 2.89%. The refinancing was undertaken to align debt service with TIF revenues. 
In addition to TIF revenues, the Warrants are payable from a General Obligation Funding 
Agreement from the City. The transaction resulted in a net present value savings of 
$1,260,000. 

On January 30, 2015, the City issued $10,000,000 of its 2015 General Obligation Bond 
Anticipation Notes due January 5, 2015. This General Obligation Note was issued in 
anticipation of issuing authorized but unissued bonds and will be repaid from the proceeds of 
such future issuance of bonds. 

E. Risk Management 

The City of Birmingham is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft, errors and 
omissions, jOb-related illnesses and injuries, and natural disasters. Risk management is the 
process of managing the City's activities to minimize the adverse effects of certain types of 
losses and to obtain resources to provide for, or restore the economic damages of those losses. 
The City manages its risk through self-insurance (risk retention) and through the purchase of 
insurance with a commercial insurance carrier (risk transfer). 

The City is self-insured for its Workers' Compensation liability. The city currently has in force an 
excess workers compensation insurance policy, whereby the City retains the first $1,000,000 of 
liability per claim and has a $2,000,000 corridor deductible. The City had a professional actuary 
estimate its liability at June 30, 2015. This amount was calculated to be $19,029,652 and has 
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been accrued on the government-wide financial statements. The changes to the liability for 
workers compensation claims are shown below (in thousands): 

Current Year 
Claims and 

Beginning Changes in Claim Ending 
June 30 Liabilitl Estimates Pa:tments Liabilit:t 

2015 17,956 1,073 19,030 
2014 17,209 747 17,956 
2013 14,259 2,950 17,209 
2012 14,265 (6) 14,258 
2011 11,947 2,318 14,265 
2010 2,836 9,111 11,947 

The City is also self-insured for its Employee Health Plan (the Plan). The Plan is accounted for 
in an Internal Service Fund and is externally administered. Contributions for City employees and 
their dependents are shared by the City and the employee. Liabilities of the fund are reported 
when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably 
estimated. Liabilities include an amount for claims that have been incurred, but not reported 
(IBNRs). Stop-loss insurance is maintained for this program at $325,000 per individual. Claims 
have exceeded insurance coverage three of the last four years. It is anticipated that all claims 
outstanding as of June 30, 2015 will be paid during the next fiscal year. 

Changes in claims liability for the last two years are as follows: 

Beginning of 
Fiscal year Incurred Claim End of Fiscal 

Liabilit:t Claims Pa:tments _year Liabilit:l 
2014-2015 $ 2,850,000 $ 49,681,404 $ 49,581,404 $ 2,950,000 
2013-2014 2,500,000 48,799,724 48,449,724 2,850,000 

The City is a defendant in numerous suits and has been notified of numerous claims against it 
ariSing from alleged defective sidewalks and streets, alleged negligence relating to motor 
vehicles and other matters relating to the normal operation of a municipality such as 
employment and contract disputes, as well as suits and claims ariSing from the alleged denial of 
civil rights. Section 11-93-1 et seg. of the Code of Alabama 1975, as amended, places a limit of 
$100,000 with respect to the City's liability for any bodily injury or death resulting from a 
negligent or wrongful act of one of the City's agents, officers, or employees. That provision 
further places a limit of $300,000 with respect to the City's liability, in the aggregate, where more 
than two persons have claims or judgments on account of personal injuries and deaths arising 
from a single occurrence. The Supreme Court of Alabama has upheld the constitutionality of 
this statute. The City is self-insured. Any liability resulting from a suit or claim is covered by 
funds of the City which are available to discharge such liability without impairing the City's ability 
to perform any of its other obligations. The City covers all legal claims out of its General Fund 
resources. Claims and liabilities are recorded when it is probable that a loss has occurred, and 
the amount of that loss can be reasonably estimated. At June 30, 2015, the estimated amount 
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of these liabilities totaled $15,211,018 and is considered a current liability. The liability is the 
City's best estimate based on available infonnation. 

Below is a list of significant pending claims or litigation: 

RAILROAD LITIGATION 

The City of Birmingham is litigating a number of diesel fuel tax refund cases pursuant to the 
Railroad Revitalization and Regulatory Reform Act (Le. the "4-R Act"). These cases have been 
placed on the administrative dockets of several state and federal courts pending a resolution of 
CSXT v. Department of Revenue of Alabama in the United States Northern District of Alabama. 
The Eleventh Circuit recently remanded CSXT v. Department of Revenue of Alabama to the 
federal trial court to determine whether the State of Alabama truly discriminated against the 
railroad in favor of its competition and whether the State assessed "roughly equivalent" taxes on 
these competitors. With these developments in the federal court, the City of Birmingham has 
filed to have its cases move forward to trial. The City has requested that these actions be 
consolidated; however, the courts have yet to render a decision on the City's motions. 

CSX Transportation, Inc. v. City of Birmingham, CV2010-901772, remains on administrative 
docket and outside counsel will be filing to have the case proceed upon consolidation. CSX 
claims a refund under the Railroad Revitalization and Regulatory Reform Act for sales and use 
taxes paid for diesel fuel purchases for years 2004, 2005, 2006 and through October 2007. 
Refund sought $3,124,475.20. Pre-judgment interest of $3,405,677.97 sought. Total refund 
sought is $6,530,153.17. 

CSX Transportation, Inc. v. City of Birmingham, CV2012-904061, remains on administrative 
docket and outside counsel will be filing to have the case proceed upon consolidation. CSX 
claims a refund under the Railroad Revitalization and Regulatory Refonn Act for sales and use 
taxes paid for diesel fuel purchases from November 2007 through November 2008. Refund 
sought $2,222,384.50. Pre-judgment interest of $2,133,489.12 sought. Total refund sought is 
$4,355,873.62. 

CSX Transportation, Inc. v. City of Birmingham, CV2013-904854, remains on administrative 
docket: however, outside counsel will be filing to have the case proceed upon consolidation. 
CSX claims a refund under the Railroad Revitalization and Regulatory Reform Act for sales and 
use taxes paid for diesel fuel purchases from December 2008 to January 2011. Refund sought 
$2,830,194.49. Pre-judgment interest of $1,443,399.19 sought. Total refund sought is 
$4,273.593.68. 

BNSF Railroad v. City of Birmingham, CV2010-903064, remains on the administrative docket; 
however, outside counsel will be filing to have the case proceed upon consolidation. BNSF 
claims a refund under the Railroad Revitalization and Regulatory Reform Act for sales and use 
taxes paid for diesel fuel purchases from February 2005 through February 2008. Refund sought 
is $1,745,579.67. Pre-judgment interest of $1,832,858.65 sought. Total refund sought is 
$3,578,438.32. 

BNSF Railroad v. City of Birmingham, CV2013-901 031, filed in State Court and motions for 
summary judgment have already been argued; however, the judge is holding his ruling pending 
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resolution of federal case that is now remanded to the federal trial court. Outside counsel will file 
to proceed with case upon consolidation. BNSF claims a refund under the Railroad 
Revitalization and Regulatory Reform Act for sales and use taxes paid for diesel fuel purchases 
from March 2008 through June 2009. Refund sought is $1,005,326.95. Pre-judgment interest of 
$894,740.97 sought. Total refund sought is $1,900,067.92. 

BNSF Railroad v. City of Birmingham, CV2014-903876, filed in State Court. Outside counsel 
have filed to consolidate this case and will ask that it proceed thereafter. BNSF claims a refund 
under the Railroad Revitalization and Regulatory Reform Act for sales and use taxes paid for 
diesel fuel purchases from July 2009 through April 2011. Refund sought is $1,290,020.53. Pre­
judgment interest of $1,148,119.26 sought. Total refund sought is $2,438,139.79. 

Norfolk Southern Railway Company v. City of Birmingham, CV-2015-901133, filed in 
Montgomery, Alabama. Norfolk is requesting a refund of diesel fuel taxes paid for January 2012 
through March 2013. Total refund sought is $2,513,989.07. 

James Terrell, et al., v. City of Birmingham, CV-2012-00881; 00882; 00883; 00884; 00885. 
Plaintiffs are requesting a refund of business license taxes paid from 2008 through 2010. 
Plaintiff also challenge the constitutionality of the City's assessment of business license tax. In 
addition to the refund, the City has significant exposure in future assessments should the Court 
hold the City's business license unconstitutional. Total refund sought is $227,096.05. 

Ensley Revitalization Committee, et al. v. City of Birmingham, CV-2012-903289.00, filed in the 
Tenth Judicial Circuit for the State of Alabama. Plaintiffs assert claims for personal injuries and 
real property damages from the willful, wanton, and reckless neglect by the City of a City owned 
building. The City will vigorously defend all allegations and assert various defenses on behalf of 
the City. Claim is $1,100,000. 

C. W. Woods Services v. City of Birmingham, Case No.: CV13-891, filed in the Circuit Court of 
Jefferson County, Alabama in which Plantiff alleges breach of contract and unjust enrichment 
regarding three construction contracts. The case was tried before a jury and a verdict was 
entered in favor of the Plaintiff in the amount of, roughly, $3.5 million. The City will file the 
appropriate post judgement pleadings, including remitter up to an appeal. The City will actively 
oppose this judgment. Amount $3,500,000. 

Changes in the General Fund's claims liability amount in the last five fiscal years are as 
follows (in thousands): 

Beginning Changes in Claim Ending 
June 30 Liability Estimates Payments Liability 

2015 $ 15,211 $ 0 $ 0 $ 15,211 
2014 17,139 (878) 1,050 15,211 
2013 7,662 11,291 1,814 17,139 
2012 1,589 7,901 1,828 7,662 
2011 1,696 953 1,060 1,589 
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Birmingham Zoo Obligations - The City is obligated to make a contribution of $1,500,000 
each year for a period of ten years, commencing in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, and 
thereafter the contribution of $500,000 in each year for a period of fifteen years, to the 
Birmingham Zoo to pay the costs of operation and capital projects, including certain new 
exhibits. 

Tax Increment Financing Warrants 

On December 17, 2014, the City issued its Tax Increment Financing District No.1 Revenue 
Warrant Series 2014, outstanding in the amount of $17,025,000 as of June 30, 2015. The 
Warrants were issued to currently refund the City's Tax Increment Finance District 1 Revenue 
Warrant No. 1 and Tax Increment Finance District 1 Revenue Warrant No.2, both dated 
November 6, 2009. The final maturity of the refunding warrants is September 1, 2028. The 
Series 2014 Warrants are tax-exempt warrants, with an interest rate of 2.89%. 

The TIF Warrants are payable from, and secured by, a pledge of that amount of revenue 
produced in each year from the levy of certain local ad-valorem taxes by the City and Jefferson 
County in the Tax Increment District (generally the downtown city center) which is in excess of 
the amount of such revenue produced from the levy of such taxes in such District in the year in 
which such District was established (1998), less commission required by law to be paid to the 
Tax Assessor and Tax Collector of Jefferson County. In addition to TIF revenues, the Warrants 
are payable from a General Obligation Funding Agreement from the City. 

Public Athletic. Cultural and Entertainment Board of the City of Birmingham 2011 
Funding Agreement 

The City increased its Lodgings Tax by 3.5%, effective January 15, 2011. The proceeds of the 
tax increase are dedicated to the repayment of obligations issued by the PACE Board. The 
Board's bonds funded the construction of a minor league baseball stadium, the home of the 
Birmingham Barons minor league baseball team, and were used to construct a Negro League 
baseball museum in the downtown area of the City. On December 15, 2011, the City entered 
into a Funding Agreement with the Public Athletic, Cultural and Entertainment Facilities Board of 
the City of Birmingham (the "Board"). The Funding Agreement pledged the increased Lodgings 
Tax portion (3.5%) and certain revenue from the operations of the baseball stadium to pay debt 
servica on the Board's Series 2011 A and Series 2011 B Bonds, issued to provide financing for 
the construction. The Bonds are currently outstanding in the amount of $59,940,000, with 
annual debt service payments of approximately $3,665,000, including interest at rates ranging 
from 3.09% to 4.87%. The Funding Agreement is a general obligation of the City and has a term 
equal to the term of the Board's Series 2011A and Series 2011 B Bonds, which mature on 
October 1, 2041, subject to mandatory tender on December 14, 2026. The Baron's played their 
first game in the stadium on April 1 0, 2013. 

Commercial Development Authority of the City of Birmingham 2011 Funding Agreement 

The Bonds supported by this Funding Agreement, currently outstanding in the amount of 
$68,570,000, were issued by The Commercial Development Authority of the City of 
Birmingham, a public corporation of the City, to finance a four-star convention hotel of 
approximately 300 guest rooms and related meeting rooms, restaurant and exercise facilities, 
approximately 60,000 square feet of storefront space for lease to food service and 
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entertainment facilities, and related streets and public infrastructure, all adjacent to the civic 
center complex, in the downtown area of the City, for use by the Birmingham - Jefferson Civic 
Center Authority (the "Civic Center Authority"), The Civic Center Authority, a public corporation, 
shall own and operate the facilities financed by such bonds, The Mayor of the City is a member 
of the board of directors of the Civic Center Authority, The City has pledged as a source of 
payment and security for its obligations under this Funding Agreement the following amounts 
received in each fiscal year: (i) $3,000,000 of the Occupational Tax and (Ii) 2/3rds of the 
proceeds of the Lodgings Tax levied at the rate of 3.00%. This Funding Agreement is a full faith 
and credit general obligation of the City. The agreement calls for annual payments through fiscal 
year 2041 of approximately $4,995,000. The hotel, which opened in January 2013, is operated 
as the Westin Hotel Birmingham and the entertainment space is currently 100% leased. 

Economic Development Incentive Obligations 

The City has entered into agreements in recent years with other entities for economic 
development purposes. Pursuant to these agreements, the City will make payments over stated 
periods of years for the development of various projects and facilities that the City believes will 
promote the tax and revenue base of the City and increase employment opportunities in the 
City. The City's economic development office generally expects, based upon the information 
provided to it and upon certain assumptions, that these agreements will result in greater tax 
revenues for the City than the City is obligated to pay under such agreement. In certain cases, 
the City's obligations are capped at an amount not to exceed the tax revenues it actually 
receives. 

The aggregate outstanding obligation of the City under these other agreements is approximately 
$92 million. Most of these obligations ara limited obligations of the City and generally payeble as 
rebates of taxes received by the City from the private entity and are not subject to the city's 
general constitutional debt limitation. 

Serra Automobile Dealerships Development Agreement - In May of 2013, through a business 
retention and expansion program, the City agreed to provide an annual rebate of sales taxes 
generated, not exceeding $753,000 annually, until a total rebate of $5,271,000 has been 
provided. The remaining balance is $3,765,000. 

Limbaugh Toyota Redevelopment Agreement - Based upon the agreement, the City agreed to 
support an expansion of the business by deeding certain real property to the Company and to 
make six annual payments of $315,000 and one payment of $310,000, totaling $2,200,000 
during the first seven years of the agreement after completion of construction; and to rebate 
25% of New Sales Tax Revenue in 2020 through 2022. The first payment is due on October 31, 
2015. 

Trinity/Daniel Agreement (the "Agreement") - In October, 2008 the City entered into a Project 
Agreement with the owner of Trinity Medical Center, a full-service in-patient hospital, currently 
located in Birmingham ("Trinity"). Affiliates of Daniel Corporation, a real-estate development 
firm, ("Daniel") were also parities to the Agreement. The Agreement provides incentives for the 
hospital to relocate to the fast growing Highway 280 area of the City. Daniel proposed to build 
ancillary buildings and a hotel. The move required Trinity to secure a Certificate of Need from 
the State licensing board. The CON was granted and years of litigation ensued, brought by 
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competing hospitals. In March, 2013 the Alabama Supreme Court settled the matter and Trinity 
has begun its construction project which, when completed, was expected to cause the City to 
retain approximately 2,300 employees and Daniel projected that it's development would 
generate approximately 600 employees. The Agreement obligates the City to rebate various 
taxes during construction periods and during operational periods to both Trinity and Daniel. The 
rebate requirements are summarized below. The summary is not intended to be a reproduction 
of the entire agreement. Other provisions may apply. The City has advised Trinity and Daniel 
that it does not have the authority to rebate ad-valorem taxes that are earmarked for specific 
uses, whether by the Constitution and Statutes of the State and/or by the referendums 
approving the taxes. In addition to the City's 9 mill general ad-valorem tax, the Agreement 
contemplates the rebate of the 9.2 mill Bond Debt Service Tax and the ,5 mill Library Tax, all 
three of which are ear-marked, in whole or in part, for specific uses. 

Trinity: 

Daniel: 

During Construction: 
Trinity Receives: 

100% sales and use taxes 
100% non-educational ad-valorem taxes 

Operational Period: 
Trinity Receives: 

Non-educational ad-valorem taxes 
Occupational Tax 

During Construction: 
Daniel Receives: 

100% sales and use taxes 

Years 1-10 
80% 
80% 

100% non-educational ad-valorem taxes 
Operational Period: 
Daniel Receives: 

Non-educational ad-valorem taxes 
Occupational tax 

Years 1-20 
90% 
90% 

Years 11-20 
40% 
40% 

The tenm of the Agreement is 23 years from the commencement of construction. The total 
amount payable to Trinity and to Daniel during the operating periods will not exceed $40 million 
and $15 million, respectively. The remaining balance is $53,314,600, 

The City and Trinity have reached agreement and the City Council has approved the issuance 
of a general obligation bond in the amount of $2,431,216 and a cash payment of $1 ,097,000 to 
Trinity as substitution for the portion of the City's ad-valorem tax that it cannot rebate to Trinity. 

The Children's Hospital of Alabama ("TCHA) Agreement ("Agreement") - On May 13, 2008 the 
City entered into an incentive agreement with the Children's Hospital of Alabama relating to the 
construction of a replacement hospital in the medical district of the City, The agreement 
provides that the City will rebate certain construction related penmits/taxes during construction 
and then rebate occupational taxes which exceed a baseline according to the following formula: 
years 1-4: 50%; years 5-12: 80% and years 13-20: 50%, The occupational tax baseline is the 
amount of occupational tax paid to the City for the twelve-month period ending September 30, 
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2007. The term of the Agreement is the earlier of May 13, 2028 or when the total amount 
rebated by the City equals $20 million. The remaining maximum obligation is approximately 
$16.7 million. The new hospital's cost was approximately $375 million and the old facility has 
been converted into research space. The new hospital opened in March, 2011. 

F. Closure and Post Closure Cost 

State and federal laws and regulations require the City to place a final cover on its landfill sites 
when it stops accepting waste and to perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at 
the sites for thirty years after closure. Although closure and postciosure costs will be paid only 
near or after the date that the landfill stops accepting waste, the City reports a portion of the 
estimated closure and postclosure cost liability as a long-term liability. The liability is increased 
or decreased each period based on landfill capacity used as of each balance sheet date. 

The approximate $15,614,689 reported as closure and postclosure cost liability at June 30, 
2015, represents the cumulative amount reported to date based on the use of approximately 95 
percent of the estimated capacity of the landfill. These amounts are based on what it would 
cost to perform all closure and post-closure care in 2015. Actual costs may be higher due to 
inflation, deflation, changes in technology, and/or changes in laws or regulations. Officials 
estimate the landfills' remaining lives to be approximately three years. A new cell is currently 
under construction. 

G. Pension Plans 

1. Generallnformation 

The City has three single employer defined benefit pension plans, the City of Birmingham 
Retirement and Relief System (Retirement· and Relief System), the City of Birmingham 
Firemen's and Policemen's Supplemental Pension System (Firemen's and Policemen's System) 
and, the City of Birmingham Unclassified Employees' Pension & Relief System (Unclassified 
Pension and Relief System) which provides pension benefits for substantially all employees. 
Each of the three plans was established by state law and is administered by a separate board of 
managers. 

The funding methods and determination of benefits payable were established by the legislative 
acts creating such plans and provide that the penSion plan funds are to be funded from 
employee contributions, employer contributions, and income from the investment of 
accumulated funds. The cost of administering the plans is funded by the City. The City acts as 
the trustee for these plans. Separate financial statements are presented in this report for the 
pension funds. 
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Retirement and Relief System - This system covers all eligible civil service employees, elected 
officials, and appointed employees. Membership is mandatory for covered employees and is 
effective upon employment. Appointed and elected employees have the option of participating in 
this plan or in an alternative retirement plan. 

Firemen's and Policemen's Supplemental Pension System - This system covers sworn 
firemen and policemen and provides retirement benefits for twenty or twenty five years of 
service. Membership is mandatory for such personnel and is effective upon employment. 

Unclassified Employees' Pension & Relief System - This system covers laborers not hired 
under civil service. 

3. Benefits Provided 

Retirement and Relief System - A participant may retire at (a} age 60 if he has completed 5 
years of credited service, or (b} any age if he has completed 30 years of credited service and 
receive a pension benefit of 2.50% of final average salary for each year of credited service. This 
amount cannot be greater than 75.0% of the final average salary nor less than $400 per month. 
The service credit used to determine the benefit amount may be increased by credit granted for 
unused sick leave (on a percent of possible total basis). The final average salary is defined as 
the highest average compensation over any 36-month period of the employee's last ten years of 
participation. A participant may retire early at age 55 if they have completed 25 years of 
credited service and will receive a benefit amount equal to 1.85% of final average salary for 
each year of credited service. 

Disability 

A participant is eligible for disability benefits after 5 years of credited service. The benefit 
amount is 2.00% of final average salary at disability for each year of credited services, 
payable immediately. This amount cannot be greater than 60% of the final average 
salary nor less than $400. 

Termination 
To a participant terminating prior to eligibility for a pension from the plan, a lump sum of 
contributions without interast is payable. PartiCipants terminating after 10 years of 
credited service who leave their contributions in the Fund have a non-forfeitable right to 
a monthly pension beginning at age 62. The form and amount of the pension are the 
same as the Normal pension. Since all active employees have at least 20 years of 
service now, there is no reduction for partial vesting. 
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If a participant dies prior to his attainment of eligibility for vesting or retirement, if not 
married, a lump sum of contributions without interest is payable to the beneficiary. If an 
active vested participant or vested inactive participant dies, 50% of the accrued pension 
benefit, reduce by the Joint and Survivor factor, is payable to the surviving spouse, if 
any, during their remaining lifetime. The Joint and Survivor factor is 10%, plus ;12 of 1% 
per year of spouse age more than 10 years younger than the participant. The spouse 
benefit is deferred to the date the participant would have been age 62. The spouse may 
elect an immediate return of the participant's own contributions in lieu of the annuity. 

Optional Benefit Forms 

A participant retiring under the plan may choose, in lieu of an annuity for life, an optional 
form of benefit including a joint and survivor annuity reduced as described above, a 
partial lump sum option or a Social Security option. Optional forms will be calculated as 
the actuarial equivalent of the life annuity form. 

The Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP) 

An employee with 33 years of service or who is at least age 63 with 23 years of service 
may elect up to a 36-month Back-DROP. The employee's monthly benefit will be 
calculated using service and final average salary as of the Back-DROP date and the 
employee will receive a lump sum equal to the number of months dropped back times 
the retirement benefit, accumulated with interest. 

Firemen's and Policemen's Supplemental Pension System - A participant may retire after 20 
years of credited service. A benefit equal to 50% of final average salary plus 0.5% of final 
average salary is paid for each year over 20 years is paid for the period prior to eligibility for 30-
year retirement under the General Fund. The final average salary is defined as the highest 
average of basic salary earned during any 42 consecutive month period in the last 10 years 
prior to termination. 

Disability 

A participant is eligible for disability benefits after 5 years of credited service. A 
supplemental benefit sufficient when added to the General disability allowance to total 
not less than 25% nor more than 50% of final average salary is payable for the life of the 
participant. 

Termination 
If a participant terminates prior to eligibility for a pension from the Plan, a lump sum of 
his/her own accumulated contributions, without interest is payable at termination. 
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For an active participant who has at least 5 years of credited service, the survivor's 
benefit is equal to 60% of final average salary, plus 5% for each child up to two children. 
No death benefit is payable if a death benefit is payable from the General Fund. 

For a retired participant, the survivor's benefit is 60% of the monthly benefit plus 5% per 
dependent child to a maximum of 70% of the participant's monthly benefi!. 

The Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP) 

Participants with at least 26 years of credited service may elect a 36-month Back-DROP. 
They will receive a monthly benefit based on service and final average salary as of the 
date of the Back-DROP and a 36-month lump-sum benefit. 

Unclassified Employees' Pension & Relief System - A participant may retire at (a) age 62 if 
he has completed 10 years of credited service. A participant will receive a monthly benefit 
amount of $4.00 per year of Past Service (service before December 1, 1975) plus $20.00 per 
year of Future Service. The minimum benefit of $500.00 per month will be paid for active 
participants retiring after July 1, 1995. A participant may retire early at age 55 with 20 years of 
service, at least 3 of which are after the effective date of December 1, 1975 and will receive a 
benefit of the accrued amount, reduced by 4/9 of 1 % for each month of age under 62. 

Disability 

A participant is eligible for disability benefits after 15 years of credited service. The 
benefit amount is the normal pension amount based on service accrued and is payable 
immediately. 

Termination 
To a participant terminating prior to eligibility for a pension from the plan, a lump sum of 
contributions without interest is payable. Participants terminating after 10 years of 
credited service who leave their contributions in the Fund have a non-forfeitable right to 
a monthly pension beginning at age 62. The form and amount of the pension are the 
same as the Normal pension. Since all active employees have at least 20 years of 
service now, there is no reduction for partial vesting. 

Death Benefits 

If a participant dies prior to his attainment of eligibility for vesting or retirement, if not 
married, a lump sum of contributions without interest is payable to the beneficiary. If an 
active vested participant or vested inactive participant dies, 50% of the accrued pension 
benefit, reduce by the Joint and Survivor factor, is payable to the surviving spouse, if 
any, during their remaining lifetime. The Joint and Survivor factor is 10%, plus y" of 1 % 
per year of spouse age more than 1 0 years younger than the participant. The spouse 
benefit is deferred to the date the participant would have been age 62. The spouse may 
elect an immediate return of the participant's own contributions in lieu of the annuity. 
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Optional Benefit Forms 

A participant retiring under the plan may choose, in lieu of an annuity for life, an optional 
form of benefit including a jOint and survivor annuity reduced as described above, a 
partial lump sum option or a Social Security option. Optional forms will be calculated as 
the actuarial equivalent of the life annuity form. 

4. Contributions 

Retirement and Relief System - The City and employees each contribute one-half of the 
required contribution payable as a percent of compensation for the year, exclusive of overtime 
and subject to statutory limits. The plan is funded by contributions from employees, the City, and 
income from the investment of accumulated funds. The employees and City contributions equal 
6.50% and 6.50%, respectively, effective July 1, 2015. 

Firemen's and Policemen's Supplemental Pension System - Employees hired prior to May 
2, 1978, contribute 3.3% of payroll, exclusive of overtime; those hired on or subsequent to May 
2, 1978, contribute 5.22% and the City matches these amounts. The plan is funded by 
contributions from employees, the City, and income from the investment of accumulated funds. 

Unclassified Employees' Pension & Relief System - Employees contribute $10.00 bi-weekly. 
The City is required by City ordinance to contribute a sum, computed as a percentage of payroll, 
to fund the annual cost of the unfunded liability over thirty years. The membership of this plan is 
closed and is funded by City contributions approximately equal to current benefit payments. 
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As of most recent measurement date of the net pension liability, membership data for the 
pension plans are as follows: 

Firemen's 
and Unclassifie 

Policeman's d 
Supplement Employee' 

Retiremen al Pension & s Pension 
and Relief Relief & Relief 

System System System 

Measurement date June 30, 2014 
Retirees and beneficiaries currently 
receivina benefits 2,89f 363 17 
Inactive members entitled to benefits but 
not yet receiving them including 277 future 
pensioners currently receiving benefits from the 
Supplemental System 303 5 
Former members - not entitled to benefits 
~ctive members 3,889 1,467 3 
[fotal participants 7,089 1,830 2C 

Each of the plans have stand-alone financial reports. See page 22 for the addresses where the 
reports can be obtained. 
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The net pension liability (NPL) is the difference between the "Total Pension Liability" (TPL) 
and the plan's "fiduciary net position" (FNP). The total pension liability (TPL) is the present 
value of pension benefits that are allocated to current members due to past service by entry 
age normal actuarial cost method. The (TLP) includes benefits related to projected salary and 
service, and automatic cost of living adjustments (COLA's). In addition, ad hoc Cola's are 
also included in the (TPL) to the extent they are substantively automatic. The (FNP) is 
determined on the same basis used by the pension plans. The Cities net pension liability was 
measured as of June 30, 2015 and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension 
liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 

Net Pension Liability 
Measurement Date 
Total Pension Liability 
Fiduciary Net Position 
Net Pension Liability 
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a 
percentage of Total Pension 
Liability 

Retirement 
and Relief 

System 

$1,574,826,589 
1,026,521,284 
$548,305,305 

65.18% 

Firemen's 
and Unclassified 

Policeman's Employee's 
Supplemental Pension & 

Pension Relief 
System System 

June 30, 2015 
$124,041.855 $603,213 

50,844,883 845,567 
$73,196,972 $(242,354) 

40.99% 140.18% 

A schedule of Net Pension Liability, in addition to the information above, includes multi-year 
trend information (beginning with FY 2014) and is presented in the Required Supplementary 
Information section on page 86. 
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7. Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability 

Changes in the City's net pension liability presented below are calculated on the same basis 
as each of the plans. The Change in Net Pension Liability for Retirement and Relief System, 
Firemen's and Policemen's Supplemental. and Unclassified Pension and Relief System pension 
plans for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2015 are as follows: 

Retirement and Relief System 

Plan 
Total Pension Fiduciary Net Net Pension 

Change in Net Pension Liability Liability Position Liability 
Service Cost $36,945,277 $36,945,277 
Interest on Total Pension Liability 80,340,821 80,340,821 
Change in Benefit Terms 
Difference Between Expected and 11,335,035 11,335,035 
Actual Experience 
Employer Contributions 14,464,552 14,464,552 
Employee Contributions 12,227,545 12.227,545 
Pension Plan Net Investment 43,686,697 43,686,697 
Income 
Assumption Changes 89,619,076 89,619,076 
Benefit Payments, Including (76,439,094) 76,439,094 
Refunds 
Administrative Expense (178,807) (178,807) 
Net Change 141,801,115 (6,239,107) 148,040,222 
Net Pension Liability Beginning 1,433,025,474 1.032,760,391 400,265,083 
Net Pension Liability Ending $1,574,826,589 1,026,521,284 $548,305,305 
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The City is allocated a proportional share of 97.13% of the net pension liability of the Retirement 
and Relief System, with the allocation based on July 1, 2014 valuation pay. This basis intended 
to measure the proportion of each employer's long-term funding requirements. The City's 
allocated share of the net pension liability is $532,542,974. The remaining liability of 
$15,762,331 is allocated to the Birmingham Airport Authority, a component unit of the City. The 
following table presents the allocation between the reporting entity and the component unit. 

2015 
Pay in July 

1, 2014 Proportion Proportionate Proportionate 
Actuarial of Net Share of Net Share of 
Valuation Pension Pension Pension 

Data Liabilit}' Liabilit}' EXf:lense 
City of $185,800,414 97.13% $532,542,974 $55,140,492 
Birmingha m(without 
Airport 
Airport Authority 5,499,364 2.87% 15,762,331 1,632,061 
Total $191,299,778 100.0% $548,305,305 $56,772,553 
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Firemen's and Policemen's Supplemental Pension System 

Plan 
Total Pension Fiduciary Net 

Chan!;!e in Net Pension Liabilit}' Liabilit}' Position 
Service Cost $7,944,887 
Interest on Total Pension Liability 6,642,762 
Benefit Changes 
Difference Between Expected and (869,040) 
Actual Experience 
Employer Contributions 4,212,776 
Employee Contributions 4,197,254 
Contributions - Fire Tax 362,196 
Pension Plan Net Investment 1,028,214 
Income 
Assumption Changes 365,390 
Benefit Payments (11,943,335) (11,943,335) 
Administrative Expense (75,251) 
Net Change 2,140,664 (2,218,146) 
Net Pension Liability Beginning 121,901,191 53,063,029 
Net Pension Liability Ending $124,041,855 50,844,883 

Unclassified Employees' Pension & Relief System 

Change in Net Pension Liability 
Service Cost 
Interest on Total Pension Liability 
Employee Contributions 
Pension Plan Net Investment Income 
Assumption Changes 
Benefit Payments 
Administrative Expense 
Net Change 
Net Pension Liability Beginning 
Net Pension Liability Ending 

Total Pension 
Liabilit}' 

76 

$928 
42,283 

(4,946) 
(78,176) 

(39,911) 

Plan 
Fiduciary Net 

Position 

810 
22,803 

(78,176) 
(27,658) 
(82,221 ) 
927,788 
845,567 

Net 
Pension 
Liability 
$7,944,887 

6,642,762 

(869,040) 

4,212,776 
4,197,254 

362,196 
1,028,214 

365,390 

(75,251) 
4,358,810 

68,838,162 
$73,196,972 

Net 
Pension 
Liability 

$928 
42,283 

810 
22,803 
(4,946) 

(78,176) 
(27,658) 
(43,956) 
284,664 

$(242,354) 
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Retirement and Relief System -The blended discount rate used to measure the total pension 
liability is 5,24%, The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed 
contributions will continue to be made at 6,50% of compensation from plan members and 6,50% 
of compensation from the City, For this purpose, only employer contributions that are intended 
to fund benefits of current plan members and their beneficiaries are included, Projected 
employer contributions that are intended to fund the service costs of future plan members and 
their beneficiaries are excluded, as are projected employee contributions from future plan 
members, Based on these assumptions, the System's fiduciary net position was not projected to 
be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members, Therefore, 
the long-term expected rate of return on the System's investments was applied to the first 26 
periods of projected benefit payments and a 3,80% municipal bond rate was applied to all 
periods thereafter to determine the total pension liability, The 3,80% municipal bond rate was 
based on the S&P Municipal Bond 20 Year High Grade Rate Index as of June 25, 2015, 

Firemen's and Policemen's Supplemental Pension System - The blended discount rate 
used to measure the total pension liability for the is 5,67%, The projection of cash flows used to 
determine the discount rate assumed contributions will continue to be made at 5,22% of 
compensation from plan members and 5,22% of compensation from the City, For this purpose, 
only employer contributions that are intended to fund benefits of current plan members and their 
beneficiaries are included, Projected employer contributions that are intended to fund the 
service costs of future plan members and their beneficiaries are excluded, as are projected 
employee contributions from future plan members, Based on these assumptions, the System's 
fiduciary net position was not projected to be available to make all projected future benefit 
payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on the 
System's investments was applied to the first 19 periods of projected benefit payments and a 
3,80% municipal bond rate was applied to all periods thereafter to determine the total pension 
liability, The 3,80% municipal bond rate was based on the S&P Municipal Bond 20 Year High 
Grade Rate Index as of June 25, 2015, 

Unclassified Employees' Pension & Relief System - The blended discount rate used to 
measure the total pension liability is 7,00%, The projection of cash flows used to determine the 
discount rate assumed no future contributions will be made, Based on this assumption, the 
System's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit 
payments of current plan members, Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on the 
System's investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the 
total pension liability. 
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9. Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate 

The following presents the net pension liability for each of the City's plans, calculated using 
the discount rate, as well as what the City's net pension liability would have been is it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percent-point lower and 1-percent-point higher than 
the current rate: 

Sensitivity 

Retirement and Relief System 

Firemen's and Policemen's 
Supplemental Pension System 

Unclassified Employees' Pension & 
Relief System 

1% Decrease 
4.24%% 

$723,930,006 

1% Decrease 
4.67% 

$79,520,117 

1% Decrease 
6.00% 
$(207,976) 

78 

Current 1% 
Discount Rate Increased 

5.24% 6.24% 
$532,542,974 $371,730,074 

Current 1% 
Discount Rate Increased 

5.67% 6.67% 
$73,196,972 $67,299,582 

Current 1% 
Discount Rate Increased 

7.00% 8.00% 
$(242,354) $(272,837) 
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10. Schedule of Deferred Outflows and Inflow of Resources 

Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources by source reported by the 
City at June 30, 2014 for each plan are as follows: 

Differences between 
expected and actual 
Changes of 
assumptions 
Net difference between 
projected and actual 
earninqs 

Total 

Retirement and Relief 
System 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 
Resources 

$9,174,319 

72,535,637 

20,982,743 

$102,692,699 

Deferred 
Inflow of 

Resources 

Firemen's and 
Policemen's 

Supplemental Pension 
System 

Unclassified 
Employees' Pension & 

Relief Syst:;:e;:.:m,--_ 

Deferred Deferred 
Outflows 

of 
Deferred Outflows Deferred 

Inflow of 
Resources 

Inflow of of 
Resources Resources Resources 

- $(772,480) 

324,791 

2,065,635 $53,854 

$2,390,426 $(772,480) $53,854) 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions at June 30, 2015 will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Firemen's Unclassifie 
and d 

Policemen's Employees' 
Retirement Supplemental Pension & 
and Relief Pension Relief 

Years ended June 30, System System ....... System 

2016 $21,587,677 $460,448 $13,464 
2017 21,587,677 460,448 13,464 
2018 21,587,677 460,448 13,464 
2019 21,587,677 460,448 13,464 
2020 16,341,992 
Thereafter 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2015 

11. Assumptions and Other Data 

Firemen's 
and 

Policemen's 
Supplemental 

Retirement and Pension 
Schedule of Assumf!tions Relief System 
Valuation Date July 1, 2014 
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal Entry Age 

Normal 
Amortization Method Level Percent of Level Percent 

Payroll of Payroll 

Amortization Period 30 Years 30 Years 
Asset Valuation Method 5 Year Smooth 5 Year 

Smooth 

I nvestment Rate of Return 7.00% 7.00% 
Inflation 3.00% 3.00% 
Salary increases 3.00%, plus age- 3.00%, plus 

related salary scale age-related 
salary scale 

Mortality Rates RP-2000 Combined RP-2000 
Healthy Mortality Combined 
Table Healthy 
Rep-2000 Dlabled Mortality Table 
Retiree Mortality Rep-2000 
Table Diabled 

Retiree 
Mortality Table 
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Unclassified 
Employees' 
Pension & 

Relief 
System 

Entry Age 
Normal 
Level 

Percent of 
Payroll 

30 Years 
5 Year 
Smooth 

7.00% 
N/A 

3.00%, plus 
age-related 
salary scale 
RP-2000 
Combined 
Healthy 
Mortality 
Table 
Rep-2000 
Diabled 
Retiree 
Mortality 
Table 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2015 

The actuarial assumptions used in the July 1, 2014 valuation were based on the results of an 
experience study for the period July 1, 2005 to June 30,2010. The long-term expected rate of 
return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block method in which 
best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension 
plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges 
are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future 
real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. 
Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the 
System's target asset allocation as of June 30, 2015 are summarized in the following table: 

Asset 
Class 
Domestic 
Equity 
Fixed 
Income 
Hedge 
Funds 
Total 

Allocation 

60% 

25% 

15% 

Retirement 
and Relief 

System 

Firemen's and 
Policemen's 

Supplemental 
Pension System 

Unclassified 
Employees' 

Pension & Relief 
System 

Long-term Expected Real Rate of Return 

6.7% 6.7% 6.7% 

1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 

3.6% 3.6% 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2015 

Annual Other Postemployment Benefit Obligation 
The City's annual other postemployment benefit (OPEB) expense is calculated based on the 
annual required contribution (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with 
GASB Statement No, 45. The actuarial cost method used in this valuation to determine the 
actuarial accrued liability and the ARC in the entry age normal, level dollar method. The 
ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover 
normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial accrued liabilities over a period 
not to exceed 30 years. The City has elected to amortize the unfunded actuarial accrued 
liability over 30 years using a level dollar, closed amortization period. The remaining 
amortization period at June 30, 2013 was 24 years. The discount rate used for the 
determination of the expense for fiscal year 2013 is 4.00%, Total employer contributions for 
fiscal year 2015 were approximately $7.6 million net of participants' and pension plans' 
contributions. The City's annual OPEB cost and net OPEB obligation to the plan for the 
current year were as follows (in thousands): 

Annual required contribution 
Interest on net OPEB obligation 
ARC adjustment 
Annual OPEB Cost 
Contributions Made 
Change in Net OPEB 
Net OPEB Obligation, beginning of year 

Net OPEB Obligation, end of year 

$ 

$ 

15,042 
1,220 

(1,974) 
14,288 
(7,600) 

6,688 
30,509 
37,197 

The City's annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contribution to the plan, 
and the net OPEB obligation for fiscal year 2015 and the two preceding years are as follows 
(in thousands): 

Net OPEB Percentage 
Fiscal Obligation AnnualOPEB 
Year Annual Employer End of Cost 

Ended OPEB Cost Contributions Year Contributed 
2013 6,238 7,700 24,431 123,44% 

2014 14,478 8,400 30,509 58.02% 
2015 14,288 7,600 37,197 53,19% 

Funded status 
As of June 30, 2013, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the Plan was not funded. The 
actuarial accrued liability for benefits equaled $139,319,903, resulting in an unfunded 
actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) of $139,319,903. The covered payroll (annual payroll of 
active employees covered by the Plan) equaled $177,213,608, and the ratio of the UAAL to 
the covered payroll equaled 78.62%. 
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Actuarial Valuations 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2015 

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts 
and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Estimates 
include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost 
trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required 
contributions of the City are subject to continue revision as actual results are compared with 
past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. 

In the actuarial valuation dated June 30, 2013, the projected unit credit cost actuarial 
method was used. Because the City funds its OPEB on a pay-as-you-go basis, the plan has 
no assets (investments) legally held exclusively for paying the post-retirement medical 
benefits. Based on the market value of assets method of asset valuation, the actuarial 
assumptions included a 4.0% discount rate, which approximates the expected rate of return 
on non-pension investments held by the City, including inflation at 3.0%. Actuarial 
assumptions also included an annual medical cost trend rate of 8.0% initially, reduced to an 
ultimate rate of 5.0% for costs after twelve years. The UAAL is being amortized as a level 
percentage of pay over thirty years on an open basis. 

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan 
(the plan as understood by the City and plan members) and include the types of benefits 
provided at the time of each valuation. The actuarial methods and assumptions used 
include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial 
accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term 
perspective of the calculations. 

At June 30, 2013 plan valuation date, membership was as follows: 

Current retirees, beneficiaries and dependents receiving 
medical 

and prescription drug benefits or life insurance coverage 
Current active members 

Total plan members 
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2,663 

3,764 

6,427 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2015 

Health care trend measures the anticipated overall rate at which health plan costs are 
expected to increase in future years. The rates shown below are "net" and are applied to 
the net per capita costs shown above. The trend shown for a particular plan year is the rate 
that must be applied to that year's cost to yield the next year's projected cost. 

Year Ending June 30, 
2015 
2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 
2021 
2022 
2023 
2024 
2025 

2026 & thereafter 

Medical 
7.75% 
7.50% 
7.25% 
7.00% 
6.75% 
6.50% 
6.25% 
6.00% 
5.75% 
5.50% 
5.25% 
5.00% 
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Rate (%j 
Prescription Drug 

6.25% 
6.00% 
5.75% 
5.50% 
5.25% 
5.00% 
5.00% 
5.00% 
5.00% 
5.00% 
5.00% 
5.00% 



H. Prior Period Adjustments 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2015 

The beginning fund balances and net position as of July 1, 2014 has been adjusted as follows 
(in thousands): 

Government-wide Financial Statements 

Increase in net pension liability per GASB 68 

Net 
Position as 
Originally 
Reported 

$ 222,960 

Prior Period 
AdjUstments 

$ (479,076) 

Net 
Position as 

Restated 

$(256,116) 

The Birmingham Airport Authority- a discretely presented component unit of the City. restated 
the beginning of the year net position balance to reflect the increase in the net pension liability 
perGASB 68. 

I. Subsequent Events 

On July 27, 2015 the City entered into a Lease/Purchase Agreement in the amount of 
$3.046.510, representing an energy saving program with Philips Lighting North America 
Corporation, whereby Philips will install energy saving lights in City owned public parking decks 
and will guaranty certain levels of energy cost savings. The Lease requires quarterly payments, 
ending on August 27, 2025. 

On August 3, 2015 the City issued its $2,060,000 General Obligation Bond Anticipation Note 
2015-A, due January 5, 2016 in anticipation of the issuance of authorized general obligation 
bonds. 

On August 3.2015, the City issued $19,885,000 General Obligation Bonds, Series 2015-WFB. 
These tax-exempt bonds currently refunded a like amount of Series 2014-WFB Bonds with the 
same maturity amounts. The 2015 bonds had a True Interest Cost of 2.31 %. After the 
completion of this second part of a refunding plan. resulting net present value savings was 
approximately one million dollars. 

On September 8. 2015. the City Council approved a settlement agreement with the Developer 
and Contractor for the Regions Field baseball stadium. in the amount of $4.1 million. The City 
will pay $1.5 million from capital funds. immediately. The City is obligated to pay $371,430 for 
six years and $371,420 in the seventh year from its Special Lodgings Tax Fund. Should the tax 
be insufficient to make the payment. after paying debt service on outstanding PACE Board debt, 
the obligation will be limited to the actual revenues available and any underpayment will be 
added to end of the repayment period. Should the balance in the Special Lodgings Tax Fund 
exceed $750.000. after paying debt service, the excess will be payed to the 
Developer/Contractor and will reduce the remaining obligation from the last amount due. 
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INFORMATION 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Required Supplementary Information 

Year ended June 30, 2015 

Schedule of Changes in the Plan's Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios 

Retirement and Relief System 
Total Pension liability 
Service Cost 
loterest 
Changes of Benefit Terms 

Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience 
Changes of Assumptions 
Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Employee Contributions 
Net Change in Total Pension Liability 

Total Pension Liability - Beginning 
Total Pension Liability - Ending (a) 

Plan fiduciary net position 
Contributions - Employer 
Contributions- Employee 
Net Inveslment Income 
Benefn Payments, Including Refunds of Employee Contributions 
Administrative Expense 
Other 
Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning 
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending (b) 
The Plan's Net Pension Liability - Ending (a)- (b) 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage 
of the Total Pension Liability 

Covered Employee Payroll 
The Pian's Net Pension Liability as a 
Percentage of covered Employee Payroll 

Schedule of Investment Returns 
Annual money-weighted rate of return, 
net of investment expense 

Notes to the above schedule: 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2015 

36,945,277 
80,340,821 

11,335,035 
89,619,076 

__ ~76,439,O94) 
141,801,115 

1,433,025,474 
1,574,826,589 

14,464,552 
12,227,545 
43,686,697 

(76,439,094) 
(178,807) 

(6,239,107) 

1,032,760,391 
1,026,521,284 

548,305,305 

65,18% 
188,116,077 

291.47% 

2014 

$ 35,473,452 
78,078,837 

(72,124,342) 
41,427,947 

1,391,597,527 
$ 1,433,025,474 

$ 14,039,103 
11,984,752 

143,936,432 
(72,124,342) 

(186,812) 

97,649,133 

935,111,258 
1,032,760,391 

$ 400,265,083 

72,07% 
184,380,800 

217,09% 

4,68% 

There have been no changes to benefits provisions since the implementation of GASB 67. Other than the change 
in blended discount rate, there have been no assumption changes since GASB 67 implementation, Historical 
information prior to the implementation of GASB 67/68 is not required. 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Required Supplementary Information 

Year ended June 30, 2015 

Schedule of Changes in the Plan's Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios 

Firemen's and Policemen's Supplemental Pension System 
Total Pension Liability 
SelVice Cost 
Interest 
Changes of Benefit Terms 
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience 
Changes of Assumptions 
Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Employee Contributions 
Net Change in Total Pension Liability 

Total Pension Liability - Beginning 
Total Pension Liability - Ending (a) 

Plan fiduciary net position 
Conlributions - Employer 
Contributions, Employee 
Contributions-Fire tax 
Transfer from Limited Firemen's Pension 
Net Investment Income 
Benefit Payments, Inciuding Refunds of Employee Contributions 
Administrative Expense 
Other 
Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning 
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending (h) 
The Plan's Net Pension Liability - Ending (a) - (b) 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage 
of the Total Pension Liability 

Covered Employee Payroll 
The Plan's Net Pension Liability as a 
Percentage of covered Employee Payroll 

Schedule of Investment Returns 
Annual money-weighted rate of return, 
net of investment expense 

Notes to the above schedule: 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2015 

7,944,887 
6,642,762 

(869,040) 
365,390 

(11,943,335) 
2,140,664 

121,901,191 
124,041,855 

4,212.776 
4,197,254 

362,196 

1,028,214 
(11,943,335) 

(75,251) 

(2,218,146) 

40.99% 
$80,407,165 

91.03% 

2014 

$ 7,504,493 
6,517,060 

(11,712,272) 
2,309,281 

119,591,910 
$ 121,901,191 

$ 4,090,689 
4,074,251 

209,691 
104,208 

6,708,660 
(11,712,272) 

(36,850) 

3,438,377 

43.53% 
$ 78,050,785 

88.20"A. 

2.20% 

There have been no changes to benefits provisions since the implementation of GASB 67. Other than the change 
in blended discount rate, there have been no assumption changes since GASB 67 implementation. Historical 
information prior to the implementation of GASB 67/68 is not required. 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Required Supplementary Information 

Year ended June 30,2015 

Unclassified Employees' Pension & Relief System 
Total Pension Liability 
Service Cost $ 
Interest 
Changes of Benefit Terms 
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience 
Changes of Assumptions 
Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Employee Contributions 
Net Change in Total Pension Liability 

2015 

928 
42,283 

(4,946) 

(78,176) 
(39,911) 

2014 

$ 937 
44,935 

(89,337) 
(43,465) 

Total Pension Liability - Beginning 643,124 686,589 
Total Pension Liability - Ending (a) $ 603,213 $ 643,124 

--~~~----~~~ 

Plan fiduciary net position 
Contributions - Employer $ 
Contributions- Employee 
Net Investment Income 
Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Employee Contributions 
Administrative Expense 
Other 
Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

o $ 0 
810 780 

22,803 81,828 
(78,176) (89,337) 
(27,658) (16,750) 

(82,221) (23,479) 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning 927,788 951,267 
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending (b) 845,567 927,788 
The Plan's Net Pension Liability - Ending (a) - (b) $ __ ""{2~4=2",.3;;;;54 .. ),--__ -,$,-,=(2:::84,.;.,,,,684::-:.l)_ 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage 
of the Total Pension Liability 

Covered Employee Payroll 
The Plan's Net Pension Liability as a 
Percentage of covered Employee Payroll 

Notes to the above schedule: 

140.18% 
NIA 

N/A 

144.26% 
N/A 

N/A 

There have been no changes to benefits provisions since the implementation of GASB 67. There have been no 
assumption changes since GASB 67 implementation. Historical information prior to the implementation of GAS8 
67/68 is not required. 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Required Supplementary Information 

Year ended June 30, 2015 

Schedule ofthe Employer's Contributions 
Retirement and Relief System 

201 2 2014 
Actuarially Determined Contributions' $ 30,398,187 $ 30,553,712 

Contributions in Relation to the 
Actuarially Determined Contributions 14.464,552 14,039,103 

Contribution Deficiency (Excess) ... 159~ ~ 

Covered Employee Payroll" 188,116,077 184,380,800 

Contributions as a Percentage of 
Covered Employee Payroll 7.69% 7.61% 
Notes to Schedule: 

'The actuarially determined contribution is equal to the total calculated contribution in the most recent actuarial 
valuation, minus the portion expected to be covered by employee contributions. 
"Payroll is estimated based on the actual employee contributions received and a 6.5% contribution rate. The 
City's contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll are greater than 6.5% since they reflect 
contributions made by the City on behalf of required members in the Firemen's and Policemen's Supplemental 
Pension Plan, as well as transfers from the Supplemental Plan. 

Historical information prior to implementation of GASB 67168 is not required. 

Schedule of the Employer's Contributions 

Firemen's and Policemen's Supplemental Pension System 
2015 

Actuarially Determined Contributions $ 6,038,436 

Contributions in Relation to the 
Actuarially Determined Contributions 

Contribution Deficiency (Excess) 

Covered Employee Payroll 

Contributions as a Percentage of 
Covered Employee Payroll 

Notes to Schedule: 

_ 1.825660 

80,407,165 

5.24% 

2014 
$ 5,839,810 

4,090,689 

1 749.121 

78,050,785 

5.24% 

The actuarial valuation includes an actuarially determined contribution which is set equal to the scheduled 
contribution for each year based on determining an effective amortization period that achieves the scheduled 
contribution. The schedule of contributions under the funding policy may be subject to revision if the effective 
amortization period becomes unreasonable or otherwise jf conditions change in a way that requires reevaluating 
the funding policy. Historical information prior to implementation of GASB 67168 is not required. 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Required Supplementary Information 

Year ended June 30, 2015 

Schedule of the Emplover's Contributions 

Unclassified Employees' Pension & Relief System 
2015 2014 

Actuarially Determined Contributions $ 0 $ 0 

Contributions in Relation to the 
Actuarially Determined Contributions 

Contribution Deficiency (Excess) 

Covered Employee Payroll 

Contributions as a Percentage of 
Covered Employee Payroll 

Notes to Sched ule: 

o 

o 

N/A 

N/A 

Historical information prior to implementation of GASB 67/68 is not required, 
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Actuarial 
Valuation Date 

71112007 
71112008 
71112011 
71112013 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Required Supplementary Information 

Year ended June 30,2015 

Schedule of Funding Progress-OPEB 
(Amounts Expressed in Thousands) 

Actuarial 
Accrued 
Liability 

(AAL)-Entry 
Age (in 

Covered 
Payroll (in 

Actuarial 
Valuation of 

Assets 
~-.~-.~-

thousands) 

Unfunded 
(Overfunded) 

AAL 
(UAAL) (in 
thousands) 

Funded 
Ratio 

~O·.OO% 
.....thousands) 

$ 97,801 $ 97.B01 
:> 77.707 $ 77.707 
$ 64,475 $ 64,475 
$ 139.320 $ 139.320' 

0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 

$ 168.940 
$ 187,456 
$ 178.835 
$ 177.214 

UAALasa 
Percentage 
of Covered 

Payroll 
57.89% 
41.45% 
36.05% 
78.62% 

'The actuarially accrued liability of $139,320,000 includes $83,501,000 for active members and 
$55,819,000 for retirees, beneficiaries, dependents, and terminated vested members. This table 
presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or 
decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits. 
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OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 

Pension Trust Funds 
June 30,2015 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 
Firemen & 

Retirement & Policemen Unclassified 
Relief Supplemental Pension 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 37,849 $ 1,577 $ 846 
Receivables: 

Member contributions 35 6 
Member loans 10,552 
Interest and dividends 2,949 163 

T atal Receivables; 13,536 
Investmentsj at fair value: 

U.S, government obligations 113,958 4,006 
Domestic corporate bonds 123,582 11,468 
Domestic stocks 658,196 28,482 
Alternative Investments 96,891 5,307 
Total Investments, at fair value: 994,627 49,263 

Total Assets: 1,046,012 51,009 846 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and other 927 46 

Total Liabilities: 927 46 

Net Position 
Held In trust for future pension benefits 1,045,084 50,962 846 

Total Net Position: $ 1,045,084 $ 50,962 $ 

The notes to the financial statements are an Integral part of this statement 
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846 

Total Pension 
Trust Funds 

$ 40,272 

41 
10,552 
3,112 

13,705 

117,964 
135,050 
686,678 
104,198 

1,043,890 
1,097,667 

973 

1,096,692 

$ 1,096,892 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 

Pension Trust Funds 

Additions 
AdditIons: 

Contributions: 
Employer Contributions 
Plan member contributions 

lnvestment income: 
Investment earnings (net) 
Securities lending 

other income 

Total Additions: 
Total Additions: 

Deductions 
Deductions: 

Benefits 
Refunds of contributions 
Administrative expenses 
Investment Expenses 

Tota! Oeductions: 
Total Deductions; 
Change in Net Position: 

Net Posltlon ~ Beginning 
Net Position - Ending: 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2015 
(amounts expressed in thousands) 

$ 

Retirement & 
Relief 

14.478 
12.262 

47,166 
218 

74,246 
3,047 

266 

$ 

Firemen & 
Policemen 

Supplemental 

4.213 
4.197 

1.158 

362 
9,930 
9,930 

10,518 
307 

1,206 

12.031 
12,031 
(2,101) 

$ 

$ 

Unclassified 
Pension 

22 

24 
24 

78 

28 

106 
106 

928 
846 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 
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$ 

$ 

Total Pension 
Trust Funds 

18,691 
16,460 

48,346 
21B 
366 

84,082 
84,082 

84,842 
3,354 
1,500 

89.696 
a9,696 
(5,614) 

1,102.506 
1,096,892 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
General Fund 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2015 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Budgoted Amounts 

Variance with 
Final Budget-

Original Final Actual Amounts Positive (Negativo) 

Revenues 
Taxes $ 264,690 $ 264,682 $ 265,219 $ 337 
Licenses and permits 87,30B 87,70B 91,101 3,393 
Intergovemmental 11,624 14,185 16,140 1,955 
Charges for services 13,159 13,186 15,895 2,709 
Fines and forfeitures 2,873 2,873 2,253 (620) 
Investment income 320 320 274 (46) 
Other operating revenues 6,260 6,780 6,977 197 

Total Revenues: 386,234 389,934 397,859 7,925 

Expondltures 
Current Expenditures: 

Public safety: 

Police 88,952 89,374 90,661 (1,287) 

Fire 55,276 55,263 57,113 (1,850) 
Planning,Engineering & Permits 13,195 13,195 12,699 496 
Traffic Engineering 10,427 10,151 10,509 (35B) 

Municipal Court 4,638 4,638 4,596 42 
Street and sanitation: 

Public Works 46,072 46,386 42,749 3,639 

Cultural & recreational: 

Park & Recreation 11,995 12,004 12,213 (209) 
Library 14,695 14,895 14,467 42B 

Arlington Historical Home 550 557 561 (4) 
Boutwell Auditorium 1,215 1,215 1,144 71 

Museum of Art 3,284 3,293 3,102 191 
Sloss Furnace 562 472 407 65 
Southern Museum of Flight 721 721 714 7 
State Fairgrounds 3,663 3,915 4,035 (120) 

General government: 

Finance 11,563 11,919 10,324 1,595 
Equipment Management 16,642 16,556 14,479 2,077 
Information Management Services 11,677 12,397 11,237 1,160 
City Clerk 1,460 1,156 994 162 
Community Development 42B 56B 645 (77) 
Council Office 3,606 3,531 3,312 219 
legal 7,086 7,086 6,766 320 

Mayor's Office 8,692 8,832 8,463 369 

Personnel 8,255 7,854 6,819 1,035 

Nondepartmental 48,845 48,054 49,496 (1,442) 

Dabt Service: 

Principal 9,154 9,162 9,154 B 
Interest and fees 5,074 5,074 4,932 142 

Capital OuUay: 

Capital outlays 1,744 60B B12 (4) 

Total Expenditures: 390,071 388,878 382,203 6,675 
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over (Under) 
Expenditures: (3,837) 1,056 15,656 14,600 

Other financing sources (uses):: 

Transrers in 4,033 4,112 4,112 
Transrers out (198) (3,230) (3,230) 
Transrers out - internal service fund (1,939) (3,400) (1,481) 

Total Other financing sources (uses):: 3,835 (1,057) (2,518) (1,461) 
Net Change in Fund Balances: (2) (1) 13,138 13,139 

Fund Balances - Beginning 79,574 79,574 79,574 
Fund Balances - Ending: $ 79,572 $ 79,573 $ 92,712 $ 13,139 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
June 30,2015 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Special Revenue Debt Service Capital Projects 
Funds Funds Funds 

Assets 
Cash and investments $ 10,288 $ 2,681 $ 36,363 
Cash with fiscal agent 1,236 430 
Receivables: 335 

Total Assets: $ 11,859 $ 3,112 $ 36,363 

Liabilitiesl Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Fund Balances 
Uabilities: 

Accounts and vouchers payable 416 86 
Contracts payable-retalnage 139 
Unearned revenue (979) 
Other liabilities 

Total Liabilities: 

Fund Balances: 
Spendabte: 4,834 3,026 
Committed to: 7,353 

Tot.1 Fund Balances: 12,187 3,026 
Total Uabmtjes, Deferred lnflows of Resources, and Fund 
Balances: $ 11,859 $ 3,112 $ 

The notes to the financia! statements are an integral part of this. statement 

95 

193 
199 

392 

35,971 

35,971 

36,363 

Total Nonmajor 
Governmental 

Funds 

$ 49,332 
1,666 

336 

5 51,334 

695 
338 

(979) 
96 

150 

43,831 
7,353 

51,184 

$ 51,334 



Neighborhood 
Allocatlol'l 

Assets 
Cash and inveslmenlS $ 8,B52 

Cash with fiscal agent 
Receivables: 

Accrued interest 
Acct'tIed taxes 
Accounls (nel of uncoU(tI;:tJblesi 2 
loans 81 
Due from ot.he:r gowmments 
Special assessments 

TolalAssets; 

llabitltlcs. Deferred InrloW$ of Resources, and Fund Balatlees 

tiabililles: 
Accounts and vouchers payable 16 
Contracts paylJble-retainage 
Unearned rallenus 200 
OUter lIablUties (27) 

Total UabillUell: 310 

Fund Balances: 
Spendable: 

'Res!.ficled: 
t:.I1!'bt Service 
Capital Projecls 
Other 

k.isi{Jned: 
Committed to: 

Neighborhood ImprovemenES 8,633 
Olher Purposes 

Unassigned 

Total Ftlnd Balances: 

Tolal Lk'lbilities. Deferred Inflows of Resol!!1Oe~. and Ft;nd Balances: • a,~?~ 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
June 30, 2015 

(amounts expressed In thousands) 

Special Revenuo FlInds 

HIghway 
Granls Fund Improvement Fund Fue!! Ta:t Fund Storm Waklr Fees 

$ (5,1>3) , (24) $ 1,436 S 

245 111 

9 

315 
136 

123 

51' 

221 1,547 

(5,698) 

~5,698l 221 1,547 

$ {~·!~t $ 221 • 1,547 S 

The notes lo the financial statements are an integral part of this 5tMement 
96 

1,071 

16 

4 

, 

1,083 

1,087 

Technology COrNctlon Fund FairTrial Tal( Fund 

S 52 $ 1,386 $ (1) 

S 62 S 1,36£ S (1) 

3 

3 

(1) 

62 1,363 

62 1,363 (ll 

S 62 S 1 .... • {ll 



Munltipal Court 
Judicial Admin 

Assets 
Cash and investments S 522 
Cash with fIScal agent 
Receivables: 

Accrued interest 
Accrued taxes 
Accounts (net of ullcoJjectlbles) 

Loans 
Due from other gOveffimenls 
Special as&cssmenl.s 

Total Assets: S 523 

Uabillties. D&ferred Innows of Resources, and Fund Bl'Ilartees 

liabilities: 
Accounts and vouchers POlYilbie 4 
Contracts payable-relalnage 
Uneamed revenue 
Olf1er liabilities 

Total Liabffltles: 

Fund Selences: 
Spendable: 

RestriC{ed: 
OebtSeNice 
Capital Projects 
Other 51. 

Assigned: 
Committed to: 

NeighborhOod lmprovemenls 
Other Purposes 
Unass'rg!led 

Total Fund Balances: 519 

rotal UabHiUes, Deferred lnnows ofResoorces, and Fund Balances; • 523 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
June 30, 2015 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Special Revenue Funds 

Munitipal Court HUD Block Grant 
PACE Board CletxFulld Fund Hamil Fund 

S $ 22' S (1,232) • 
1.225 

S 1,236 $ 22' S 

,. 
(1.248) 

(1,232) 

1,236 
22. 

S t,236 S 220 S (1,232) S 

The nola$ to the f1nafldal statements afE: ail integral part of this statement 
97 

137 

(131) 

Special Lodging 
Tax Revenue Total 

S 2,994 S 10,269 

1,235 

372 
12 
87 

(131) 

S 2,994 $ 11,~~9~~ 

415 
13. 

(979) 

96 
(321)) 

4,OB7 

747 

6,633 
2,994 4,419 

S 2,994 S 11,859 



Tax Increment 

Assets 
Cash am:! investmenls $ 2,616 
Cash with fiscal agent 4'" 
Receivables: 

Accrued Interest 
Accrued taxes 
Accounts (net of unc:ollectibles} 

loans 
Due from olller governments 
Special assessments 

TotatAssets: 

Liabllities, Deferred Inl10ws orResoureas, and Ftllld Balances 
liabHilies: 
Aco:lunls and vouchers payable 00 
ConlraclS payabJe-.relainag£! 
Unearned revenue 
Other rlEoiH!ies 

T otall1abili'ties; a. 

Fund Balances: 
Spendable: 

Restricted: 
Debt Service 2.961 
Capital Projects 
Other 

Assigned: 
Committed 10: 

Neighborhood Improvements 
Olher Purposes 
Unassigned 

Total Fund Balances: 

Total liabilities, Oeferred Inflow!; of Resources, and Fund Balances: $ 3,047 

City of l3inningllam, Alabama 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
June 30, 2015 

(amounts expressed in tllousands) 

Debt Service Funds 

Alab;Jm;J Trust Public 
fund Total Improl/flmenl 1992 Bonds 

$ 65 $ 2,681 S 1,067 S 
430 

17' 

(17B; 

S ., S 3,112 S 1,l167 S 

.. 
00 

55 3,026 
1,1)67 

3,026 1,057 

• •• $ 3,112 S 1.067 S 

The note5 to the financial statements are an integral Pllrt of thi$ statement ,. 

CaRltal Projects Funds 

1993 Bonds 1995 Bonds 1997801'ld& 

$ 90 S 34 $ 455 

S 90 $ 34 $ 455 

90 34 '55 

34 , .. 
• 00 • " $ 45' 



19'98·A Warrants 

A.~sllts 

Cash and invesimenls $ " Cash with flSca! agenl 

ReceIvables: 
Accrued inleresl 

Accrued laxes 
Accounts (nel of uIlCllIIee1ibles) 

loans 
Due ftom Olhet governments 
Speelal assessments 

Tota! Assets: $ " 
liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Fund Balances 

UabWiUes: 
Accounts and vouchers payable 
Contracts payabiMetalnage 

Unearned revenue 
Other liab1liUes 

T olal Uabailies: 

Fund Balances; 
Spendable: 

Rcstril;tcd: 
Debt Service 
Capilill Projects 1. 
Olhe, 

Assigned: 
CommrUedlo:: 

Ne'lghbofflood Improvements 

Other Purposes 
unassigned 

Total Fund Balances: 14 

Total Liabihlles. Deferred Inrlaws of Resources, and Fund Baiances: S 14 

City of Blnnlngham, AI.bama 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
June 30, 2015 

(amounts expressed in thous.nds) 

Capita! p(f)Jaets Funds 

2fJ01-A~hool 

19!M!-B Wamu'lts 1!:llfS·B Bonds 2000...4 Wa'l'fants 

S OS $ 3. S 36 S 

.3 39 3. 

63 

S 63 S 3. S " S 

The notes to the fina:nci.,1 5tatcmcnts .,re an lnte:sral part Qfthi1statement 
99 

.2 

92 

92 

2005-CG.O. 
ZOO2Bontis 2004-A Warrants warrants 

S 1,072 S S 403 

S 1,072 S S 403 

.3 
5 8 

18 8 

1,054 395 

1,054 395 

S 1,072 S S 403 



2007·8G.o. 
Wammls 

Assets 
CS$h and Investments S 1,175 
Cash with fiscal agent 
Receivables; 

Accrued Interest 
Accrued {axes 
Accounts (net of unco~ectibles) 
Loans 
Duc from otlwr go'{(!rnments 
Spedal assessments 

Total Assets: S 1.115 

Lkll:tiHties, Defe(t'Ed inflows of Resourees, and Fund Balances 
LJabfliues: 
AccmJnts ;md vouchers payable 5 
CcnlJ'acts payable-retainage 74 
Unearned revenue 
Other liabilElies 

T olal Uabnilies: '7!l 

Fund Balances: 
Speru:lab!e: 

Re$lr'icted: 
Debt SClVlce 
Capital Projects 1,096 

0"" 
.. signed: 

Cornmltled 10: 
NuighbothO<id Improvements 
Other Purposes 
Unassigned 

Total Fum:! Sa.!;tf\CUs: 1,096 

Total Uabililies. Deferred Inf1DWS or Rcsoorces, and Fund Billances: $ 1,175 

City of Binningham, Alabama 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental funds 
June 30, 2015 

{amounts expressed In thousands' 

Cae:itftl Proleet$ Funds 
:ZO'Hi·Rocovery 

2007-AG. O. Zone fooo Dcv 
Bonds 2009-A Warrants 

S 11,929 S 1<7 S 8.275 S 

43 12 
40 72 

11,845 147 8,191 

$ 11,929 $ 147 $ 8,275 S 

The notes to the fimmdal.statements are an integral part of this ,$tatement 
100 

Hlstoncal 
2014PNC2 2014 PNC3 PreservatIon 
Warrants Wa~nts Authority 

453 S 1,070 S 5 9,948 

S S 9,948 

67 53 

53 

453 1,003 9,895 

1,003 9,895 

453 $ 1,070 $ S 9,948 



Assets 
Cash and investments 

Cash wilh liscal agent 

Receivables: 

Accrued interest 

Accrued taxes 

Accounts (net of uncollectibles) 

Loans 

Due from other govemments 

Special assessments 
Total Assets: 

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Fund Balances 

liabilities: 

Accounls and vouchers payable 

Conlracts payable·retainage 

Uneamed revenue 

OUler liabilities 

Total Liabilities: 

Fund Balances: 

Spendable: 

Restricted: 

Debt Service 

Capilal Projecls 

Other 

Assigned: 

Committed to: 

Neighborflood Improvements 

Olher Purposes 

Unassigned 

Total Fund Balances: 

TOIaI liabilities, Deferred Innows of Resources, and Fund Balances: 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
June 30, 2015 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Capital Projects Funds 

Total 

$ 

$ 

$ 

36,363 

178 

(178) 
36,363 

193 
199 

392 

35,971 

35,971 

36,363 

TOtarNonmajor 
Governmental 

Funds 

s 49,333 

1,666 

$ 

s 

550 

13 
87 

(137) 

~ 
51,334 

894 

338 
(979) 

96 
149 

3,026 

40,058 

747 

8,633 
4,419 

(5,698) 

51,185 

51,334 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 

101 



City of Binningham, Alabama 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30,2015 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Special Revenue Debt Service Capital projects 
Funds Funds Funds 

Revenues 
Taxes $ 3,806 $ 1,813 $ 
Intergovernmental 23,534 1,796 

Charges for services 100 
Fines and forfeitures 1,662 

Investment income 55 9 406 

Other operating revenues 1,301 156 

Total Revenues: 30,458 3,618 562 

Expenditures 
Current Expenditures: 

Public safety: 5,030 305 

Street and sanitation: 5 44 
Cultural & recreational: 135 135 

General government: 11,159 5 1,972 

Debt Service: 
Principal 4,590 1,451 

Interest and fees 2,094 3,163 1,463 

Capital Outlay: 

Capital outlays t 1 ,735 6,715 

Total Expenditures: 34,748 10,634 
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over (Under) 
Expenditures: (4,290) (10,072) 

Other financing sources (US9S):: 

issuance of debt 23,137 

(Premium)/Discount on debt issuance 1,200 

Payment to escrow agent (12,120) 

Transfers In 8,142 

Transfers out (3,471) (1,525) 

Total Other financlng sources (uses):: 4,671 10,692 

Net Change in Fund 8alances: 381 (1,750) 620 

Fund Balances" Beginning 11,807 35,354 
Fund Balances" Ending: S 12,188 $ 36,974 

The notes to the financial statements are an integra! part of this statement 
102 

Total Nonmajor 
Governmental 

Funds 

$ 5,619 

25,330 

100 

1,662 

470 

5,335 

49 
270 

13,136 

6,041 

6,720 

19,199 

(16,112) 

23,137 

1,200 

(12,120) 

8,142 

(4,996) 

15,363 

(749) 

51,937 

$ 51,188 



Nnlghbomood 
Alh:IC.ttlon 

R4nn\le$ ,-, 
lr>WglW!'~ .. 
Chllrge$ for sl'f'\Ilcos '00 
Fm:s OIlilt 'orfoiturM 
!lweIlmenl Income <5 
otller operating I1II:YenUe1 

Totel ReV1lnueli: 

Expend"l.rI'Os 
C\.i<t'ilN Exper4~uft$; 

P\JbIl;;: liafely; 
Police "6 
F1~ 

Plannmll,snglnecmolil & ~ 
Tramc Enginlletlog 
Mu01Cip~1 Court 
Nondepilflminlltl 

SIJeei aru! senitWon, 
PublfeWO/i(li 

C"'~1ol11ll:1 eo *reationa~ 
Pall\ & RlICfealion 17 
Shllli F!ltgJmlrlds 
NOI'IdelXll'fmen\al 

Gine,..t gtM'imm61'\1: 
FInance 
Community OrwetopmMl " Me)'Of's Offtte 
Notldepartme;l\al "" MunielP1l' COurt 

OeblSetvl1:e; """,,,, 
fntemrt!t>:t fee5 

Capilal0utlay; 
capitill auttay.$ 

Toial Expendfv,ITQoS: 
El<cess (Oefickmq) ofRevetl\.l.s Over (Uncfe!) 
El<pendih,tres: (383) 

Ott-nu filumctng sOIln:e!l. {u$tIsj:: 
f~ofdebi 

{Pfamlcm}lOu(;ounl on debt 1S$1J1I1'WlII! 
PaymelillO eul'QW 8genl 
TGV11lel1li in '" Tral1.sfeB out @ll 
Toiol Other ~nan¢fnS "\I~1i lum)<: 171 

/.1m Change In Fund liIlIIlarn:el: (212) 

FluId e~lancoli~~fnS 
Fund ezt.lncO!;- Eodinl1: 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Grants Fund 

13,2G! 

,.. 

'''' 
"" ,.., 
15' 
J93 

sa 

'" M72 
Z3 

~'" 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2015 
{amounts expressed in thousands) 

Se!!:lal Revenue Fllnds 

Hlghwlly 
lm.pl'OWmt:nl FUlid Fool Tax Fund Storm Willer Fe" T.ehnolog)' 

, , , , 
2,703 '-'" 52' 

" 

122 

• 

2,159 '00 

'" " 

'" '''' 101 25 

2S 

'2 1,015 OS, 

'" 1,548 , 1,063 

'01" notes to 1M finan,!;,1 ~tatoment.s are lUI inttg,,,1 p.lrt ofthli statelm!nt 

10' 

CO",,1;:Uon Fund 

." 

" 

1,405 

'55S) 

(559) 

Mwnldp3! C4l1rt Mllnlc:Jp,llICourt 
FairTrllJ T,o: Fund Judlclal Adm.!n PACEB<:Iarn Cle'l1IFund 

, , 

27S '00 '" 
200 ,>1 

"" ~~ 

'" 
, 

91 

1,11$ 

1,e32 

'15 (1,561) 23' 

7,9(16 

7,908 

'15 34' "" 



RIiIo~.r;lU!s 

'Taxes 
IntclJjoveml!1enlal 
Chlll;ge!i ror s~lces 
FinM end /&felluret 
frlvt,Slmenllr;oome 
Oiliff operating fCyenue$ 

Total R.ev.r;ue~; 

c:9Gndltvres 
CUI'f~i'tl E>:pendi:u~es; 

Ptllllic safely: 

"""" F" 
PkMning,Enginllllring'& Pelmi!; 
Tf4ffiC Engj~oerin; 

MI.mleipol Court 
Nondepartn'tlfllal 

street and seril;4!ioo; 
Pub!lcWtIfks 

Cl.lltural & :m;realiCnat 
Pam.&Recreation 
state FalrSroul'\<ls 
NolldeiXIrtmEn!al 

Gel'lmll gc'lemnlent: 
Flrla~ctI 

COmmunity De'l\lkl~l!1el\t 
Mayots Office 
Nor.dlilopal1mental 
Municipal Coull 

Oebt SfM~e: 
P;ineipal 
Intern$! and fees 

QpitalOut!a),,; 
Capalll ellllaY!'> 

TllIel Elipendltures: 
E>;:ee~ (Oeficleney) of ReVll!nllu Over IUndct) 
EJependllurus: 

Otherfinal'ltlnQ Mlun:;u (uses):: 
Iuuilnca of del;t 

(prnmlu!lI)IOIscwnl(Jn dtbllnuam:e 
Payment to IISCfOW agent 
Trallslars In 
Tm"shm <art 

Tolel oum fIrnIIntll'lg ~ (u,e,):~ 
Nel Chillnge In Fund Ball/lees; 
Fund Balanc.eJ. OugiMio'Ig 

Fund 911111"00$' Elldmg~ 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

s~lal Rm/nnue Funds 

KVO Black Gr.mt 
Furtl;! HcrnlfFl.lnd 

$ 

'.lli 1,Il!Ia 

4,5&7 ,,>00 

('l "" 

('l "" -,-

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30. 2015 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Oebl service Fu~s 

Specilll Laugklg lax Irn:rumtnl Atlbll:ma, lf1.lst 
Tax R1!VefI1H! TOI4I Financing Fund 

'.1W6 '.'" 1,613 $ 

""" 1.700 

"" 1,662 

" 
, 

1,3G1 

'.Il00 3G,458 1.1122 1,196 

'.!lOO 
'" 1.013 

'" 2.004 

n .. 
S17 

9"", 

23 

'" 
, 

" 
4,stt.9 1,451 

,,'" 1,432 1.7>0 

3,1101 (4.290) (1,1116) .. 

8.142 

!,?:AGaI 'M11~ 
(3,406) 4.611 

'" 3" {U16) " 

The noles to Iht final''':i.1! stalementsllff an Integral Plrtofth~$t1Itement 

"" 

T"" 

$ 1.&13 ,.,.. 

~ .. ~.6HIo 

1.451 
3,1&2 

(1,160) 

(1,700) 

~l Pro1!tt1I. Funt:ls 

Public 
~rovement 1991liklnta 

$ $ 

>4 

, 

~- "l 

'33 ('l 



1993 BonlSs 

ReYenueli 
Taxes S S 
IntergoYemmental 

Charges for servl~es 

Fines anlS forteilures 

Inyestment Income 

Other operating revenues " Tolal Reyenues: .. 
Expenditures 

Current Expenditures: 

Public safety: 

Pollee 

Fire 

Plannlng,Englneering & Pennits 

Traffic Engineering 

Municipal Court 

Nonaeparlmental 

Street and sanitatlon: 

Public Wor!<.s 

Cuftural & recreational: 

Par!<. & Recreation 

State Fairgrounds 

Nondeparlmental 

General90vemmellt: 

Finance 

Community Development 

Mayo~50mce 

Nondepartmental 

Municipal Court 

Debl Service: 

PrinCipal 

Inlerest and lees 

Capital Outlay: 

Capital outlays 101 
Total Expend~ures: 105 
Excess (Deficien!:)') 01 Revenues Over (Under) 
Expendrtures: (SI) 

other financing sources (uses):: 

Issuance 01 debt 

(Premlum)lDlscounl on debt Issuance 

Payment to escrow agent 

Transfen; In 

Trans!en; oul 

Total other finanCing sources (USIIS):: 

Net Change In Fund Balances: (61) 

Fund Balances _ Beginning '" Fund Balances _ Ending: , 
'" S 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

1995 BonlSs 

S 

353 

35' 

(:J52) 

(:J52) 

387 
35 S 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2015 
(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Captta.1 Pro!e~l$ FunlSs 

1991 BonlSs 1995-A Warrants 1995-B Warrants 1999_B BonlSs 

S S S 

11 

35 '" 169 

46 '" 173 

(4:J) (159) (112) (8) 

(43) (159) (112) (8) 

'" 173 235 46 

'56 14 S 64 S 40 

The notes to the finandal statements are an Integral pan of this statement 

105 

2000-A Warrants 

" 
(14) 

(214) 

(214) 

(22S) 

"" S 35 

2001-AS~hool 2006-C G.O. 
Warrants 2002 BonlSs 2004-A Wamnts WalTollnts 

S S S 

, 

10 

" 
40 

73 

" 

468 '" 634 628 

(1) (529) (625) 

j89) j252! 
(89) (252) 

(1) (71S) (S17) 

93 1,112 1.273 

" S 1,054 S S 396 



Revonues 
Taxes 

Intergovernmental 

Charges fOf services 

Fines and forfellures 

Invostment incC111e 

OilIer Operab'ng revenues 

Tolal Revenues: 

Expenditures 
CUlTent Expenditures: 

Public safely. 

Police 
Fire 

Planning,Englneering & Permits 

Traffic Engineering 

Munlclpal COuri 

Nondeparirnental 

Sireet and sanitation: 

PublicWor1<.s 

Cullural & recreational: 

Pnr1<. & Recreation 

Slate Fairgrounds 

Nondeparirnental 

General government; 

Finance 

COmmunity Oevelopment 

Mayo(sOflice 

Nondeparirnental 

Municipal couri 

Dflbt Service: 

Principal 

Interesl and lees 

Cap~al Outlay. 

Cap~ill outlays 

Total Expend~ures: 
Excess (Denclency) of Revenues OVer (Under) 
Expenditures: 

OIher financing sources (uses);; 

Issuance of debt 

{Prernlurn)lOiscour!l on debt Issuance 

Paymenllo escrow agenl 

Transfers In 

Transfers aLII 
Total Other financing sources (uses):: 

Net Change In Fund Balances: 

Fund Balances· Beginning 
Fund Balances. Ending: $ 

2007·B G,O. 
Wamlnls 

11 

155 

m 

(173) 

(170) 
1,267 

1,097 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 

2007-A G. O. 
BondS 

7J 

7J 

,<2 

" 

90< 

1.199 

(1.126) 

~ 
(430) 

(1.556) 
13.403 
11.847 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2015 
(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Capltat Projects Funds 
"2010:.f<ecowry Alstoneal 
Zone Econ Dev 2014 PNC2 2014 PNC3 PreserVition 

2009-A Wamlnls WarT 2013-B Bonds Wilmlnls Wllmlnts Authority 

$ $ 

JB 

JB 

15 

705 '" '" 

11 3 

1,742 <7 1,856 102 
2,463 <7 2,055 1.010 10$ 

(2,425) (47) (2.055) (1,010) (105) 

1,010 10.000 

(534) 
(534) 1.010 10.000 

(2,950) (·n (2.055) 9.895 

147 11,150 "" 3.056 
1<7 $ 6,191 '$2 $ 1.001 $ 9.895 

The notes to lhe financial statements are an integral part of this statement 

105 

2014-0 Bonds 

251 

251 

1.450 

1,450 

(1,199) 

12,118 

1.200 
(12.120) 

1.198 

(1' 

(1) 

Tolal 

<0, 
155 

55' 

'" 

" ... 
B9 

" 

1,973 

1.464 

6.715 

10,635 

(10,072) 

23,137 

1.200 
(12,120) 

(1.525) 

10.692 

520 
35.354 

35.973 

TOIaI NonmaJor 
Governmental 

Funds 

5.619 
25,330 

100 
1,662 

<7, 

1.457 

34.638 

1.000 
721 

1.361 

'" 2.084 

15 

" 
165 

" " 
517 

9.880 

" 2.5-46 

" 
6.040 

6.720 

19.199 

50.750 

(16.112) 

23,137 

1,200 

(12.120) 

8,142 
(4,996) 

15.363 

(749) 

51.937 
$ 51.188 



Statistical Section 

This portion of the City of Birmingham's comprehensive annual financial 
report presents additional information to be used in conjunction with the 
preceding statements to gauge the City's overall financial well-being. 

Financial Trends 
These schedules present information on how the City's financial 
performance has changed over the past ten fiscal years. 

Revenue Capacity 
These schedules present information on the collection of the City's most 
significant local revenue source. 

Debt Capacity 
These schedules present information on the City's outstanding debt and its 
legal authority to issue additional debt in the future. 

Demographic and Economic Information 
These schedules present indicators of the City's demographic and 
economic profile. 

Operating Information 
These schedules present data regarding the City's services and 
infrastructure. Many measures of operating activity are presented in the 
City's operating budget. Please refer to the City's website at 
www.birminghamal.gov for additional information. 

Debt/Funding Schedules 
These schedules provide details relative to the City's obligations. 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Net Position by Component 

Last Nine Fiscal Years 
(in thousands) 

Table A-1 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30 

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2015 

Governmental activities: 

Net investment in capital assets $73,876 $74,322 $65,727 $72,325 $90,213 $133,210 $104,846 $210,160 $149,863 
Restricted 271,686 277,817 264,602 157,454 146,478 134,295 189,391 139,831 96,624 
Unrestricted !91,459) (78,863) (88,588) (51,384) (62,1511 (85,574) (93,426) (127,030) (489,185) 

Total governmental activities net positio 254,103 $273,276 $241,741 $178,395 $174,540 $181,931 $200,811 $222,961 ($242,698) 

Businesswtype activities: 

Net investment in capital assets 922 901 1,022 855 919 919 722 4,167 919 
Unrestricted (464) (1,167) (1,522) 2,032 3,861 1,476 6,156 

Total business-type activUies net positic 996 437 (145) (6671 980 2,951 4,583 5,643 7,075 

Primary Government: 

Net investment in capital assets 74,798 75,223 66,749 73,180 91,132 134,129 105,568 210,160 150,782 
Restr'icted 271,686 277,817 264,602 157,454 146,478 134,295 189,391 139,831 96,624 
Unrestricted (91,385) (79,327) (89,755) (52,906) (62,090) 183,542) (89,565) (127,030) (483,029) 

Total primary government net position $ 255,099 $ 273,713 $ 241,596 $ 177,728 $ 175,520 $ 184,882 $ 205,394 $ 222,961 $ (235,623) 

• - prior to restatement 

Source: City Finance Department Data 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Changes in Net Position 
Last Nino Fiscal Years 

(In thousands) 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30 

Expenses: 
Governmental activities: 

Public safety 
Streets & sanitation 
Culture & recreation 
Interest on long·term debt 
Total governmental activitles expenses 

Business-type activities! 
E-911 Services 

Total primary government expenses 

Program Revenues: 
Governmental activities:: 
Charge!) for services 

Generalgovemment: 

$106,000 
163,704 
95,381 
42,222 
23 j 989 

-~m 

$434,492 

Business licenses & permits: 60,002 
Non·bu$ine$s licenses & permits 5,347 

Public safety 11,327 
Streets & sanitation 1,971 
Culture & recreation 1.252 

Operating grants and contributions 18.606 
Total governmental activlUe$ program reVent-W4,505 

Business-type activities: 
E-911 Services 3,156 

Total primary government program revenues: = $101,661 

Net (Ex.pense)fRevenue 
Governmental actlvitles 
Buslness--type activities 

($326,791) 

-~~~ 
($326,831) 

General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position: 
Governmental activities: 

Taxes: 
Sales and use taxes 
Occupational taxes 
Property taxes 

Unrestricted grants and contributions 
Investment earnings 
Other 

Total governmentaj activities 

Business-type activities~ 
Investment earnings 

Total primary government 

Change (decrease) in Net Positron: 
Governmental activities 
Business-type activities 
Total primary government 

Soureo:City Finance Department Oata 

$109,665 
75,269 
54,920 
23,853 
21,168 
12,736 

-~297,611 

102 

(S29,180) 
62 

.. i~,118) 

108 

2008 
.--~--

$ 88,799 
163,149 
93.821 
43,895 
27,643 

~417.301 

_~,935 

~!421,242 

85,721 
5,342 

14,139 
1,450 
1,275 

19,830 
~128,351 

~"h_~~_~ 

$131.66!: 

($288,950) 

(6271 
!U89,57Zl 

$129,132 
76,918 
62,698 
19,975 
10,684 

8,116 
308,123 

66 

519,173 
(559) =_ S1BI14 

2009 

$ 121,554 
169,083 
121,848 
36,132 
25,381 

473,998 

4,044 

~ $4~~~2 

91,493 
4,505 

17,502 
1,577 
1,341 

15,094 
131,513 

3,447 

$~4,960 

(S342,4S5) 

-.~ 
,j$343,082l 

5131,904 
16,325 
61,663 
26,060 
(4,201) 
8,407 

-300,158 

15 

($42,327) 

Table A·2 
(1 or 2) 

2010 
~---

S 163,581 
210,132 
59.822 
41,907 
21.413 

~T96.915 

_~4,937 

$501,852 

82,126 
3,747 

21,488 
595 

1,327 
1B,89S 

-128,781 

~~ 4,511 

$133,296 
=~~.= 

$368,134 
420 

$368,554 

5127,197 
73,008 
56,699 
23,730 

8,233 
7,145 

296,012 

(572,122) 
.. (419) 

_i~2,541) 



City of BIrmingham, Alabama 
Changes In Net Position 
Last Nln& Fiscal Years 

(In t!1ousancl,s) 

Table A~2 
(2 of 2) 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30 

:W11 2012 2013 -~ ~2.,!!!_ 
~-----

Expenses: 
Governmental activities: 
General government $ 114,375 $ 126,811 $ 127,856 $ 122,310 232.450 
PubUc safety 202,706 194,761 195j022 200,169 196,529 
Streets & sanitaUon 54,553 .6,109 53,055 76,093 61,527 
Culture ,& recreation 40,024 42j 705 42,927 40,657 40,987 
Interest on long-term debt 19,8G1 ~.~~,381 141933 17,896 39,195 
Total govemm&ntal aetlvmes expenses ~·~431,519 437,827 433,793 ~-45s.135 -510,G88 

Bus!nefls-type actfvities: 
E~911 Services 4,754 4,641 ~~,5G~ __ 5,220 5,$01 

Total prlmarygovernmllnl expenses 5436,213 $442,4G8 $438,351 $464,355 $516,269 

Program Revenues: 
Governmental activities: 
Charges for servtces 

General government: 
Business licenslls & permits 90,139 97,443 97,495 94,336 180,GBl 
Non-buslnas& licenses & permits 0 0 0 0 0 

Public $afety 17,778 17,011 15,893 16,884 20,253 
Streets & sanitation 96. 1,19G 449 2,675 243 
Culture &. recreaUon 1,171 1,506 2,073 1,762 2,055 

Operating grants and contrlbutlons 24,276 25,118 19,540 24,390 57,923 
Capital grants and contributions 0 0 0 0 7

1
797 

Total governmental activities program revenues 134,330 142,274 -135,450- 140,047 268,932 

Business~type activities! 
E~911 Services ~~ &,392 6.608 __ ~,196 6,272 1,003 

Total primary government program revenues $140.722 $148,882 5141,646 5146,319 275.935 

N01(ExpenseVRevenuo 
Governmental actlvltles $297,186 $295.553 5298,343 $31'9,088 15301,155) 
Buslnes!.Ftype activItIes t

'
,638! 1,967 1,632 1,052 __ ',422 

$295,548 $293,583 ~~52a&,111 $320!140 {!300,333l 

Goneral Revenues and Other Changes In Net PosItIon! 
Governmental actlVltles: 

Taxes: 
Sales and uae taxes 5131,162 $134,829 5140,832 $145,394 6151,919 
occupational taxes 74,909 71,703 77,844 78,654 81,013 
Property taxes 51,369 55,656 50,367 55,842 54,808 

Unrestricted grants and contribution., 22.548 19,500 25,487 22,561 24,663 
Investment earnings 13,560 5j067 8,362 11,917 5,988 
Other t211) 10,188 ~~ 14,351 5,909 (3,218) 

Total governmfmtal activities 293,331 302,943 317,223 320,337 315.173 

Bualness-type activities: 
Investment earnings 11 4 7 ~~ __ '0_ 

----~-- ~~---

Total primary government $293,342 5302,947 $311,223 1320,344 1315,183 

Change (decreastt) In Net Position: 
Governmental activities (53,8SS) $1,393 118,880 51.249 $13,418 
Businass~typ9 actMtlos ~ __ ~:t,S49 1.971 1!632 1,059 1,432 
Total primary government i$2,206~ ~$9,364 $20,512 ~S2,308 ~-s1-4,8.0 

Source;City Finance Department Data 
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General Fund 
Reserved 
Unreserved 
Total general fund 

other Governmental Funds: 
Reserved, reported in: 
Special revenue funds 
Debt service funds 
Capital projects funds 

Unreserved, reported in: 
Special revenue funds 
Debt service funds 
Capital projects funds 

Total other governmental funds 

Source: City Finance Department Data 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Fund Balances, Governmental Funds 

Last Nine Fiscal Years 

2007 

$10,448 
85,368 

$95,816 

$134,246 
45,394 

155,487 
335,127 

(2,278) 

(2,278) 
$332,849 

(in thousands) 

2008 

$11,417 
106,065 

$117,482 

$113,754 
44,216 
160,696 

318,666 

(2,484) 

(2,484) 
$433,664 
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Fiscal Year Ended June 30 

2009 

$280 
94,501 

$94,781 

$96,755 
40,175 
138,479 

275,409 

(1,847) 
(3,666) 

(5,5131 
$364,677 

2010 

$253 
92,027 

$92,280 

$77,026 
50,947 
94,500 

222,473 

(1,866) 
(5,805) 

(7,6711 
$307,082 

Table A-3 
Page 1 of 2 



2011 

General Fund 
Nonspendable! 

Prepaid $280 
Inventory 

Spendable, 
Restricted 

Committed 
Assigned 

Unassigned 98,935 
Total General Fund 99,215 

Other Governmental Funds: 

Restricted 117,183 
Committed $1,338 
Assigned 104,963 
Unassigned (4,6271 

Total other governmental funds 218,857 

Total Fund Balance $318,072 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Fund Balances, Governmental Funds 

Last Nine Fiscal Years 
(in thousands) 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30 

2012 2013 2014 

$344 $344 $428 
1573 1,573 1,377 

90,197 91,581 77,769 
92,114 93,498 79,574 

109,846 162,524 127,232 
$95,668 $97,836 106,565 

(14) 382 1,585 
788 709 (3,984) 

206,288 261,451 231,398 

$298,402 $354,949 $310,972 

Change in fund balance DeSignation due to GASB Statemtent 54 
Source: City Finance Department 
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TableA·3 
Page 2 of2 

2015 

$482 
1,221 

91,008 
92,711 

108,179 
99,328 

0 
0 

207,507 

$300,218 
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2006 2.007 

Sales and Use Tax Revenue $109,085 $109,665 

Peroenlage Change from Prior Year 1.59% 0.53% 

Breakdown ofSaleslUso Tax By Industry Type: 
Apparel 5,001 6,298 
Aulomotive, RV's, Motor HQmes 8,561 9,951 
Building ,& Construction Related 10,241 11,836 
Communications 1,520 1,686 
fquipm"nt& Mactlinery 6,636 10',680 
Food and Restaut.tmts 15,239 18,551 
Fumlturo- and Furnishings 2,154 2,604 
Insurance, Finance, Real fstal-l! .$' 52. 
Medical 1,332 1,647 
Personal SONlces, Entertainment 6,483 7,615 
All Other Industries 46,439 37,759 

109,065 109,66$ 

200a • 

$129,732 

18.30% 

6,402: 
10,787 
11,423 

2.182 
10,758 
15,553 

2,&52 
2,071 
1,S$8 
7,588 

57,856 
129,732 

City of Dirlllillghllllh Al~balllll 

Slllelidl1U U~t'TuRevt'l1ullS 
L<I~I T~!\ Fu~"l YM!'), 

(inllllllnJlnlh) 

Fi$cal Yur Ended June 30 

2009 20,10 

$131,904 $127,197 

i.57"A, --3,57% 

6,190 6,665 
9,645 10,312: 

14,551 12,667 
2,677 2,155 

10,664 9,855 
23,504 22,041 
,,447 3,329 
2.751 2,516 
3,556 ' ..... 
5,623 6,495 

471576 47,694 
131,904 127,1!f7 

• The City of 8innlngham increased its sales tax on retail sales of lIutomative vehicles, hous'l! trailers, and mobile home 
sel-up materials and supplles; retail ules of Mllctlines, mactlinery, orequipmont us.d in minIng, quarrying, compounding, 
processing, and manufacturing tangible parsonal property from 1% to 2% In FY 2006. 111. City also increased 
its sates tax on the ro-tall safes ofother tangible personal proparty from 3% to 4% in FY200e. 
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Table 8·1 

2:011 2312 2013 2014 2015 

$131,162 $134,869 $140,632 $145,394 $151,919 

3.12% 2.113% 4.50% 3.2:4% 4.49% 

7,432 7,7;24 8,016 8,276 8,941 
12,328 12,297 12,891 13,307 11,596 
13,621 14,130 15,401 15,903 17,4.43 

1,945 2,047 2,133 2,159 1,836 
10,404 11,1411 11,650 12,027 16,507 
24,974 24,333 2$,369 2.6,212 26,554 
4,241 4,351 4,550 4,6Se 4,614 
2,302 1,750 1,840 1,SOQ .. , 
4,995 5,1:19 5AHt 5,585 4,190 
6,750 6,519 6,600 7,020 2,786 

41,969 44,761 46,755 46,270 56,768 
131,182 134,669 140,832 145,394 151,919 



2006 2007 

Breakdown of Tax Revenues: 
Sales and U$e Tax S 109,085 S 109,665 $ 
Occupational Tax 72,297 75,269 
Property Tax 52,669 54.920 
Business Licenses 54,951 60,002 
Permits 5,6;13 5,347 

$ 294,615 $ 305,203 $ 

"!. at Sales & Use to Total Taxes 37.030/. 35.93% 

City of Sirmtngham, Alabama 
Sales and Use Tax Revenues to Tota! Taxes 

Last Ten Years 
{in thousands} 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30 

2008 200' 2010 2011 

129,732 $ 131,90"4 $ 127,197 S 131,182 $ 
76.918 16,325 73.008 74,909 
62,598 61,663 56,699 51,369 
85,721 83.0" 74,809 75,793 

5,342 4.506 3,747 4,191 
360,411 $ 357,417 S 335,460 $ 337,424 $ 

36.00% 36.900/. 37.92% 38.87%. 

2012 2013 2014 

134,869 $ 140.832 $ 145,394 
77,703 77,B44 78,tl54 
55,S56 56.388 55,842 
83,245 82,866 82,105 

4,426 3,843 4,905 
355,899 $ 361,173 $ 366,900 

37.90% 38.93% 39.S3% 

Note: Prior to 2010. the portion of ad valotem tax revenues due to be paid, by statute, to the Jefferson County Board of Health ("Board of Health") and the Binningham..Jefferson County Transit 
Authority Ithe "Transit Authority") were included In the total amount of property taxes colteGted as revenue on the City's financial statements and were also deducted as an expense. Prior to and 
after 2010, the amounts owing (0' the Board of Health and the Transit Authority were and continue to be remitted directly to Transit Authority and Board of Health by the City's tax collector. As a 
result of a change in accounting procedures, the City no longer treats the portion of the ad valorem tax revenues due the Transit Authority and the Board of Health a5 an item of revenue and 
expense on the City's financIal statements. Accounting tor the amounts due the TtansltAuthotity on the eny'$. financial statements ceased beginning in 2010 and accounting for the amounts due 
the Board of Health ceased In 2011. The ~d valorem tax revenue due the Transit AuthOrity after the accounting procedure change and not jncfuded in the "Property (ad valorem) tax" calculatlon 
above was $3,433,527.49, $3.947,279,83, $3,144,824.23, $4,009,941, $2,891,796 and $3,659,782 in 2{l10, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2{l14 and 2015, respectively. The ad valorem tax revenue due the Board of 
Health after the accounting procedute change and notincluded in the "Property (ad valorem) tax" calc.ulaUon above was $1,534,510.60, $1.159,722.1.8. $1,172,297, $1,164,355 and $1.208,$27 in 2011, 
2012,2013,2014 and 2015, respectfvely. 

Souree: Finance Department Data 
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Table B·2 

2015 

$ 151,919 
81,013 
54,808 
85,732 
5,3S9 

$ 378,841 

40.10% 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Table C-l 

PACE 
General General TIF Board Percentage 

Fiscal Obligation Obligation Revenue Capital Revenue Aggregate of Personal Per 
Year Bonds Warrants Warrants Leases Bonds Total Income Income Capita 

2006 309,920,000 197,435,000 11,835,000 2,094,000 507,355,000 3,803,289,660 13.71% $2,147 

2007 353,750,000 237,885,000 11,210,000 1,690,000 604,535,000 3,803,289,660 15.90% $2,490 

2008 337,120,000 229,445,000 7,365,000 1,266,000 575,196,000 3,803,289,660 15.12% $2,369 

2009 318,045,000 219,805,000 7,365,000 27,331,000 572,546,000 3,803,289,660 15.05% $2,358 

2010 298,070,000 138,615,000 21,000,000 20,950,000 478,635,000 3,803,289,660 12.58% $1,971 

2011 277,260,000 192,185,000 20,810,000 51,779 490,306,779 3,927,870,159 12.48% $2,310 

2012 256,170,000 175,555,000 20,410,000 0 64,000,000 516,135,000 3,927,870,159 11.51% $2,432 

2013 302,005,535 161,215,000 19,615,000 971,Q93 62,920,000 546,726,628 3,927,870,159 12.32% $2,576 

2014 284,470,535 150,510,000 18,475,000 762,158 61,530,000 515,747,693 3,927,870,159 13.13% $2,430 

2015 270,071,000 136,205,000 17,025,000 549,361 59,940,000 483,790,361 3,927,870,159 12.32% $2,279 

Note: During 2011, capitalized leases, in the amount of $17,505,538, were refinanced by General Obligation Warrants 

SOLirce: City Finance Department data 
Personal income computed from 2000 and 2010 census population and per capita income data (see table 0-1). 
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Fiscal 
year 

2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 
2011 
2012 
2013 
2014 
2015 

Census Population 
Year Number 

2000 242,820 
2000 242,820 
2000 242,820 
2000 242,820 
2000 242,820 
2010 212,237 
2010 212,237 
2010 212,237 
2010 212,237 
2010 212,237 

City of Bjrmingham, Alabama 
Ratio of Net General Obligation Bonded Debt to 
Assessed Value and Net Bonded Debt Per Capita 

Last Ten FiscaJ Years 

Gross Bonded Less Debt 
Assessed Value~ Debt~'" Service Funds 

2,567,735,000 507,355,000 45,161,000 
2,631,971,182 604,535,000 44,153,000 
2.810,555,632 575,196,000 43,205,000 
2,937,624,552 572,546,000 40,175,000 
2,880,265,253 478,635,000 36,317,088 
2,826,110,356 490,306,779 32,191,620 
2,755,748,375 516,135,000 29,668,690 
2,689,227,218 546,726,628 23,538.147 
2,804,674,640 515,747,693 22,694,460 
2,868,624,760 483,790,361 21,387,760 

Net Bonded 

474,029,000 
558,692,000 
531,991,000 
532,371,000 
442,317,912 
458,115,159 
486.466,310 
523,188,481 
493,053,233 
462,402,601 

"'Source: Jefferson County Tax Assessor and Oepartment of Revenue; Shelby County Property Tax Commissioner and 

Judge of Probate 
~1Ilncludes Bonds. Warrants. Revenue Warrants, Capitalized Leases and PACE Board Revenue Bonds 
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Table C-2 

Ratio of Net 
Bonded 
Debt To 

Assessed Net Bonded 
Value ('Yo) Debt Per Capita 

18.46% $ 1,952 
21.23% $ 2.301 
18.62% $ 2,191 
16.54% $ 2,192 
13.90% $ 1,822 
16.21% $ 2,159 
17.6S'k $ 2,292 
19,45% $ 2,465 
17.58% $ 2,323 
16.12% $ 2,179 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Assessed Value and Estimated True Value of AU Taxable Property 

Last Nine Tax YearS 

Class 1 Class 2' Class 3 Clas:s4 
Property of AU Unclassified Rea! Agricullure, Forest, Motor 

and Personal Property 
~~ 

Residential, Historic Prope~ Vehicres Total 

... "'''''''''''''''' .. Estimated Assessed Estimated Assessed Estlmaled Assessed Estimated Assessed 
Value True Value lrue Value Value lrue Valua Value Value Value 

Ta, ~ -A.s.;iSi:d'=~!~:~~~;~ Ending -

30~ep 

2006 221,316,191 131,120,637 1.715,444,558 8,577,222,790 409,710,653 4,09-7,106,530 285,499,780 1,903,331,867 2,631 j 971,132 

2007 218,646,340 728,821,134 1,866,230,138 9,331,153,690 440,451,774 4,404,517,740 285,236,180 1,901.578.534 2,810,565,632 

2008 209.898,240 699.660,800 1,984,443.984 9,922,244,920 462,407,628 4,624,016,280 280,859,700 1,872,454.661 2,937,624,552 

2009 215,101.040 117,003,461 1,972,102,351 9,360,511,755 448,535,382 4,4S5.353,820 244.526,480 1,630,176.534 2,880,265,253 

2010 212,316,380 707.721,267 1,944,617.951 9,723,089,755 433,674,085 4,336,740,850 235,501,940 1,570,012,934 2,826,110,356 

2011 212,799,421 109,331,403 1,876,926,188 9,354,630,940 439 j 145,266 4,391.462,560 232,876,500 1,552,510,000 2,755,148,375 

2012 208,111,380 693.764,600 1,835,441,332 9,177,206,660 391,699,466 3,916,994,660 253,975,040 1,693,166,933 2,689,227.218 

2013 212,321,060 707,736,867 1,916,117,160 9,580.585,800 412,100,240 4,121,002,400 264,136,180 1,160,907,867 2,804,674,640 

2014 211,745,640 705,818,800 1,981,580,900 9,907,904,500 401,172,100 4,011,127,000 274,125,520 1,827.503,457 2)868,624,760 

(1) The classifications of property for ad valorem taxation, as se1 forth above. are establistl.ed by Amendment No. 373 to the Constitution of Alabama of 1901, as amended. 

lhe asseS$~ values are provided by; 
For Class!, II and III Property in Birmingham in JefferSon County, Alabama: Tax Assessor of Jefferson County 
For Class (,II and III Property In Birmingham in Shelby County, Alabama: Property la)( Commissioner of Shelby County 
For Class IV Property In Birmingham in JefferSon County. Alabama: Jefferson County Department of Revenue 
For Class IV Property in Birmingham in Shelby County, Alabama: Judge of Probate of Shelby County 

Total 
Estimated 
True Value 

15,315,381,824 

16,366,071,098 

17,118,446,667 

16,693,045,516 

16,337,564,006 

16,007,935,003 

15,481,072,853 

16,110,232,933 

16,452,953,767 

The- estimated market values of property are the quotient of the assessed values of property in a cla:ssificatiQn divided by the assessment ratio applicable to thatclassificat,ion, as set forth below. 
1'2) Class I Property consists of all property of utilities used in the business or such utilities and is assessed at the rates of thirty percent (30%,) of the fair and reasonable market value thereof. 

[31 Class II Property consi:sts of all real and perSonaJ property not otherwise: classified in another class (generally commer<=ial property) and Is assessed at the ratio of ~ 

of the fair and re-asonalbe marilet value thereot. Class 11 amounts do not include the amounts or values or any abatements, Industlral exemptions, other exemptions or 

or p&naltles with MSpeet: to such property. 
{<I) Class It! Property consists of all agricultural, forest. slnglewfamily owner.oQCCupled residential property, and historic buildings and :si1es, and is assessed, upon applicatiQn by the owner, at 

the ratiO of ten percent of the- current use value (not fair and rea$Onalbe markat values of such property). The amounts :shown abov& as assessed values of Class III property are net of, and 

do not {nclude, the- amount of any homestead exemptlons with respect to such property. 
f$l Cla$slV Property consists of motor vehicles owned and operated by Indivlduals tor personal or private use, and not for hire, rent or compensation, and is assessed at the ratio of fifteen 

percent of the faIr and reasonable maket vafue there. 
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Table C-3 

Ratio of 
Assessed 
Value to 

Estimated 
True Value 

11.199/ 0 

17.11% 

17.16% 

17~25% 

11.30% 

17.22% 

17.31'" 

17..34% 

17.44% 



DitOd Debt 2011 
City of Birmingham: 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Schedule of Djtect and Overlapping Debt 

Last Five Fiscal Years 
(in thousands) 

2012 2013 

Table C-4 

2014 ~ 

GtOSS bonded debt and warrants outstanding· $ 490,307 $ 516,135 $ 546,727 $ 515,748 $ 483,790 
Direct Debt 490,307 516,135 546,727 515,748 483,790 

Overlapping Debt 

Jefferson County, Alabama overlapping debt 1 

Jefferson County Board of Education 2' 

Total bonds and warrants outstanding 
% of debt applicable to City of Birmingham 
City of Birmingham Debt Burden 

Shelby County, Alabama 3 

Shelby County, Alabama Boald of Education ~ 

% of debt applicable to City of Binningham 
City of Birmingham Debt Burden 

Total Overlapping Debt 

Total Direct and Overlapping Debt $ 

1,190,200 

61,660 
1,271,880 

31.3% 
398,098 

155,120 
155,120 

1.8% 
2,792 

400,891 

891,198 

1,014,595 

85,930 
1,100,525 

30.9% 
340,062 

144,080 
144,080 

1.8% 
2,593 

342,656 

$ 858,791 

982,080 1,000,645 917,390 

78,990 67,900 82,370 
1,061,070 1,068,545 999,760 

30.4% 30.0% 31.9% 
322,565 320,564 316,923 

181,530 176,173 170,590 
181,530 176,173 170,590 

1.8% 2.0% 1.9% 
3,268 3,523 3.241 

325,833 324,087 322,165 

$ 872,560 $ 839,835 $ 805,955 

The debt for schools of the Board of Education of the City of Birmingham. Alabama, is included in the City's general obligation debt shown above. 

The figutes fat Jefferson County. the Jefferson County Boatd of Education, and the Shelby County Soard of Education are for their fiscal years ended 9130. 

1 Sourc~; Joffsl"$on County Olrectot of Finance. 

2: The entlm debt of the JeHerson County Board of Education is paid by approptiations from specifically pledged taxes. No portion of this debt 
is paid ftom the school funds of the City of Birmingham. 
Source: Jetel"Son County Board of Education 

l Shelby County teports no debL SourCG: Shelby County Finance Manager 

4 AU of the gross debt of Shelby County Board of Education is payable from one of several specially pledged revenues! each of which produces a 
substantial margin of tevnue above the necessary debt service requirements. 
Source: Shelby County Board of Education 

~Includes Bonds, Warrants. Revenue Warrants, Capitalized leases and PACE Board Revenue Bonds 
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(Per 5100 of Assessed Value) 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Property Taxes - Direct and Overlapping Governments 

Birminghamt Jefferson, and Shelby Counties 
Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Ci!)t of Birmingham 
Debt 

Fiscal General Service Board of 
Year Fund Fund Education Library Total County 
2006 $0.90 $1.20 51.98 $0.05 $4.13 $1.35 
2001 $0.90 $1.20 $1.98 SO.05 $4.13 $1.35 
2008 SO.90 $1.20 51.98 $0.05 $4.13 51.35 
2009 $0.90 51.20 S1.98 SO.05 $4.13 51.35 
2010 $0.90 S1.20 $1.98 $0.05 $4.13 $1.35 
2011 SO.90 $1.20 $1.98 SO.05 $4.13 S1.35 
2012 SO.90 51.20 S1.98 $0.05 $4.13 $1.35 
2013 50.90 $1.20 51.98 SO.05 $4.13 $1.35 
2014 SO.90 $1.20 S1.98 SO.05 S4.13 $1.35 
2015 $0.90 $1.20 $1.98 $0.05 $4.13 51.35 
Source: Jefferson County Tax Assessor 

City of Birmingham 
Debt 

Fiscal General Service Board of 
Year Fund Fund EdUcation Library Total County 
2006 SO.90 51.20 52.07 SO.05 $4.22 SO.75 
2007 $0.90 $1.20 52.07 $0.05 $4.22 50.75 
2008 SO.90 51.20 $1.47 SO.05 S3.62 $0.75 
2009 $0.90 $1.20 $1.47 $0.05 $3.62 $0.75 
2010 $0.90 $1.20 $1.47 $0.05 $3.62 SO.75 
2011 $0.90 S1.20 $1.47 SO.05 $3.62 $0.75 
2012 SO.90 Sl.20 $1.47 SO.05 $3.62 SO.75 
2013 SO.90 51.20 S1.47 $0.05 S3.62 SO.75 
2014 $0.90 $1.20 S1.47 $0.05 $3.62 SO.15 
2015 SO.90 $1.20 $1.47 SO.05 $3.62 SO.75 

Source: Shelby County Tax Assessor 
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Table C-5 

Jefferson County 

County State of Total 
Schools Total Alabama Tax 
$0.82 52.11 $0.65 56.95 
$0.82 52.11 $0.65 $6.95 
SO.82 $2.11 $0.65 56.95 
$0.82 $2.11 $0.65 $6.95 
SO.82 $2.11 $0.65 $6.95 
$0.82 S2.11 SO.65 $6.95 
SO.82 $2.17 SO.65 $6.95 
$0.82 S2.17 SO.65 $6.95 
$0.82 52.17 $0.65 S6.95 
50.82 52.17 $0.65 $6.95 

Shelby County 

County State of Total 
Schools Total Alabama Tax 
S1.60 $2.35 $0.65 S7.22 
$1.60 S2.35 SO.65 S7.22 
$1.60 $2.35 $0.65 $6.62 
S1.60 $2.35 $0.65 $6.62 
$1.60 $2.35 SO.65 $6.62 
$1.60 $2.35 $0.65 $6.62 
$1.60 S2.35 SO.65 $6.62 
$1.60 $2.35 $0.65 $6.62 
$1.60 S2.35 SD.65 $6.62 
$1.60 $2.35 SO.65 $6.62 



Net assessed value of real and personal property (1) 

Debt limit (200fo of assessed value, see note below) 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Estimated Legal Debt Margin 

As of June 30,2015 

Outstanding general obligation bonds, warrants and leases (2) 
Less exemption for schools and sewer debt (3) 
Less debt service fund balance (4) 

Net outstanding general obligation bonds and warrants 

Legal debt margin 

Ratio of legal debt margin to legal debt limit 

$ 

Table C-S 

2,868,624,760 

573,724,952 

438,602,321 
(63,449,300) 
(21,172,000) 

353,981,021 

219,743,931 

38'% 

(1) As reported by the Jefferson County Tax Assessor, Jefferson County Department of Revenue (motor vehicles) Shelby County Properly Tax 
Commissioner and Shelby County License Officer (motor vehicles). 

(2) Includes the aggregate principal amount of general obligation bonds, general obligation warrants, Economic Development Incentive Obligations 
($1,251,960), Birmingham Zoo Obligations ($13,500,000). and a lease ($549.361), all as of June 30, 2015, Does not Include any other obligation of the 
City and does not reflect principal payments made on any obligations after June 30, 2015. Does not indude the obligations of the city incurred pursuant 
to Amendment No, 772 to the Constitution of Alabama. as amended, 

(3) Not less than the stated amount was Issued for schools, waterworks or sewers and is not chargeable against the City's constitutional debt limit 
(4) Market Value as of June 30. 2015 

Note: Section 225, as amended, of the Constitution of the State of Alabama limits debt of the City of Birmingham to 20% of the assessed value of taxable 
property, Excluded from this limitation is debt issued fur schools and sewers (General Constitutional Debt Limitation), 
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City of Binningham, Alabama 
Estimated Legal Debt Margin 

As of June 30, 2015 

Special Constitutional Debt Limitation for Economic Development Dbligations 
Table C·6 

Amendment No. 772 to the constitution of Alabama authorizes the counties and municipalities within the State to use public funds for certain purposes 
intended to further the economic development of such political subdivisions. Amendment 772 authorizes any county or municipality to (i) acquire real 
property, buildings, plants, factories, facilities, machinery and equipment of any kind and to improve and develop such properties for use as sites for 
industry of any kind or as industrial parks, (ii) lease, sell, grant, exchange or otherwise convey all or any part of any real property, buildings, plants, 
factories, machinery and equipment or any industrial park project to any individual, finm, corporation or other entity, public or private, for the purpose of 
constructing, developing, equipping and operating industrial, commercial, research or service facilities of any kind or (iii) lend its credit to, or grant public 
funds and things of value for the benefit of any individual, firm, corporation or other entity, public or private, for the purpose of promoting the economic 
and industrial development of such political subdivision. 

Amendment 772 also authorizes counties and municipalities to issue bonds, warrants, notes and other evidences of indebtedness and to use the 
proceeds thereof in furtherance of the powers discussed in the paragraph immediately above, subject to the limitation that the aggregate principal 
amount of obligations issued for such purposes may not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the assessed value 01 taxable property in such county or 
municipality. Amendment No. 772 provides that the bonds, warrants, notes or other evidences of indebtedness may be secured by the full faith and 
credit of the issuer or may be limited as to the source of payment. 

The issuance of bonds, warrants, notes and other evidences of indebtedness pursuant to Amendment No. 772 is not subject to the City's twenty 
percent constitutional debt limit. Pursuant to, and in accordance with, Amendment No. 772, in recent years the City has delivered agreements with 
various entities lor economic development purposes as provided in Amendment No. 772, whereby the City agrees to rebate, over a stated period of 
years, to the other parties to such agreements, certain percentages olthe proceeds of various City taxes received by the City from the construction and 
operation by such other parties of the facilities described in such agreements. The obligations of the City under such agreements (the "Amendment No. 
772 Obligations') (i) are not general obligations of the City and (Ii) are limited obligations of the City payable solely from the tax proceeds specified in 
such agreements, and produced solely from the facilities and projects described in such agreements, when and if such tax proceeds are actually 
received by the City, except a Funding Agreement with the Commercial Development Authority of the City of Birmingham, which is a general obligation 
and a Funding Agreement with the Public Athletic, Cultural and Entertainment Board of the City of Birmingham, which is a general obligation. The 
economic development office 01 the City, based on certain assumptions which it believes to be reasonable, has projected the total tax revenues to be 
received by the City from each of the facilities for which such a tax rebate agreement is in effect, will exceed the amount of the City tax proceeds to be 
rebated pursuant to such agreement. 

The City has obligations outstanding under Amendment No. 772 in the aggregate amount of approximately $220,487,824. These obligations are limited 
obligations of the City payable generally as rebates of taxes received by the City from the private entity, except for funding agreements to cover bonds 
issued by the Commercial Development Authority of the City of Birmingham (currently outstanding in the principal amount of $68,570,000) and the 
Public Athletic and Entertainment Board of the City of Birmingham (currently outstanding in the principal amount of $59,940,000), both, of which, are 
general obligations of the City. The City treats the obligations thereof under Amendment No. 772 (i) as exempt from the general constitutional debt 
limitation and (ii) as subject to the special constitutional debt limit under Amendment No. 772. 
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Beginning 
October 1 

2004 
2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 
2011 
2012 
2013 
2014 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Property Taxes Levied and Collected for 

The City of Birmingham' 
Last Ten Tax Years 

City of Birmingham 
Table C-7 

Total Taxes Total Taxes 
Levied Collected Percentaae 

61,440,447 61,078,411 99.41% 
62,890,413 62,386,134 99.20% 
66,224,605 64,416,414 97.27% 
71,268,264 69,999,820 98.22% 
74,939,011 71,593,360 95.54% 
74,462,772 71,390,609 95.87% 
72,971,185 68,536,652 93.92% 
71,571,040 67,909,751 94.88% 
68,753,822 66,151,831 96.22% 
68,870,877 67,688,169 98.28% 
70,644,107 68,384,610 96.80% 

'Jefferson County real property only 
Sources: Jefferson County Tax Assessor and Tax Collector 
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Assessed Entity 

Alabama Power Company 
OXmoor Center LlC 
Affinity Hospital lLC 
Bellsouth Telecommunications 
American Cast Iron Pipe 
GSA Birmingham Realty 
BBVA Compass Bank 
Alabama Gas Corp 
SL Regions LLC 
Bayer Development Co. 
HealthSouth Corporation 
Marray-Ash Plaza, Inc. 
Chase Bank of Texas 
Tish Roberts Preston 
AT&T Communications 
AP-Knlght LP 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Principal Property Taxpayers Gefferson County Only) 

Current Fiscal Year and Nine Years Prior 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 

Total Assessed % of Total 
Value of Property Assessed Valuation 
Within City Limits Rank 

$181,975,240 1 6.34% 
$37,912,020 2 1.32";\ 
$37,753,020 3 1.32% 

34,439,260 4 1.20% 
30,937,420 5 1.081)/" 
22,100,000 6 0.77% 
18,652,080 7 0.65% 
18,097,680 8 0.63% 
17,386,040 9 0.61 "/0 
14,642,960 10 0.51% 

$413,895,720 13.92% 

Source: Jofferson and Shelby Counties Tax Collectors 
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Table C-8 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2006 

Total Assessed % 01 Total 
Value 01 Property Assessed Valuation 
Within C.i!t limits Rank 

$111,623,680 4.44% 

56,948,760 2 2,26%-
30,910,439 4 1.23% 

17,195,120 7 0.68% 
0.00% 
0.00% 

54,098,675 3 2.15% 
18,916,420 5 0.75% 
17,883,260 6 0.71% 
16,729,760 8 0.66% 
16,039,640 9 0.64% 
10,739,780 10 0.43"/1' 

$351,085,534 13.96% 



Year Population 
2006 242,820 
2007 242,820 
2008 242,820 
2009 242,820 
2010 242,820 
2011 212,237 
2012 212,237 
2013 212,237 
2014 212,237 
2015 212,237 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Demographic and Economic Statistics 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Median Per Capita 
Household Personal Unemployment 

Income Income Rate 
31,851 15,663 4.7% 
31,851 15,663 3.7% 
31,851 15,663 4.9% 
31,851 15,663 12.4% 
31,851 15,663 9.7% 
30,212 18,507 11.2% 
30,212 18,507 8.9% 
30,212 18,507 7.9% 
30,212 18,507 7.1% 
30,212 18,507 7.1% 

Population figures based on 2000 and 2010 census 

Table 0-1 

Birmingham Hoover 
MA Annual Average 

Unemployment 
Rate 
3.2% 
3.1% 
4.5% 
9.2% 
8.9% 
8.3% 
7.0% 
5.9% 
5.4% 
5.5% 

Unemployment rates source: Alabama Department of Labor in cooperation with the Bureau 
of Labor Statistics. 2015 City and MA rate is preliminary May 2015 rate. 
Personal income and per capital personal income source: U. S. Bureau 
of the Census 2010 
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Employer 

University of Alabama in Birmingham 

Regions Financial Corporation/AmSouth 
AT&T/Bellsouth 
St. Vincent's/Eastern Health System 
Honda Manufacturing of Alabama, LLC·· 
Children's Health System 
Blue Cross Blue Shield of Alabama 
Alabama Power Company 
Mercedes~Benz U. S International, Inc.·· 
Baptist Health System 
BBVA Compass Bank 
American Cast Iron Pipe 
Buffalo Rock Company 

Southern Company Services· 

Brookwood Medical Center 
U. S. Steel 
Trinity Medical Center 
Social Security Administration 
Drummond Company 
Birmingham Veterans Affairs Medical Center 

Wells Fargo/Wachovia 
Bruno's Supermarkets 
Healthsouth Corporation 
Birmingham Board of Education 
City of Birmingham 
Jefferson County Board of Education 
Jefferson County Commission 
·Part of Southern Company 
··Located Outside Metro Area 

Birmingham Metro Employers 
Principal Private Sector Employers 

Current and Nine Years Prior 

December 2014 
# of 

Employees Rank 

23,000 
7,668 2 
5,750 3 
4,644 4 
4,500 5 
4,497 6 
4,000 7 
3,982 8 
3,500 9 
3,200 10 
2,606 11 
2,400 11 
2,200 12 
2,116 13 
2,037 14 
1,900 15 
1,879 
1,800 
1,625 
1,525 
1,466 

Does not include aggregated multiple location employers 

Source: Birmingham Business Alliance/Birmingham Chamber of Commerce 
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% of Total City 
Employment 

4.44% 
1.48% 
1.11% 
0.90% 
0.87% 
0.87% 
0.77% 
0.77% 
0.68% 
0.62% 
0.50% 
0.46% 
0.42% 
0.41% 
0.39% 
0.37% 
0.36% 
0.35% 
0.31% 
0.29% 
0.28% 

# of 
Employees 

18,750 
3,785 
5,485 

3,200 

5,000 

3,477 

5,000 
4,989 
4,800 
3,875 

Table D-2 

2006 
% oITota! City 

Rank Employment 

3.62% 
8 0.73% 
2 1.06% 

10 0.62% 

3 0.97% 

9 0.67% 

4 0.97% 
5 0.96% 
6 0.93% 
7 0.75% 



Rank Company 

1 University of Alabama at Birmingham'" 
2 Regions Financial Corporation 
3 AT&T 
4 SI. Vincent's Health System 
5 Honda Manufacturing of Alabama, LLC" 
6 Children's Health System/Children's of Alabama 
7 Blue Cross Blue Shield of Alabama 
a Alabama Power Company 
9 Mercedes-Benz U.S. International, Inc.*' 

10 Baptist Health System, Inc. 
11 BBVA Compass 
12 American Cast Iron Pipe Company 
13 Buffalo Rock Company 
14 Southern Company Services 
15 Brookwood Medical Center 
16 U. S. Steel 
17 Trinity Medical Center 
18 U.S. Social Security Administration 
19 Drummond Company, Inc. 

20 Birmingham Veterans Affairs Medical Center 
21 Wens Fargo 
22 Protective Life Corporation 
23 McDonalds (CLP Corporation) 
24 State Farm Insruance 
25 Samford University 

Source: Birmingham Business Alliance 
• University of Alabama at Birmingham (UAB) and 
University of Alabama at Birmingham Health Services 
'-'11 Not located in metropolitan Birmingham 

Metropolitan Birmingham Largest Employers 
by Industry 

Employment 

23,000 
7,668 
5,750 
4,644 
4,500 
4,497 
4,000 
3,982 
3,500 
3,200 
2,606 
2,400 
2,200 
2,116 
2,037 
1,900 
1,879 
1,800 
1,625 

1,525 
1,466 
1,340 
1,300 
1,300 
1,231 

Product 

Education and Healthcare Services 
Financial Services (Banking) 
Communications 
Healthcare Services 
Automotive Manufacturing 
Healthcare Services/Pediatrics 
Insurance, employee benefits, 
Utilities Services, Electrical 
Automotive Manufacturing 
Healthcare Services/Management 
Banking, Financial Services 
Manufacturing Metal Fabrication 
Food Products, Pepsi Boltler 
Utilities/Engineering 
Healthcare and Management Services 
Manufacturing/Pipe Mill 
Healthcare and Management Services 
U.S. Government, Benefits 
Mining and Natural Resources 

Healthcare and Management Services 
Financial Services (Banking) 
Financial Services (Insurance) 
Management Franchise Operation 
Insurance, Regional Operations Center 
Education Services, university 
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Presence 

Headquarters 
Headquarters 
Regional 
Headquarters 
Major Operations 
Headquarters 
Headquarters 
Headquarters 
Major Operations 
Headquarters 
Headquarters 
Headquarters 
Headquarters 
Divisional Headquarters 
Headquarters 
Major Operations 
Major Operations 
Regional 
Headquarters 

Headquarters 
Major Operations 
Headquarters 
Major Operations 
Regional 
Headquarters 

Table D-3 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Number of City Employees by Function/Program 

La$t Ten Fiscal Years 
Table E-1 

FunctioniProgram 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

General Government: 
City Clerk a 12 12 12 12 a 10 10 10 9 

City Council 44 44 44 44 43 39 40 37 38 38 
Community Development 11 11 11 11 9 7 7 7 7 10 
Finance 118 117 111 115 112 104 106 104 107 110 
law 36 35 34 34 34 36 38 40 37 38 
Mayor's Office 53 67 65 82 78 79 89 89 91 93 
Equipment Management 86 86 83 83 99 89 85 88 87 90 
Information Management Service 61 61 55 45 53 42 43 47 45 4S 

Personnel 19 38 35 35 32 29 32 31 32 28 

Public Safety: 
Planning, Engineering, & Permits 213 204 194 194 172 141 149 150 143 147 
Communication$ 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 

Parole & Probation 10 10 10 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Municipal Court 64 66 63 61 66 66 66 69 70 70 
TraffiC Engineering 84 86 84 84 78 63 65 66 68 69 

Police; 
OffiCers 859 859 859 909 822 839 854 842 852 827 

Civilians 620 320 322 373 373 283 289 285 271 285 

Fire: 
Officers 648 648 646 646 626 634 617 603 608 621 

Civilians 75 61 61 61 61 63 73 62 59 64 

Street.~ & SanitatiOon: 
Public Works 1,166 1,164 1,088 1071 982 908 878 928 929 781 
Horticulture & Urban Forestry 0 0 0 0 153 0 0 0 0 0 

Culture & Recreation: 
State Fairgrounds 1 S 5 5 4 3 14 17 16 17 
AuditOrium 23 23 21 21 21 31 28 26 29 28 
Arlington 7 12 12 12 10 9 10 10 9 9 
Library 305 300 300 326 320 200 292 298 287 274 
MU$eum of Art 28 42 42 42 40 39 39 3. 35 32 
Parks & Recreation 263 269 305 303 172 257 245 237 262 250 
Southern Museum of Flight 6 9 9 9 9 8 9 11 9 10 
Sloss Furnaces 14 14 ,. 12 8 5 13 7 8 

TOotals 4.a2~~ __ ~563 4.487 ~4 __ 4,402 _ 4,Q7~ 4,083 4109 4,114 3.980 

Source: City Sudget Office 
Note: The Public Works Department was formed in FY 2001 eliminating the Street & Sanitation Department; the Horticulture Department was 

merged with the Public Works Department in FY 2001. 
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Function/Program 

Police precincts 
Police substations 

Fire stations 

Street lights 
Traffic signals 
Street miles 

Parks & recreation: 
Number of Parks 

Acreage of Parks 
Recreation/community centers 
Playgrounds 
Baseball/softball fields 
Soccer/football fields 

Libraries: 
Central 
Branches 

2006 

4 
6 

31 

28,000 
700 

1,500 

106 

2,137 
18 
73 
45 
18 

1 
19 

Source: Various City departments 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

2007 

4 
6 

31 

28,000 
700 

1,500 

106 

2,137 
18 
73 
45 
18 

1 
19 

2008 

4 
6 

31 

39,000 
710 

1,500 

111 

2,635 
18 
79 
40 
15 

1 
19 

2009 

4 
6 

31 

39,000 
710 

1,500 

111 

2,635 
18 
79 
40 
15 

1 
19 
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2010 

4 
4 

31 

39,000 
710 

1,500 

112 

2,635 
19 
79 
40 
15 

1 
19 

2011 

5 
3 

31 

39,000 
710 

1,500 

114 

2,683 
20 
81 
42 
16 

1 
18 

2012 2013 

4 4 
6 5 

31 32 

32,000 32,000 
702 702 

1,500 1,500 

114 115 

2,683 2,746 
22 23 
78 125 
35 41 
15 12 

1 1 
18 18 

2014 

4 
5 

32 

30,000 
702 

1,500 

115 

2,746 
23 

125 
47 
12 

1 
18 

Table E·2 

2015 

4 
8 

32 

29,238 
702 

1,500 

115 

2,746 
24 
127 
49 
16 

1 
18 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Operating Indicators 

BIRMINGHAM E911 CALL CENTER STATISTICS 2015 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
2008-2015 PERMIT VALUATIONS AND COUNTS 

FY 2008 Permits 

PLB $27,860,697.00 1,260 

]Rti9:~t~~lf~;i£' ·.P$8.~~ll1!?9i~2\~~P~,1£~~t'}~l"~\~'lf1~ql~:~!!j 

MFD 
~RliB]j;ii;~X' . 
Totals 

PLB 

{r~r!l11f~~¥p~ 
BLD 

FY 2009 Permits 

$659,506,521.00 8,691 

FY 2010 Permits 

$26,361,755.00 862 

FY 2011 Permits 

$263,364,587.00 1,991 
, $·6~~t§§.4;~~~jj1i±~I+J~~i~~~~~wl~~j 

789 

MFD $145,849.00 14 
f'e~B:~~t;~~Rl< ;;',;:.'.:::;;.~~ '.$~"21[~'2:;~1l1,O~Q~~ft~~(~#jl~i~llij 
Totals $444,202,565.00 7,375 
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Table E-4 

FY 2012 Permits 

PLB $20,612,560.00 871 

FY 2013 Permits 

MFD $257,565.00 10 
fRL%B:~~~1l:l*£1~l\tl$il1r~211i8j!i1if~~I;£~fr&~~li~il 
Totals $698,946,349.00 8,319 

FY 2014 Permits 

PLB $18,261,036.00 775 

FY 2015 Permits 

Totals $920,701,524.00 10,315 



HOMICIDE RAPE 

32 96 
18 9 

56.25% 9.38% 

HOMICIDE RAPE 

52 182 

37 37 
71.15% 20.33% 

HOMICIDE RAPE 

63 178 
41 26 

65% 15% 

HOMICIDE RAPE 

67 152 

38 27 
57% 18% 

HOMICIDE RAPE 

54 182 
30 52 

56% 29% 

HOMICIDE RAPE 

58 155 
N/A N/A 
N/A N/A 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Police Department Statistics 

20151 January-June 

ROBBERY ASSAULT BURGLARY THEFT 

515 1,242 1,453 4,376 
160 435 141 493 

31.07% 35.02% 9.70% 11.27% 
2014 

ROBBERY ASSAULT BURGLARY THEFT 

1,051 2,213 3,768 8,906 

362 734 459 1,299 
34.44% 33.17% 12.18% 14.59% 

2013 

ROBBERY ASSAULT BURGLARY THEFT 

969 1,755 4,059 8,836 
364 578 517 1,008 
38% 33% 13% 11% 

2012 

ROBBERY ASSAULT BURGLARY THEFT 

983 2,035 4,704 9,042 
380 477 623 892 
39% 23% 13% 10% 

2011 

ROBBERY ASSAULT BURGLARY THEFT 

1,011 1,916 5,806 10,522 
309 536 627 891 
31% 28% 11% 8% 

2010 

ROBBERY ASSAULT BURGLARY THEFT 

881 1,702 5,464 11,042 
N/A N/A N/A N/A 
N/A N/A N/A N/A 

131 

Table E-5 

TOTAL 

AUTO THEFT PART ONES 

730 8,444 
193 1,449 

26.44% 17.16% 

TOTAL 

AUTO THEFT PART ONES 

1,460 17,632 
314 3,242 

21.51% 18.39% 

TOTAL 

AUTO THEFT PART ONES 

1,525 17,385 
163 2,697 
11% 16% 

TOTAL 

AUTO THEFT PART ONES 

1,042 18,025 
170 2,607 
16% 14% 

TOTAL 

AUTO THEFT PART ONES 

1,325 20,816 
217 2,662 
16% 13% 

TOTAL 

AUTO THEFT PART ONES 

1,299 20,601 
N/A N/A 
N/A N/A 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Table E-6 

Police Department Supplemental Statistics 

2009 
2010 355 
2011 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
MUNICIPAL COURT STATISTICS 

Last Five Fiscal Years 

COURT CASE STATISTICS 
2011 

DRUG/ALCOHOL RELATED CASES 1,919 
GUN COURT CASES 309 
TRAFFIC CASES 66,862 
NON-TRAFFIC CASES 7,539 

TICKETS ISSUED 
2011 

PARKING TICKETS 94,194 
EQUIPMENT REPAIR TICKETS(L1GHT: 6,200 

Source: Municipal Court 

2012 
1,793 
383 

58,300 
9,276 

2012 
60,626 
6,531 
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2013 2014 
793 726 
490 311 

57,208 32,186 
12,218 10,353 

2013 2014 
61,573 62,143 
5,279 2,795 

2015 
963 
348 

37,791 
12,675 

2015 
63,283 
1,315 

Table E-7 

TOTAL 
6,194 
1,841 

252,347 
52,061 

TOTAL 
341,819 
22,120 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Debt Service Schedules 

General Obligation Warrants and Bonds 
Table F-1 

Fiscal General Obliaation Warrants General Obliqaton Bonds Total General Obliqation Debt 
Year 

Ending Total Total Total 
June 30 Principal Interest (Net) Debt Service Principal Interest (Net) Debt Service Principal Interest (Net) Debt Service 

2016 13,645,000 5,412,318 19,057,318 20,065,000 8,683,680 28,748,680 33,710,000 14,095,998 47,805,998 
2017 15,025,000 4,877,102 19,902,102 14,171,200 7,897,567 22,068,767 29,196,200 12,774,669 41,970,869 
2018 15,630,000 4,276,297 19,906,297 15,835,000 11,161,355 26,996,355 31,465,000 15,437,652 46,902,652 
2019 5,995,000 3,737,323 9,732,323 16,303,833 10,486,582 26,790,415 22,298,833 14,223,905 36,522,738 
2020 5,895,000 3,524,322 9,419,322 10,261,813 9,902,488 20,164,301 16,156,813 13,426,810 29,583,623 
2021 5,315,000 3,303,710 8,618,710 8,566,610 9,556,536 18,123,146 13,881,610 12,860,246 26,741,856 
2022 5,485,000 3,085,940 8,570,940 7,504,413 9,194,807 16,699,220 12,989,413 12,280,747 25,270,160 
2023 5,680,000 2,857,607 8,537,607 9,476,135 8,894,033 18,370,168 15,156,135 11,751,640 26,907,775 
2024 5,550,000 2,620,246 8,170,246 7,523,570 8,456,495 15,980,065 13,073,570 11,076,741 24,150,311 
2025 5,720,000 2,384,152 8,104,152 7,914,249 8,091,648 16,005,897 13,634,249 10,475,800 24,110,049 
2026 5,910,000 2,137,124 8,047,124 10,936,171 7,646,105 18,584,276 16,848,171 9,783,229 26,631,400 

2027 4,585,000 1,889,052 6,474,052 11,506,214 7,114,386 18,620,600 16,091,214 9,003,438 25,094,652 

2028 4,790,000 1,684,844 6,474,844 12,100,136 6,552,864 18,653,000 16,890,136 8,237,708 25,127,844 

2029 5,000,000 1,470,365 6,470,365 12,725,545 5,964,880 18,690,425 17,725,545 7,435,245 25,160,790 

2030 5,230,000 1,245,766 6,475,766 13,391,B33 5,343,830 18,735,663 18,621,833 6,589,596 25,211,429 

2031 3,535,000 1,010,572 4,545,572 14,055,485 4,719,078 18,774,563 17,590,485 5,729,650 23,320,135 

2032 3,660,000 888,825 4,548,825 14,763,259 4,061,291 18,824,550 18,423,259 4,950,116 23,373,375 

2033 3,790,000 760,519 4,550,519 15,530,155 3,341,320 18,871,475 19,320,155 4,101,839 23,421,994 

2034 2,010,000 597,597 2,607,597 3,190,295 2,895,605 6,085,900 5,200,295 3,493,202 8,693,497 

2035 2,085,000 522,423 2,607,423 3,099,556 2,737,694 5,837,250 5,184,556 3,260,117 8,444,673 

2036 2,165,000 444,444 2,609,444 3,264,426 2,584,824 5,849,250 5,429,426 3,029,268 8,458,694 

2037 2,245,000 363,473 2,608,473 3,425,174 2,421,076 5,846,250 5,670,174 2,784,549 8,454,723 

2038 2,330,000 279,510 2,609,510 3,598,288 2,250,212 5,848,500 5,928,288 2,529,722 8,458,010 
2039 2,420,000 189,805 2,609,805 3,771,401 2,068,849 5,840,250 6,191,401 2,258,654 8,450,055 

2040 2,510,000 96,635 2,606,635 3,965,124 1,881,377 5,846,500 6,475,124 1,978,012 8,453,135 
2041 4,154,724 1,681,276 5,836,000 4,154,724 1,681,276 5,836,000 
2042 4,377,299 1,476,702 5,854,000 4,377,299 1,476,702 5,854,000 
2043 4,591,630 1,256,871 5,848,500 4,591,630 1,256,871 5,848,500 

Total $ 136,205,000 $ 49,659,971 $ 185,864,971 $ 260,070,536 $ 158,323,430 $ 418,393,966 $ 396,275,536 $ 207,983,401 $ 604,258,937 

General obligation warrants are paid from the City's General Fund and general obligation bonds are paid from the City's Bond Reserve Fund, which 
receives 12 mills of ad-valorem tax. 
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Ci~ of Binningham, Alabama 
Debt Service Schedules 

Debt of Conduit Issuers that is a General Obligation of the City 
The Commercial Development Authority of the City of Binningham, Revenue Bonds 

Table F-2 
Fiscal Series 2011-A (Tax-Exempt) Series 2011-B (Federallv Taxablel ------------------------T otal------------
Year 

Ending Total Total Total 
June 30 Principal Interest Debt Service Principal Interest Debt Service Principal Interest Debt Service 

2016 3,118,988 3,118,988 1,160,000 620,400 1,780,400 1,160,000 3,739,388 4,899,388 
2017 3,118,988 3,118,988 1,280,000 550,800 1,830,800 1,280,000 3,669,788 4,949,788 
2018 3,118,988 3,118,988 1,400,000 474,000 1,874,000 1,400,000 3,592,988 4,992,988 
2019 3,118,988 3,118,988 1,485,000 390,000 1,875,000 1,485,000 3,508,988 4,993,988 
2020 3,118,988 3,118,988 1,575,000 300,900 1,875,900 1,575,000 3,419,888 4,994,888 
2021 3,118,988 3,118,988 1,670,000 206,400 1,876,400 1,670,000 3,325,388 4,995,388 
2022 3,118,988 3,118,988 1,770,000 106,200 1,876,200 1,770,000 3,225,188 4,995,188 
2023 1,875,000 3,118,988 4,993,988 1,875,000 3,118,988 4,993,988 
2024 1,970,000 3,025,238 4,995,238 1,970,000 3,025,238 4,995,238 
2025 2,070,000 2,926,738 4,996,738 2,070,000 2,926,738 4,996,738 
2026 2,170,000 2,823,238 4,993,238 2,170,000 2,823,238 4,993,238 
2027 2,280,000 2,714,738 4,994,738 2,280,000 2,714,738 4,994,738 
2028 2,395,000 2,600,738 4,995,738 2,395,000 2,600,738 4,995,738 
2029 2,515,000 2,480,988 4,995,988 2,515,000 2,480,988 4,995,988 
2030 2,645,000 2,348,950 4,993,950 2,645,000 2,348,950 4,993,950 
2031 2,785,000 2,210,088 4,995,088 2,785,000 2,210,088 4,995,088 
2032 2,805,000 2,063,875 4,868,875 2,805,000 2,063,875 4,868,875 
2033 3,085,000 1,909,600 4,994,600 3,085,000 1,909,600 4,994,600 
2034 3,255,000 1,739,925 4,994,925 3,255,000 1,739,925 4,994,925 
2035 3,435,000 1,560,900 4,995,900 3,435,000 1,560,900 4,995,900 
2036 3,620,000 1,371,975 4,991,975 3,620,000 1,371,975 4,991,975 
2037 3,820,000 1,172,875 4,992,875 3,820,000 1,172,875 4,992,875 
2038 4,030,000 962,775 4,992,775 4,030,000 962,775 4,992,775 
2039 4,255,000 741,125 4,996,125 4,255,000 741,125 4,996,125 
2040 4,485,000 507,100 4,992,100 4,485,000 507,100 4,992,100 
2041 4,735,000 260,425 4,995,425 4,735,000 260,425 4,995,425 

Total $58,230,000 $58,373,188 $116,603,188 $10,340,000 $2,648,700 $12,988,700 $68,570,000 $61,021,888 $129,591,888 

The above amounts are a line item in the City's General Fund Budget for each fiscal year pursuant to the associated Funding Agreement. 
The Bonds financed the construction of a hotel and entertainment distrIct adjacent to the Binningham-Jefferson Convention Center, located 
in downtown Birmingham. The appropriation continues a long-standing amount appropriated for the BJCC. 
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City of Blf't'l'1;ingham. Alabama 
Debt Service Schedules 

Debt of Conduit I$suers that is a General Obligation of the City 
The Public Athletfc Cultural and entertainment Board of the City of Birmingham. Revenue Bonds 

Table Fw.3 
Fiscal Serles 2011-A (Tax-Exempl! Serles 2011-B (Federally Taxable) Series 2011-B (Federally Taxable} 
Year No. R·2 No. R·1 Series B TOf.aI--.-----

Ending Total Total Total Total Total 
June 30 Principal Interest Debt Service Principal Interest Debt Service Principal Intere$t Debt Service Debt Service Principal InteNtst Debt Service 

2016 1,480,000 1,586,870 3,066,870 75,000 217,591 292,591 90,000 188,469 278,469 571,060 1,645.000 1,992,929 3,637,929 
2017 1,525,000 1,540,442 3,065,442 80,000 213,259 293,259 90,000 184,086 274,086 567,345 1,695,000 1,937,787 3,632,787 
2018 1,570,000 1,492,625 3.062,625 85,000 208,647 293,647 95,000 179,581 274,581 568,228 1,750,000 1,880,853 3,630,853 
2019 1,620,000 1,443,339 3,063,339 90,000 203,756 293,756 100,000 174,933 274,833 568,589 1,810,000 1,821,928 3,631,928 
2020 1,670,000 1,392,509 3,062,509 95,000 198,585 293,585 105,000 169,841 274,841 568,426 1,870,000 1,760,935 3,630.935 
2021 1,720,000 1,340,133 3,060,133 100,000 193,135 293,135 110,000 164,606 274,606 567,741 1,930,000 1,697,874 3,627,874 
2022 1.775,000 1,286,136 3,061,135 105,000 167,405 292,405 115,000 159,127 274,127 566,532 1.995,000 1,632,667 3~627.667 
2023 1,830,000 1,230,438 3,060,438 110,000 181,396 291,396 125,000 153,405 278,405 569,801 2,065,000 1,565,239 3,630,239 
2024 1~885JOOO 1,173,041 3,058,041 115,000 175,107 290,107 130,000 147J318 277,318 567,424 2,130,000 1,495,486 3,625,455 
2025 1,945,000 1,113.868 3,058,868 125,000 168,399 293,399 135,000 140,865 275,865 569,264 2,205,000 1,423,131 3,628,131 
2026 2,005,000 1,052.840 3,057,840 130,000 161,272 291,272 140,000 134,169 274,169 565,440 2.275,000 1,348,280 3,623,280 
2027 2,065,000 1,363,559 3,428,569 120,000 172,794 292,794 120,000 154,105 274,105 566,899 2,305,000 1,690,468 3r995,468 
2028 1,385,000 1,567,188 3,052,188 105,000 184,275 289,275 100,000 173,950 273,950 563,225 1,590,000 2,025,413 3,615,413 
2029 1,460,000 1.588,950 3,048,956 115,000 176,575 291,575 105,000 166,600 271,600 563,17:5 1,680,000 1,932,125 3,612,125 
2030 1,540,000 1,506,450 3,046,450 120,000 168,175 288,175 115,000 158,725 273,125 561,900 1,775,000 1,833,350 3,508,350 
2031 1.625,000 1,419,413 3,044.413 130,000 159,250 289,250 125,600 150,325 275,325 554,575 1,880,000 1.128;988 3,608,988 
2032 1,715,000 1,327,563 3,042,563 140,000 149,800 289,800 135,000 141,225 276,225 566,025 1,990,000 1,618.588 3,608,588 
2033 1,810,000 1,230,525 3,040,625 150,000 139,650 289,650 140,000 131,600 271,600 561,250 2,100,000 1,501,875 3,601.875 
2034 1.905.000 1,128,463 3,033,463 160,000 128,800 288,BOO 150,000 121,450 271,450 560,250 2,215,000 1,378,713 3,593,713 
2035 2,010,000 1,020,800 3,030,800 170,000 117,250 287,250 165,000 110,600 275,600 562,850 2,345,000 1,248,650 3,593,650 
2036 2,125,000 907,OB8 3,032,088 185,000 104,825 289,625 175.000 98,875 273,875 563,700 2,485,000 1,110,788 3,595,78B 
2037 2,240,000 787,050 3,027,050 200,000 91,525 291,525 190,600 86,275 276,275 567,800 2,631l,000 964,850 3,594,850 
2038 2,365,000 660,413 3,025,413 210,000 77,350 287,350 200,000 72,800 272,800 560,150 2,775,000 810,563 3,585,663 
2039 2,495,000 526,763 3,021,763 230,000 62,125 292,125 215,000 58,450 273,450 565,575 2.940,000 647,338 3,587,338 
2040 2,630,000 385,825 3,015,825 245,000 45,850 290,850 230,000 43,225 273,225 554,075 3,105.000 474,900 3,579,900 
2041 2,775,000 237,188 3,012,188 260,000 28,360 288,350 250,000 26,775 276,775 565,125 3,285,000 292,313 3,571,313 
2042 2,925,000 80,438 3,005,438 280,000 9,625 289,625 265,000 9,100 274,100 563,725 3,470,000 99,163 31569.163 

Total $52,095,000 $30,490,021 $82,585,021 $31930,000 $3,924,767 $7,654,767 $3.915.000 $3,500,379 $7,415,379 $15,270.146 $59,940,000 $37,915,167 $97,655,167 

These bonds financed the acquisition of property for. and the construction of, a minor league baseball park in the City center. The Series A bonds aNt payable 
from the a lodgings tax 1n the City. levied at a rate of 3.5°/4 • The Series a bonds are payable from project revenues. The Bonds are subject to Mandatory 
Tender on December 14, 2026. The Series A bonds carry an Interest rate of 3.09%. The above schedule assumes an interest rate of 5.50% after the tender date. 
The Series B R-1 bonds carry an interest rate of 4.87%. The Series B R~2 bonds carry an Interest rate of 5.59%. The above schedule assumes an interest rate of 
7.00% after the tender date. The Bonds are prepayable with a yield maintenance permlum. The Bonds am payable from a general obligation funding agreement of the City. 
In the event of a Determination of Taxability, the Interest rate on the Series A bonds changes to 4.81%. 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Revenue Available for PACE Board Obligations 

Special Lodgins Tax· Revenue from 3.5% Lodgings Tax 

Fiscal Year 

2011 
2012 
2013 
2014 
2015 

Revenue 

$1,338,321 * 
$3,271,345 
$3,190,203 
$3,632,290 
$3,806,818 

*Reflects five months' collections. Tax became effective January 15, 2011. The tax is pledged to the payment 
of a Funding Agreement with the Public Athletic, Cultural and Entertainment Board of the City of Birmingham, 
covering debt service on the Board's Series 2011·A Bonds. 

See Table F-3. 

Revenue from Stadium Lease and Service Agreement 

Fiscal Year 

2014 
2015 

Revenue 

$201,233 * 
$630,000 ** 

*Revenue from the Stadium Lease and Service Agreement between the Birmingham Barons. LLC and the 
PACE Board are pledged to the payment of the PACE Board's Series B Bonds (See Table F-3). During 
Fiscal Year 2014, the first year of operation, certain minimum payments from the Barons were prorated 
for a partial year of operation. Additionally, $300,000 of the rent due was paid, persuant to the Agreement, 

Table F-4 

the City of Hoover to terminate the Barons lease of a facility owned by that City. Assuming that the Stadium 
had been in operation for a full year and that the Hoover payment was not required, net rent would have been 
$630,000. $156,454 was also paid by the Barons, pursuant to the Agreement, to the Trustee for deposit into the 
Operations, Maintenance and Repair Expense Fund. The Lodgings Tax was used to pay the balance of the 
debt service on the Series B Bonds during this first year of operations. 

*'Revenue received was $630,000 and $153,888 was deposited into the Operations, Maintenance and Repair 
Expense Fund, held by the Bond Trustee. 

137 



City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Debt Service Schedules 

Privately Placed Debt 
General Obligation Warrants Series 2012-RB and 2012-CTB 

Table F-5 

Fiscal Series 2012-RB (Federally Taxable) Series 2012-CTB (Federally Taxable) ---------------------------T ota 1-----------------------------
Year 

Ending Total Total Total 
June 30 Princip,!! Interest Debt Service Principal Interest Debt Service Principal Interest Debt Service 

2016 350,000 182,144 532,144 80,000 31,063 111,063 430,000 213,206 
2017 365,000 167,879 532,879 85,000 27,453 112,453 450,000 195,332 
2018 380,000 153,017 533,017 85,000 23,734 108,734 465,000 176,751 
2019 395,000 137,555 532,555 90,000 19,906 109,906 485,000 157,462 
2020 410,000 121,496 531,496 95,000 15,859 110,859 505,000 137,355 
2021 430,000 104,738 534,738 100,000 11,594 111,594 530,000 116,331 
2022 445,000 87,281 532,281 105,000 7,109 112,109 550,000 94,391 
2023 465,000 69,127 534,127 110,000 2,406 112,406 575,000 71,533 
2024 480,000 50,274 530,274 480,000 50,274 
2025 500,000 30,723 530,723 500,000 30,723 
2026 520,000 10,374 530,374 520,000 10,374 

Total $4,740,000 $1,114,607 $5,854,607 $750,000 $139,125 $889,125 $5,490,000 $1,253,732 

The Warrants pay principal annually on August 1 and interest on February 1 and August 1. The Seris 2012-RB warrants carry an interest rate 
of 3.99% and the Series 2012-CTB warrants carry an interest rate of 4.375%. Both Series are prepayable until August 1, 2013 
with a 3% premium, August 1, 2013 through July 31, 2014 with a 2% premium, August 1, 2014 through July 31, 2015 with a 1% premium 
and thereafter with no premium. The Warrants are subject to mandatory tender, at the option of the warrantholder, in the event that 
Standard & Poor's assigns a rating of A-, or lower, to the long-term debt obligations ofthe City. 
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643,206 
645,332 
641,751 
642,462 
642,355 
646,331 
644,391 
646,533 
530,274 
530,723 
530,374 

$6,743,732 



Fiscal 
Year 

Ending 
June 30 

2016 
2017 
2018 

Total 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Debt Service Schedules 

Privately Placed Debt 
General Obligation Warrants Series 2014·PNC2 

Total 
Principal Interest Debt Service 

1,130,000 39,445 1,169,445 
1,145,000 26,450 1,171,450 
1,155,000 13,283 1,168,283 

$3,430,000 $79,178 $3,509,178 

Table F·6 

The Warrants carry an interst rate of 1.15%. Principal is payable on March 1 and 
Interest Is payable on March 1 and September 1. Proceeds were used for 
capital equipment. Upon any Determlnaton of Taxability, the interest rate 
would be adjusted to provide the warrantholder with an equivalent after·tax yield. 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Debt Service Schedules 

Privately Placed Debt 
Tax Increment Financing District I, Revenue Warrants, Series 2014 

Fiscal 
Year 

Ending 
June 30 

2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 
2021 
2022 
2023 
2024 
2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 
2029 

Total 

Principal Interest 

1,070,000 477,924 
1,102,000 446,577 
1,134,000 414,322 
1,167,000 381,109 
1,201,000 346,916 
1,236,000 311,749 
1,272,000 275,552 
1,311,000 238,285 
1,348,000 199,918 
1,388,000 160,431 
1,428,000 119,793 
1,470,000 77,972 
1,513,000 34,918 

385,000 1,857 
$17,025,000 $3,487,325 

Total 
Debt Service 

1,547,924 
1,548,577 
1,548,322 
1,548,109 
1,547,916 
1,547,749 
1,547,552 
1,549,285 
1,547,918 
1,548,431 
1,547,793 
1,547,972 
1,547,918 

386,857 
$20,512,325 

The Warrants have an interest rate of 2.89%. Principal and interest on both warrants. Principal and Interest 

Table F-7 

is payable monthly. The Warrants are prepayble on any date with a yield maintenance premium, and beginning on December 1, 2024 on any 
date without premium. The Warrants are payable from Ad-valorem taxes collected in the TIF District in excess of a base year amount. 
The District includes a large portion of the city center of the City. The Warrants are also secured by a General Obligation Funding 
Agreement of the City, which provides funds from any legally available source to pay principal and interest on the Warrants as it comes due. 
Upon any Determination of Taxability, the interest rate would increase to an equivalent after-tax yield. 
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Fiscal 
Year 

Ending 
June 30 

2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 

Total 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Debt Service Schedules 

Privately Placed Debt 
General Obligation Refunding Warrants Series 2014·PNC 

Total 
Princim!! Interest Debt Service 

670,000.00 55,335.00 725,335.00 
685,000.00 44,950.00 729,950.00 
725,000.00 34,332.50 759,332.50 
740,000.00 23,095.00 763,095.00 
750,000.00 11,625.00 761,625.00 

3,570,000.00 169,337.50 3,739,337.50 

Table F·8 

The Warrants pay principal on April 1 and Interest on April 1 and October 1. The Warrants 
refunded the City's Series 2004-B Warrants, which were called on April 1. 2014. 
The Warrants carry an interest rate of 1.55% and are not prepayable. 
Upon any Determination of Taxability the interest rate would be adjusted to 
provide the warrantholder an equivalent after-tax yield. 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Debt Service Schedules 

Privately Placed Debt 
General Obligation Refunding Bond (Federally Taxable), Series 2014-WFB 

Fiscal 
Year 

Ending 
June 30 

2016 

Principal 

2017 1,910,000 
2018 2,920,000 
2019 2,995,000 
2020 3,070,000 
2021 2,495,000 
2022 2,070,000 
2023 2,165,000 

Interest 

909,540 
865,858 
755,396 
620,120 
481,414 
354,142 
249,740 
152,886 

e::>1 a:::r:u::: 2024 2,260,000 v' ,~y~ 

Total 19,885,000 - . _. ---'1,44U,ln..:: 

Total 
Debt Service 

909,540 
2,775,858 
3,675,396 
3,615,120 
3,551,414 
2,849,142 
2,319,740 
2,317,886 
2,311,686 

$24,325,782 

The Bonds pay principal on November 1 and interest on May 1 and November 1. 
The Bonds carry an interest rate of 4.574% and are not prepayable. The City has 
an option to refund these bonds between August 3,2015 and November 1, 2015 
at an interest rate of 3.85%. The City has given notice to exercise the option. 
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Table F-9 



Fiscal 
Year 

Ending 
June 30 

2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 
2021 
2022 

Total 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Debt Service Schedules 

Privately Placed Debt 
General Obligation Refunding Bond (Federally Taxable), Series 2014.C 

Total 
Principal Interest Debt Service 

684,908 684,908 
684,908 684,908 
684,908 684,908 

10,105,000 684,908 10,789,908 
253,425 253,425 

3,500,000 253,425 3,753,425 
2,435,000 103,975 2,538,975 

$ 16,040,000.00 $ 3,350,457.00 $ 19,390,457.00 

Table F-10 

The Bonds carry an interest rate of 4.455%. The City has an option to refund the Bonds 
between July 3, 2016 and October 1,2016 at an interest rate of 4.11%. The City intends 
to exercise this option. 
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City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Debt Service Schedules 

Privately Placed Debt 
General Obligation Refunding Bond (Federally Taxable), Series 2014·0 

Fiscal 
Year 

Ending Total 
June 30 PrinciR.!!.! Interest Debt Service 

2016 539,946 539,946 
2017 539,946 539,946 
2018 539,946 539,946 
2019 2,600,000 482,031 3,082,031 
2020 2,685,000 364,308 3,049,308 
2021 304,499 304,499 
2022 304,499 304,499 
2023 1,735,000 265,852 2,000,852 
2024 1,860,000 185,774 2,045,774 
2025 3,240,000 72,171 3,312,171 

Total $ 12,120,000 $ 3,598,972 $ 15,718,972 

The Bonds carry an interest rate of 4.455%. The City has an option to refund 
the Bonds between September 2,2016 and December 1,2016 at an interest rate 
of 3.91 %. The City intends to exercise this option. 
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Table F-11 



Fiscal 
Year 

Ending 
June 30 

Total 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Debt Service Schedules 
Privately Placed Debt 

General Obligation Warrants, Series 2014·PNC3 

Total 
Principal Interest Debt Service 

2016 245,000 13,668 258,668 
2017 250,000 9,856 259,856 
2018 255,000 5,968 260,968 
2019 260,000 2,002 262,002 

$ 1,010,000.00 $ 31,494.00 $ 1,041,494.00 

Table F-12 

The Warrants mature on October 1st and pay interest on April 1 and October 1. 
The Warrants carry an interet rate of 1.54%. Upon any Determination of 
Taxability, the City must pay the warrantholder an anount to produce an 
equivalent after tax yield. 
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Series 2015 

City of Birmingham, Alabama 
Debt Service Schedules 

Privately Placed Debt 
General Obligation Bond Anticipation Notes (Federally Taxable) 

Table F-13 

$10,000,000 Due January 5, 2016 
Interest Rate: .95% Interest payable July 1, 2015 and at maturity 

Series 2015-A 
$2,060,000 Due January 5, 2016 

Interest Rate: .88% Interest payable October 1, 2015 and at maturity 
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